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Rosh Ha’ayin, Israel 
June 22, 2022

PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.

NOTICE OF

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

Notice is hereby given that a general meeting of shareholders constituting an 
Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) of Partner Communications Company Ltd. 
(the “Company”, “Partner” or “we”) will be held on Thursday, July 28, 2022 at 
14:00 (Israel time), at our offices, 8 Ha’amal Street, Rosh Ha’ayin, Israel or at any 
adjournment thereof.

It is proposed at the AGM to adopt the following resolutions:

(1) to re-appoint Kesselman & Kesselman, independent certified public 
accountants in Israel and a member of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
International Limited group, as the Company's independent auditors 
for the period ending at the close of the next AGM, and to authorize 
the Board of Directors to approve, following the approval of the Audit 
Committee, the remuneration of the independent auditors, in 
accordance with the volume and nature of their services;

(2)     to discuss the auditor’s remuneration for the year ended December 31, 
2021, as determined by the Audit Committee and by the Board of 
Directors, and the report of the Board of Directors with respect to the 
remuneration paid to the auditor and its affiliates for the year ended 
December 31, 2021; 

(3) to discuss the Company’s audited financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 and the report of the Board of Directors for 
such period; 

(4) to elect and appoint five (5) directors from the following seven (7) 
candidates to serve as directors on the Company’s Board of Directors 
until the close of the next AGM: Mr. Gideon Kadusi, Mr. Shlomo 
Rodav, Mr. Yehuda Saban, Ms. Anat Cohen-Specht, Mr. Doron 
Steiger, Mr. Ori Yaron and Mr. Shlomo Zohar (the "Candidates to 
Serve as Directors"); 

(5) to approve the compensation terms of Mr. Shlomo Rodav and Mr. 
Doron Steiger as directors, including the grant of Indemnification and 
Release Letters; and 

(6) to approve the terms of office and employment of the CEO of the 
Company, Mr. Avi Gabbay including a special bonus for the year 2022 
and the grant of an Indemnification and Release Letter, but excluding 
the annual cash bonus and equity incentive. 
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The vote of the holders of a majority of the Ordinary Shares, par value NIS 
0.01 per share (the “Ordinary Shares”) participating in the AGM and voting on the 
matter is required for the approval of any of items 1 and 4, on the agenda. Regarding 
item 4, the five directors that will be appointed will be those directors that receive the 
most votes in favor of their appointment by the AGM, subject to their appointment 
receiving the required above legal majority. No vote is required in connection with the 
discussion of items 2-3 on the agenda. 

The vote of the holders of a majority of the Ordinary Shares participating in 
the AGM and voting on the matter is required for the approval of items  5-6, provided, 
that one of the following conditions is fulfilled: (i) the majority of votes in favor of 
the matter shall include at least a majority of the votes of shareholders not constituting 
Controlling Parties (as stated in the Israeli Companies Law (1999), as amended (the 
“Israeli Companies Law”), including section 268 thereof, “Controlling Parties”) in 
the Company, or those having a Personal Interest (as defined in the Israeli Companies 
Law, a “Personal Interest”) in the approval of the pertinent item, participating in the 
vote; which votes shall not include abstaining votes; or (ii) the total number of 
objecting votes of the shareholders mentioned in clause (i) does not exceed 2% of the 
total voting rights in the Company.

Only shareholders of record at the close of business on June 28, 2022 (the 
“Record Date”) will be entitled to participate in and vote at the AGM, subject to the 
restrictions in the Company’s Articles of Association, as set forth in the attached 
Proxy Statement. All shareholders are cordially invited to attend the AGM in person.

The Israeli Companies Regulations (Deeds of Vote and Position Notices) 
(2005), as amended, state that shareholders who will not attend the AGM in person 
may vote with respect to items 1, 4-6 on the agenda by completing the second part of 
the Hebrew form of the Deed of Vote (ktav hatzba'a). For the shareholders' 
convenience, items 2-3 on the agenda are also included in the Deed of Vote (although 
said items are not subject to the provisions of such regulations), and an English 
convenience translation of the Deed of Vote is included. Under such regulations, the 
shareholders may also submit a position notice (hoda'at emda) to the Company’s 
offices (envelope marked clearly as “position notice”, to the Company Secretary, at 
the address stated above) in respect of items 1, 4-6 on the agenda, no later than ten 
(10) days before the AGM meeting date (July 19, 2022). The deadline for submission 
of the Board of Directors’ response to such position notices is July 24, 2022. Changes 
to the AGM agenda may be made after the filing of the Deed of Vote, including by 
adding an item to the agenda following a shareholder request (in accordance with 
Section 66(b) to the Israeli Companies Law) submitted to the Company no later than 
June 29, 2022 (seven (7) days following the date of filing the attached Proxy 
Statement), all in accordance with an amendment to the Israeli Companies 
Regulations (Notice and advertisement regarding a general meeting and a class 
meeting in a public company and the addition of an item to the agenda) (2000). In 
such case, the Company will file an amended agenda and an amended Deed of Vote 
no later than July 6, 2022. The filing of an amended agenda will not require the 
change of the Record Date as set forth above and in the attached Proxy Statement. 
The Hebrew form of the Deed of Vote, the amended agenda and the amended Deed of 
Vote (both, if any) and position notices are or will be available on the websites: 
www.magna.isa.gov.il or www.maya.tase.co.il; and an English convenience 
translation of the documents is available on Form 6-K at the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission’s EDGAR System http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml.
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Shareholders who will not attend the AGM in person are requested to 
complete, date and sign the aforementioned form of Deed of Vote distributed 
herewith (or the amended Deed of Vote, if any) (either the Hebrew or the English 
version) and to return it promptly (and in any event at least four (4) hours prior to the 
time of the AGM) to the Company at its address above or use the electronic voting 
system for shareholder meetings of publicly listed Israeli companies via its MAGNA 
system, following a registration process, no later than six (6) hours before the time 
fixed for the AGM. The shareholders are requested to vote only once, either by 
sending the Deed of Vote (the Hebrew version or the English version, but not both) or 
by electronic voting. If a shareholder votes both ways, the vote shall be disqualified.

The Company’s Articles of Association also allow shareholders registered in 
the Company’s Shareholders Register to appoint a proxy to vote in their stead 
(whether personally or by means of a Deed of Vote) at the AGM, by means of a Deed 
of Authorization in the form attached to this Proxy Statement, so long as the Deed of 
Authorization is delivered to the Company at least four (4) hours prior to the time of 
the AGM. Shareholders may revoke their Deeds of Authorization by a written notice 
received at the Company’s offices prior to the commencement of the AGM, and vote 
their shares in person.  

Two or more shareholders holding Ordinary Shares conferring in the 
aggregate at least one-third of our voting rights, present in person or by proxy at the 
AGM, or who have delivered to us a Deed of Vote, will constitute a lawful quorum at 
the AGM. Should no lawful quorum be present one half hour following the time set 
for the AGM, the AGM shall be adjourned to August 3, 2022 at the same time and 
place.

A shareholder is entitled to contact the Company directly and receive the text 
of the Deed of Vote (ktav hatzba'a) (or the amended Deed of Vote, if any) and the 
Position Notices (hodaot emda) (if any).

A shareholder, whose shares are registered with a member of the Tel-Aviv 
Stock Exchange Ltd. (the “Exchange”), is required to prove his share ownership to 
vote at the AGM. Such shareholder shall provide the Company with an ownership 
certificate (as of the Record Date) from that Exchange member and is entitled to 
receive the ownership certificate in the branch of the Exchange member or by mail to 
his address (in consideration of mailing fees only), if the shareholder so requested. 
Such a request will be made in advance for a particular securities account.

A shareholder, whose shares are registered with an Exchange member, is 
entitled to receive from the Exchange member who holds the share on the 
shareholder’s behalf, by e-mail, for no charge, a link to the text of the Deed of Vote 
(or the amended Deed of Vote, if any) and to the Position Notices (if any) posted on 
the Israel Securities Authority website, unless the shareholder notified that he is not so 
interested; provided, that the notice was provided with respect to a particular 
securities account, prior to the Record Date.
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Copies of the proposed resolutions are available at our offices, 8 Ha’amal 
Street, Rosh Ha’ayin, Israel, every business day from 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. (Israel time), 
following prior coordination at telephone number +972-54-7814191.

By Order of the Board of Directors

Sarit Hecht, Adv.

Company Secretary
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.

8 Ha’amal Street

Rosh Ha’ayin 4810302, Israel 

     PROXY STATEMENT  

This Proxy Statement is furnished to the holders of Ordinary Shares, par value 
NIS 0.01 per share (the “Ordinary Shares”), including holders of American 
Depositary Shares (each representing one Ordinary Share, the “ADSs”) of Partner 
Communications Company Ltd. (the “Company”, “Partner” or “we”) in connection 
with the solicitation by the Board of Directors of proxies for use at a general meeting 
of shareholders constituting an Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”), to be held on  
Thursday July 28, 2022 commencing at 14:00 (Israel time), at our offices, 8 Ha’amal 
Street, Rosh Ha’ayin, Israel, or at any adjournment thereof.

It is proposed at the AGM to adopt the following resolutions: 

(1) to re-appoint Kesselman & Kesselman, independent certified public 
accountants in Israel and a member of PricewaterhouseCoopers 
International Limited group, as the Company's independent auditors 
for the period ending at the close of the next AGM, and to authorize 
the Board of Directors to approve, following the approval of the Audit 
Committee, the remuneration of the independent auditors, in 
accordance with the volume and nature of their services;

(2)     to discuss the auditor’s remuneration for the year ended December 31, 
2021, as determined by the Audit Committee and by the Board of 
Directors, and the report of the Board of Directors with respect to the 
remuneration paid to the auditor and its affiliates for the year ended 
December 31, 2021; 

(3) to discuss the Company’s audited financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2021 and the report of the Board of Directors for 
such period; 

(4) to elect and appoint five (5) directors from the following seven (7) 
candidates to serve as directors on the Company’s Board of Directors 
until the close of the next AGM: Mr. Gideon Kadusi, Mr. Shlomo 
Rodav, Mr. Yehuda Saban, Ms. Anat Cohen-Specht, Mr. Doron 
Steiger, Mr. Ori Yaron and Mr. Shlomo Zohar (the "Candidates to 
Serve as Directors"); 

(5) to approve the compensation terms of Mr. Shlomo Rodav and Mr. 
Doron Steiger as directors, including the grant of Indemnification and 
Release Letters; and 

(6) to approve the terms of office and employment of the CEO of the 
Company, Mr. Avi Gabbay including a special bonus for the year 2022 
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and the grant of an Indemnification and Release Letter, but excluding 
the annual cash bonus and equity incentive. 

A form of a Deed of Vote (Hebrew and English versions) for use at the AGM 
(either the Hebrew or the English version) is distributed herewith (or an amended 
Deed of Vote (if any) will be filed). With respect to Items 1, 4-6 on the agenda, the 
Deed of Vote shall also be deemed as a Deed of Vote (Ktav Hatzba'a) under the 
Israeli Companies Law and Israeli Companies Regulations (Deeds of Vote and 
Position Notices) (2005), as amended. Shareholders may withdraw their Deed of Vote 
by contacting the Company at its address above and duly proving their identity, at 
least 24 hours prior to the AGM and vote their shares in person. Ordinary Shares 
represented by any Deed of Vote in the Hebrew or the English version distributed 
herewith (or the amended Deed of Vote, if any), if properly executed and delivered to 
the Company at the address above at least four (4) hours prior to the time of the AGM 
or if voted electronically, no later than six (6) hours before the time fixed for the 
AGM, will be voted as indicated on the form.

In parallel to distribution of this Notice and Proxy Statement, the afore-
mentioned Hebrew version of the Deed of Vote (ktav hatzba'a) per Israeli 
requirements and an English version of the Deed of Vote will be distributed among 
the shareholders. The shareholders are requested to send only one version of the Deed 
of Vote (the Hebrew version or the English version, but not both). If both versions 
will be sent by shareholders, in case of contradiction between the two versions (as 
determined by the Company Secretary), the vote shall be disqualified. 

Proxies for use at the AGM are being solicited by the Board of Directors of the 
Company. Only shareholders of record at the close of business on June 28, 2022 will 
be entitled to participate in and vote at the AGM. Proxies are being distributed to 
shareholders on or about June 22, 2022; however, certain of our officer holders, 
directors, employees and agents, none of whom will receive additional compensation 
therefor, may solicit proxies by telephone, e-mail or other personal contact. Partner 
will bear the cost of the solicitation of the proxies by the Board of Directors, including 
postage, printing and handling, and will reimburse the reasonable expenses of 
brokerage firms and others for forwarding material to beneficial owners of Ordinary 
Shares. 

On June 20, 2022, the Company had outstanding 185,075,424 Ordinary 
Shares, excluding 6,094,812 treasury shares. The holder of each Ordinary Share is 
entitled to one vote upon each of the matters to be presented at the AGM. 

Registered joint holders of shares should take note that, pursuant to the 
Company's Articles of Association, only the first named joint holder of any share 
shall vote, either in person, by proxy or by Deed of Vote, without taking into account 
the other registered joint holder(s) of the share. For this purpose, the first named joint 
holder shall be the person whose name is registered first in the Shareholders Register.

Holders of ADSs are not registered in the Company’s Shareholders Register 
but may instruct the Depositary, Citibank, N.A., as to the exercise of the voting rights 
pertaining to the Ordinary Shares evidenced by their ADSs in the manner and to the 
extent provided in the Depositary Agreement governing the ADSs.
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* * * * *

ITEMS 1 AND 2

RE-APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR AND DISCUSSION OF ITS 
REMUNERATION

Under the Israeli Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of Association, 
the shareholders of the Company are authorized to appoint the Company’s auditor, 
and to delegate to the Board of Directors  to determine the auditor’s remuneration 
following the recommendation of the Audit Committee. Under the Company’s 
Articles of Association, the Board of Directors is required to report the auditor’s 
remuneration to the shareholders and the shareholders are required to discuss that 
report. In addition, the approval by the Audit Committee of the auditor’s re-
appointment and remuneration is required under the Nasdaq Corporate Governance 
Rules.

The Audit Committee has approved, and the Board of Directors has 
recommended, to re-appoint Kesselman & Kesselman, independent certified public 
accountants in Israel and a member of the PricewaterhouseCoopers International 
Limited group (“Kesselman & Kesselman”), as auditors of the Company for the 
period ending at the close of the next AGM.

The Audit Committee and the Board of Directors have determined that the 
remuneration of Kesselman & Kesselman, the Company’s auditor, for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, and its affiliates will be NIS 2,457 thousand for audit fees 
(including SOX audit), NIS 286 thousand for audit-related fees, and NIS 513 
thousand for tax fees. Partner has agreed to indemnify Kesselman & Kesselman and 
their personnel from any and all third party claims, liabilities, costs and expenses, 
including reasonable attorney’s fees, arising from or relating to services rendered 
under the Tax Services engagement letter for the year 2021, except to the extent 
finally determined to have resulted from the gross negligence, willful misconduct or 
fraudulent behavior of Kesselman & Kesselman relating to such services.

It is proposed that at the AGM the following resolution be adopted:

1. “RESOLVED: to re-appoint the Company’s auditors, Kesselman & 
Kesselman, as the auditors of the Company for the period ending at 
the close of the next AGM, and to authorize the Board of Directors 
to approve, following the approval of the Audit Committee, the 
remuneration of the independent auditors, in accordance with the 
volume and nature of  of their services.” 

The vote of the holders of a majority of the Ordinary Shares participating in 
the AGM and voting on the matter is required for the approval of this resolution.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR approval of this proposed 
resolution.
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It is proposed that at the AGM the following matter be discussed:

2. “The remuneration of the auditor and its affiliates for the year 2021 
as determined by the Audit Committee and by the Board of Directors 
and the report by the Board of Directors of the remuneration of the 
auditor and its affiliates for the same period are hereby noted.”

No vote of the holders of Ordinary Shares is required in connection with 
discussion of this item 2.

ITEM 3 

DISCUSSION OF THE COMPANY’S AUDITED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 

The Audit Committee has approved (pursuant to the Nasdaq Corporate 
Governance Rules) and recommended, and the Board of Directors has approved 
(pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law), the audited financial statements of the 
Company for the year ended December 31, 2021, attached hereto as Annex “A”. 
Under the Israeli Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of Association, 
shareholders’ discussion is required for both the financial statements and the related 
report of the Board of Directors, which is attached hereto as Annex “B”. A 
representative of the Company’s auditor, Kesselman & Kesselman, is expected to be 
present at the AGM, and will be available to respond to appropriate questions of 
shareholders.

 It is proposed that at the AGM the following matter be discussed:

“The audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended 
December 31, 2021 and the report of the Board of Directors for such 
period are hereby noted.”

No vote of the holders of Ordinary Shares is required in connection with 
discussion of this item 3.

ITEM 4 

ELECTION OF THE COMPANY’S DIRECTORS

Under the Israeli Companies Law, the directors of the Company (other than 
the external directors (Dahatzim) who generally serve for three year terms) shall be 
appointed at the AGM, unless otherwise provided in the Company’s Articles of 
Association. The elected directors shall commence their terms at the close of the 
AGM and serve in office until the close of the next AGM, unless their office becomes 
vacant earlier in accordance with the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law and the 
Company’s Articles of Association or unless otherwise provided in the Company’s 
Articles of Association. 

The Company's Board of Directors has resolved to recommend to the AGM to 
elect and appoint five directors from the following seven candidates to serve as 
directors on the Company’s Board of Directors until the close of the next AGM: Mr. 
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Gideon Kadusi, Mr. Shlomo Rodav, Mr. Yehuda Saban, Ms. Anat Cohen-Specht, Mr. 
Doron Steiger, Mr. Ori Yaron and Mr. Shlomo Zohar. The five directors that will be 
appointed will be those directors that receive the most votes in favor of their 
appointment by the AGM, subject to their appointment receiving the required legal 
majority. No change is hereby made to the services of Dr. Jonathan Kolodny, Ms. 
Roly Klinger, and Ms. Michal Marom-Brikman as external directors (Dahatzim) of 
the Company. 

The Company's Board of Directors has determined that the board should 
include at least three directors who are “accounting and financial experts” under the 
Israeli Companies Law and regulations promulgated thereunder. Ms. Michal Marom-
Brikman, Dr. Jonathan Kolodny, Mr. Shlomo Rodav, Mr. Yehuda Saban, Ms. Anat 
Cohen-Specht, Mr. Doron Steiger and Mr. Shlomo Zohar were determined by the 
Board of Directors to be “accounting and financial experts” under the Israeli 
Companies Law and regulations promulgated thereunder. Ms. Marom-Brikman, Mr. 
Kadusi, Ms. Roly Klinger, Dr. Kolodny, Ms. Cohen-Specht and Mr. Zohar qualify as 
independent directors under the Israeli Companies Law and regulations promulgated 
thereunder (bilty taluy) and also qualify as independent directors according to U.S. 
law. U.S law requires that all the members of the Audit Committee and the 
Compensation Committee be independent directors. It should be noted that Mr. Barry 
Ben Zeev ceased to serve as a director in the Company on October 31, 2021.

In compliance with the Israeli Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of 
Association, the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders held on March 18, 
2020 (the “2020 EGM”) approved the compensation terms for the current directors 
and those that will serve from time to time, including external directors and 
independent directors (excluding the Chairman of the Board of Directors, insofar as 
separate compensation terms will be determined with respect to the Chairman), which 
includes an annual fee, an attendance fee, reimbursement of of Reasonable Expenses, 
benefit from the D&O insurance policy, and Indemnification and Release Letter (the 
"Compensation Terms"). For further information regarding the  2020 EGM see 
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024
174.htm and https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf

The Compensation Terms of the Candidates to Serve as Directors are in 
accordance with those that were approved by the 2020 EGM. Proxies (other than 
those directing the proxy holders not to vote for all of the listed nominees) will be 
voted for the election of all of the nominees, to hold office until the close of the next 
AGM, unless their office becomes vacant earlier in accordance with the provisions of 
the Israeli Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of Association. In the event 
any one or more of such nominees shall be unable to serve, the proxies will be voted 
for the election of such other person or persons as shall be determined by the proxy 
holder in accordance with his or her best judgment. The Company is not aware of any 
reason why any of the nominees, if elected, should not be able to serve as a director.

Following is a list and brief biography of the seven candidates proposed to serve as a 
director (of which the AGM shall elect and appoint five directors):

Name Position

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf
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Mr. Shlomo Zohar …………………... Director and Chairman of the 
Board of Directors

Mr. Gideon Kadusi …………………... Director

Mr. Shlomo Rodav …………………... Director

Mr. Yehuda Saban …………………... Director

Ms. Anat Cohen-Specht …………………... Director

Mr. Doron Steiger …………………... Director

Mr. Ori Yaron …………………... Director

Mr. Shlomo Zohar was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in 
October 2020. He serves, among others, as a director at Delek USA Energy, Inc., 
Ham-Let (Israel –Canada) Ltd. and Isras Investment Company Ltd. Between January 
2006 and December 2009, Mr. Zohar served as a member and chairman of the boards 
of directors of Israel Discount Bank Ltd., Mercantile Discount Bank Ltd., Israel 
Discount Capital Markets & Investments Ltd. and Israel Credit Cards, Ltd. During 
this time, Mr. Zohar also served as a member and vice chairman of the board of 
directors of Israel Discount Bank of New York and as a member of the board of 
directors of Discount Bancorp, Inc. Mr. Zohar served as Chief Executive Officer of 
A.D.O. Group Ltd. from July 2011 until December 2018 and served as an executive 
vice chairman of the Board of ADO Properties SA and since June 2018 he serves as 
chairman of the executive committee at Bar Ilan University. From 1980 to December 
2005, he was a partner in the accounting firm of Zohar, Zohar & Co., CPA (Isr). Mr. 
Zohar is a certified public accountant in Israel. He holds a B.A. in Economics and 
Accounting from Bar-Ilan University and an MBA degree from McGill University. 
To the best knowledge of the Company and the Company's Directors, Mr. Zohar is 
not a Family Member of another Interested Party (as both terms are defined in the 
Israeli Securities Law) in the Company.

Mr. Gideon Kadusi was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in April 
2022. Mr. Kadusi has a consulting firm that provides business consulting services to 
owners and CEOs of mid-size private companies since 2015. Prior to that he served 
from 2014-2015 as the Acting CEO of Medton-Hedim Ltd. and former VP at Africa 
Israel Investments and Bezeq and as a board member at Bezeq’s Subsidiaries. Mr. 
Kadusi holds a B.Sc.T.E in Electrical and Electronics Engineering and an Executive 
M.B.A, both from Tel-Aviv University. To the best knowledge of the Company and 
the Company's Directors, Mr. Kadusi is not a Family Member of another Interested 
Party (as both terms are defined in the Israeli Securities Law) in the Company.

Mr. Shlomo Rodav was appointed to the Board of Directors in April 2022. Mr. 
Rodav served from 2020-2021 as the chairman of the Board of Directors of Yeinot 
Bitan Ltd. Prior to that he served from 2018-2020 as chairman of the Board of 
Directors of Bezek-the Israel Telecommunication Corp. Ltd. and prior to that he 
served as chairman and a board member of various public companies including Tnuva 
Ltd., Gilat Satellite Telecommunication Ltd. and as chairman of the Board of 
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Directors of Partner in 2013. Mr. Rodav holds a BA in Economics from Tel-Aviv 
University and an MBA degree from Columbia University. To the best knowledge of 
the Company and the Company's Directors, Mr. Rodav is not a Family Member of 
another Interested Party (as both terms are defined in the Israeli Securities Law) in the 
Company.

Mr. Yehuda Saban was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in April 2015. 
Mr. Saban served between 2011- mid 2015 as Vice President Economics & 
Regulation and FLNG (Floating Liquefied Natural Gas) manager at Delek Drilling & 
Avner Oil Exploration. Previously, Mr. Saban served over 6 years in various 
capacities with the budget department of the Ministry of Finance as Manager of the 
Telecommunications and Tourism Unit, Manager of the Budget and Macroeconomics 
unit and as an economist in the Energy unit. During those years, Mr. Saban was also 
an active partner in a number of committees and authorities in the energy, 
telecommunications and infrastructure fields. Mr. Saban serves on the Board of 
Directors of Israel Opportunity Energy Resources LP and as Chairman of its 
Compensation and Audit Committee as of June 2015. Mr. Saban also serves as 
director of operations for Israel and VP of Business Development at Ellomay Capital 
Ltd. Mr. Saban holds a B.A. in Economics & Business Management (graduated with 
honors) and an M.B.A specializing in Financing, both from the Hebrew University in 
Jerusalem. To the best knowledge of the Company and the Company's Directors, Mr. 
Saban is not a Family Member of another Interested Party (as both terms are defined 
in the Israeli Securities Law) in the Company.

Ms. Anat Cohen-Specht was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in April 
2022. Ms. Cohen Specht serves as an external director on the Board of Directors of 
the Israel Airports Authority and is managing partner at UrbaniPro, a global real 
estate investment company. Previously, she served from 2015-2017 as the CEO of 
Suny Cellular Communications Ltd. During the years 2008-2015 she served in 
various senior positions in private telecommunication companies. Ms. Cohen-Specht 
holds a B.A in Humanities and the History of Art and an Executive M.B.A, both from 
Tel-Aviv University. To the best knowledge of the Company and the Company's 
Directors, Ms. Cohen-Specht is not a Family Member of another Interested Party (as 
both terms are defined in the Israeli Securities Law) in the Company.

Mr. Doron Steiger was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in April 2022. 
Mr. Steiger serves as active chairman and advisor for Kibbutz Revivim and CEO of 
Kerur Holdings Ltd. Mr. Steiger is a board member of public and private companies 
including Novolog Ltd., Jafora Tabori Ltd., Jafora Ltd., Ashdar Building Company 
Ltd., and Tapugan Industries Ltd. Between 2010-2021 Mr. Steiger provided financial 
and business development consulting services to private companies. Mr. Steiger holds 
a B.A in Economics and an M.B.A-Financing, both from Tel-Aviv University. To the 
best knowledge of the Company and the Company's Directors, Mr. Steiger is not a 
Family Member of another Interested Party (as both terms are defined in the Israeli 
Securities Law) in the Company.

Mr. (Adv.) Ori Yaron was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in May 
2014. Mr. Yaron practices law and manages Ilan Yaron Law Offices that specializes 
in the areas of insurance and torts. Mr. Yaron served from 2010 until 2016 as a 
member of the Board of Directors of the Geophysics Institute and served from 2006 
until 2007 as a member of the Board of Directors of Mekorot Development & 
Enterprise and from 2011 until 2014 as a member of the Board of Directors of Hozei 
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Israel Ltd. Mr. Yaron holds a B.A. in economics and an LL.B. both from Tel-Aviv 
University and is a member of the Israeli Bar Association. To the best knowledge of 
the Company and the Company's Directors, Mr. Yaron is not a Family Member of 
another Interested Party (as both terms are defined in the Israeli Securities Law) in the 
Company.

It is proposed that at the AGM the following resolutions be adopted:

(i) “RESOLVED: to elect and appoint five (5) directors from the 
following seven (7) candidates to serve as directors on the 
Company’s Board of Directors until the close of the next AGM: 
Mr. Gideon Kadusi, Mr. Shlomo Rodav, Mr. Yehuda Saban, Ms. 
Anat Cohen-Specht, Mr. Doron Steiger, Mr. Ori Yaron and Mr. 
Shlomo Zohar to serve as directors of the Company until the close 
of the next AGM, unless their office becomes vacant earlier in 
accordance with the provisions of the Israeli Companies Law and 
the Company’s Articles of Association; 

(ii) RESOLVED: this resolution is in the best interest of the 
Company.”

The vote of the holders of a majority of the Ordinary Shares participating in 
the AGM and voting on the matter is required for the approval of item 4 on the 
agenda. 

Shareholders may vote on the appointment of each director nominee 
separately on the attached Deed of Vote (ktav hatzba'a).  

The five directors that will be appointed will be those directors that 
receive the most votes in favor of their appointment by the AGM, subject to their 
appointment receiving the required legal majority.

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR approval of these 
proposed resolutions.

ITEM 5 

APPPROVAL OF THE COMPENSATION TERMS OF MR. SHLOMO 
RODAV AND MR DORON STEIGER AND THE GRANT OF 

INDEMNIFICATION AND RELEASE LETTERS

In compliance with the Israeli Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of 
Association, the 2020 EGM approved the compensation terms for the current directors 
and those that will serve from time to time, including external directors and 
independent directors (excluding the Chairman of the Board of Directors, insofar as 
separate compensation terms will be determined with respect to the Chairman), which 
includes an annual fee, an attendance fee, reimbursement of Reasonable Expenses, 
benefit from the D&O insurance policy, and Indemnification and Release Letter (the 
"Compensation Terms"). The 2020 EGM noted that regarding directors that will be 
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appointed in the future, insofar as they will be appointed, that are controlling parties 
or their relatives or that a controlling shareholder has an interest in their appointment, 
additional resolutions may need to be adopted in accordance with the law.

 For further information regarding the compensation of our directors see 
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024
174.htm and https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf

On April 4, 2022, Amphissa Holding Limited Partnership (“Amphissa”) 
purchased 49,862,800 of the Company’s Ordinary Shares which constitute 
approximately 27% of the Company’s issued and outstanding share capital. Therefore 
Amphissa is considered as a Controlling Party according to section 268 to the Israeli 
Companies Law. To the best knowledge of the Company, one of two general partners 
of Amphissa is Israel Lighterage and Supply Co. Ltd (“Lighterage and Supply”) 
which is 50% owned by Mr. Shlomo Rodav. 

Mr Doron Steiger serves as CEO of Kerur Holding Ltd. ("Kerur"), 63% 
owned by Lighterage and Supply. 

Mr. Shlomo Rodav and Mr. Doron Steiger were appointed to the Company's 
Board of Directors on April 7, 2022. Therefore, following the approval of the 
Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors, it is proposed to approve the 
compensation terms of Mr. Shlomo Rodav and Mr. Doron Steiger as directors, 
including the grant of Indemnification and Release letters, effective from their 
appointment date on April 7, 2022,  which are identical to the compensation terms 
that were approved by the 2020 EGM with respect to current directors and those that 
will serve from time to time, including external directors and independent directors as 
mentioned above (the “Compensation Terms”). The Compensation Terms are in 
accordance with the Company's Compensation Policy for Office Holders which was 
approved by the shareholders at the AGM dated October 29, 2019 (the 
“Compensation Policy”). For the terms of the Compensation Policy, see Annex "D" 
from the Company’s Report on Form 6-K filed on August 28, 2019 (incorporated 
herein by reference) at:  
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891319002275/zk1923
445.htm and https://maya.tase.co.il/reports/details/1250374/2/0.

Mr. Shlomo Rodav and Mr. Doron Steiger are also covered under the current 
D&O insurance policy, which their coverage was approved by the Compensation 
Committte according to regulation 1B1 in accordance with the Companies 
Regulations (Relief for Transactions with Interested Parties), 5760-2000

It should be noted that Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors have 
resolved that the Maximum Indemnity Amount in the Indemnification and Release 
Letter is reasonable given the circumstances and that the indemnification events listed 
in Schedule I of the Indemnification and Release Letter are anticipated in light of 
Partner's current activities.

The Indemnification and Release Letter is attached as Annex "C". 

It is proposed that at the AGM the following resolutions be adopted:

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1096691/000117891316006282/zk1618897.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891319002275/zk1923445.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891319002275/zk1923445.htm
https://maya.tase.co.il/reports/details/1250374/2/0
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(i) RESOLVED: to approve the Compensation Terms of Mr. Shlomo 
Rodav and Mr. Doron Steiger as directors effective from their 
appointment date on April 7, 2022; 

(ii) RESOLVED: this resolution is in the best interest of the Company.”

The vote of the holders of a majority of the Ordinary Shares participating in 
the AGM and voting on the matter is required for the approval of item 5 on the 
agenda; provided, that one of the following conditions is fulfilled: (i) the majority of 
votes in favor of the matter shall include at least a majority of the votes of 
shareholders not constituting Controlling Parties (as stated in the Israeli Companies 
Law, including section 268 thereof, “Controlling Parties”) in the Company, or those 
having a Personal Interest (as defined in the Israeli Companies Law, a “Personal 
Interest”) in the approval of this item, participating in the vote; which votes shall not 
include abstaining votes; or (ii) the total number of objecting votes of the shareholders 
mentioned in clause (i) does not exceed 2% of the total voting rights in the Company. 

A shareholder shall notify the Company at the address above at least four (4) 
hours prior to the time of the AGM, whether the shareholder is a Controlling Party in 
the Company or the shareholder has a Personal Interest in the approval of item 5 on 
the agenda or not, as a condition for that shareholder's right to vote and be counted 
with respect to this item. A shareholder voting, by means of a Deed of Vote, may 
include said notice regarding his Controlling Party Interest or his Personal Interest on 
the Deed of Vote (to be submitted to the Company at least four (4) hours prior to the 
time of the AGM or if voted electronically, no later than six (6) hours before the time 
fixed for the AGM).  

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR approval of these 
proposed resolutions.
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ITEM 6

APPROVAL OF THE TERMS OF OFFICE AND EMPLOYMENT OF THE 
CEO OF THE COMPANY, MR. AVI GABBAY

On May 23, 2022, in accordance with the recommendation of the Company's 
Nominating Committee, the Board of Directors of the Company announced the 
appointment of Mr. Avi Gabbay, to the office of CEO of the Company, effective June 
1, 2022. 

According to that stated, presented herewith for approval are the terms of office 
and employment of the CEO.

As of the dates of the Proxy Statement, the terms of office and employment 
of the CEO do not include an annual cash bonus for the year 2023 and 
henceforth (but include terms for a special bonus for the year 2022) and equity 
incentive. These components will be brought separately for the approval of the 
Compensation Committee, the Board of Directors and the General Meeting of 
Shareholders after formulation of a new Compensation Policy for office holders.

Mr. Gabbay served from January 2020 until November 2021 as the CEO of 
Cellcom Israel Ltd. after which he resigned to join a group of investors that ultimately 
acquired approximately 27% of the Company's shares through Amphissa Holdings 
Limited Partnership. From 2014 until 2019, Mr. Gabby was in politics. He served as 
the Minister of Environmental Protection from 2015 until 2016 and a member of 
parliament during the 20th Knesset term. Mr. Gabby served as CEO of Bezeq 
International Ltd. from 2003 and in 2007 he was appointed as CEO of Bezeq-The 
Israel Telecommunication Corp. Ltd. and served for six years.

Pursuant to section 272 (C.1.)(1) of the Israeli Companies Law, a company’s 
engagement with the company’s general manager in relation to his terms of office and 
employment that conforms to the compensation policy, must be approved by the 
compensation committee, the board of directors and the general meeting of the 
shareholders by a special majority set forth in section 267A of the Israeli Companies 
Law.

In addition, to the best knowledge of the Company, one of two general 
partners of Amphissa is Zela Holdings Ltd, a company wholly owned by Mr. Gabbay. 
Therefore his terms of office and employment must also be approved as a transaction 
with a controlling shareholder according to sections 270(4) and 272 of the Israeli 
Companies Law. 

The Board of Directors appointed a nominating committee comprised of four 
directors: Ms. Osnat Ronen (former Chairman), Dr. Jonathan Kolodny (Chairman of 
the Audit Committee), Mr. Shlomo Rodav and Mr. Doron Steiger ("Nominating 
Committee") to appoint a CEO, that conducted a comprehensive process, at five 
meetings, at which, inter alia, the Nominating Committee examined numerous 
candidates, with the assistance of an external consultant, including a variety of leading 
CEOs and managers in the market, as well as internal candidates, and considered it 
important to appoint a CEO with a variety of capabilities, including: managerial and 
business capabilities and marketing vision in dealing with a complex and competitive 
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market. The Nominating Committee determined that Mr. Gabbay with his vast 
experience in the telecommunications field and impressive business and managerial 
experience is the suitable person to lead the Company in the coming years. He 
displays business creativity and innovation and led the organizations in which he 
worked over the years to impressive economic results. In addition, Mr. Gabbay has 
strong marketing and sales skills and the ability to build a strategic plan for the 
coming years including the development of new business lines. The Nominating 
Committee received very good recommendations regarding Mr. Gabbay during 
discussions with a number of people who had direct and relevant information that 
were presented at length to the Board of Directors.

In light of the recommendation of the Nominating Committee, upon conclusion 
of the comprehensive and orderly process that it conducted, the Board of Directors 
determined that Mr. Gabbay is the most suitable candidate to serve as CEO and lead 
Partner in its continued business activity for the coming years. Mr. Gabbay's 
willingness to assume the position immediately, which was expected to reduce the 
interim period of replacement of the CEO and forming a new management team will 
allow the company to focus on the next growth phases of the Company's business.

As stated above, the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors of the 
Company resolved that the terms of office and employment for Mr. Gabbay would be 
approved in two tranches and that the annual bonus arrangements applicable as of 
2023 and the equity compensation component will be brought separately for approval 
to the Compensation Committee, the Board of Directors and the General Meeting of 
Shareholders after formulation of a new Compensation Policy for office holders. 

The Compensation Committee of the Company discussed the terms of office 
and employment of the Company’s CEO that are brought for the approval of this 
AGM after which the Company’s Board of Directors discussed the matter. The 
directors determined that the current components of Mr. Gabbay’s terms of office and 
employment are in accordance with the Company’s Compensation Policy (the 
“Compensation Policy”). 

The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors considered the 
provisions of the Compensation Policy, which include, inter alia, the requirement that 
compensation be linked to performance and that a correlation must be made between 
the interests of the Company’s CEO and the interests of the Company and its 
shareholders, while examining criteria and relevant benchmarks in the market.

Prior to the meetings that approved Mr. Gabbay’s terms of office and 
employment that are brought for the approval of this AGM, data was presented to the 
Compensation Committee and to the Board of Directors of the Company with regard 
to: the CEO’s package of terms of office and employment; with regard to the 
Compensation Policy and its implications in terms of the cost of employing him at the 
Company; with regard to the comparative analysis conducted by Professor Moshe 
Zviran Ltd. of the terms of office and employment of CEOs at companies comparable 
to the Company; with regard to Mr. Gabbay's education, expertise, professional 
experience and achievements and the degree of responsibility required for the position 
of CEO and the challenges he faces and data regarding the ratio between the proposed 
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compensation and the Salary Cost1 of the rest of the Company’s employees and, 
particularly, the ratio to the average Salary Cost and the median Salary Cost of such 
employees and the impact of the gaps between them on labor relations in the 
Company.

Following are the principal terms of office and employment of the CEO of the 
Company:

Validity of the terms: The terms of office and employment of Mr. Avi Gabbay 
shall be in effect as of June 1, 2022 for an indefinite period. 

Salary: For the duration of the engagement period, Mr. Avi Gabbay shall be 
entitled to a monthly salary, linked to the consumer price index ("CPI") last known 
on the payment date, compared to the base CPI (base index is the CPI in respect of 
May 2022), at the monthly sum of NIS 150,000 ("Fixed Component").

Annual cash bonus:

The Board of Directors noted that the annual bonus arrangements applicable as 
of 2023 will be brought separately for approval to the Compensation Committee, the 
Board of Directors and the General Meeting of Shareholders after formulation of a 
new Compensation Policy for office holders.

Special Bonus:

Mr. Gabbay will be entitled to a one-time special bonus for his work in 2022, in 
accordance with section 5.5.3 of the Compensation Policy due to the special 
circumstances of his joining the Company, including his willingness to assume the 
position within a short period of time and commence his employment immediately, 
which was expected to reduce the interim period of replacement of the CEO and 
formation of a new management team, and will allow the Company to focus on the 
next growth phases of the Company's business.

The Compensation Committee and Board of Directors approved and 
recommended to the AGM at their respective meetings on June 8, 2022 and June 9, 
2022 to approve a special bonus for the CEO, for his work during 2022, in accordance 
with the targets in the following pre-determined indices, while considering the fact 
that in 2022 the CEO is expected to work less than a full year 2:   

1. Adjusted EBITDA target for 2022 (excluding Roaming) in the amount 
of NIS 872 million –a weight of 50% of the Special Bonus;

2. Free Cash Flow target for 2022 (excluding Roaming) in the amount of 
minus NIS 167 million –a weight of 25% of the Special Bonus;

1 “Salary Cost” – any payment made for the employment, including employer’s provisions, payments 
in respect of retirement, vehicle and cost of use thereof and any other benefit or payment.
2 The Company will calculate the data of the following Free Cash Flow, Adjusted EBITDA and Service 
Revenues in the Cellular Segment targets in a consistent manner that is identical to the manner in 
which it has calculated this data so far and according to which it reported this data except excluding 
Roaming.
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3. Service Revenues in Cellular Segment target for 2022 (excluding 
Roaming) in the amount of NIS 1,618 million –a weight of 25% of the 
Special Bonus.

"Roaming" means net revenues (i.e both revenues and expenses are 
excluded) from (1) international roaming3 as set forth in Item 61 of 
section 2.3 of the First Annex of Exhibit 4(a)(2) of the Company's 
Annual 2021 Report on Form 20-F 
at:https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1096691/00011789132200
0840/exhibit_4a-2.htm; and (2) Application to Person (A2P) Short 
Message Service (SMS).

The Special Bonus will be determined in accordance with the following tiers:

1. For achievement at a rate of 100% of the said targets, the Special 
Bonus will be in an amount of NIS 750,000 (the "Target Bonus");

2. For achievement at a rate of 90% of the weighted calculation of 
meeting the said targets, the Special Bonus will be 80% of Target 
Bonus, i.e. NIS 600,000 (the "Minimum Bonus");

3. For achievement at a rate of less than 100% of the weighted calculation 
of meeting the said targets, but more than 90% of them, the Special 
Bonus will be calculated linearly between the Target Bonus and the 
Minimum Bonus;

4. For achievement at a rate of 115% or more of the weighted calculation 
of meeting the said targets, the Special Bonus will be 120% of the 
Target Bonus, i.e NIS 900,000 (the "Maximum Bonus");

5. For achievement at a rate higher than 100% of the weighted calculation 
of meeting the said targets, but lower than 115%, the Special Bonus 
will be calculated linearly between the Target Bonus and the 
Maximum Bonus;

6. Achievement at a rate of less than 90% of any of the said targets will 
not qualify for the Special Bonus;

7. The weighted calculation of meeting the said targets shall be done by a 
weighted average of the rate of meeting each of the targets (while 
weighting a rate of meeting the target that exceeds 100% for each 
target in case of overperformance) in accordance with the relative 
weight of each target in the Special Bonus.

 Equity incentive:

3 Provision of MRT Services when visiting Israel (for “roamers” from overseas). Transfer of calls to a 
Subscriber overseas via an international long distance provider and the provision of the possibility for 
Subscribers that are overseas to receive MRT Services from overseas operators, including call filtering 
and call back and the provision of cellular telephone services and accompanying services to those 
visiting Israel (for “roamer” from overseas) all by way of roaming agreements with operators in other 
countries.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1096691/000117891322000840/exhibit_4a-2.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1096691/000117891322000840/exhibit_4a-2.htm
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The Board of Directors noted that the equity compensation component will be 
brought separately for approval to the Compensation Committee, the Board of 
Directors and the General Meeting of Shareholders after formulation of a new 
Compensation Policy for office holders.

Car: The Company shall bear the costs of car usage by the CEO and 
maintenance, (currently, an executive vehicle cost is a monthly sum of approximately 
NIS 27,000).

Work related benefits: Mr. Gabbay shall be entitled to those benefits that are 
being granted to other office holders in the Company. These benefits include a 
telephone, a meals arrangement, mobile phone, connection to a multi-channel 
television service and various content applications, connection to the Internet, a 
subscription to two daily newspapers and additional benefits according to the 
Company’s Compensation Policy and practices.

Indemnification, release and insurance: Pursuant to the Compensation 
Policy, and as approved at the 2020 EGM, the Company may indemnify and release 
its directors and senior managers at the maximum extent permitted by law and the 
Company’s Articles of Association, and grant them letters of indemnification and 
release for this purpose, substantially in the version approved by said 2020 EGM. 
Additionally, the directors and senior office holders of the Company are insured under 
the Company's D&O insurance policy. Accordingly, a letter of indemnification and 
release substantially in the version approved by the aforesaid 2020 EGM was granted 
(subject to the AGM) to Mr. Gabbay (the “Indemnified Person”) as detailed in the 
letter of indemnification and release attached hereto as Annex "C" (the 
“Indemnification and Release Letter”). The description herein is qualified in its 
entirety by reference to the full text of the attached Indemnification and Release 
Letter. For further information regarding the  2020 EGM see 
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024
174.htm and https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf

Mr. Gabbay is also covered under the current D&O insurance policy, which 
his coverage was approved by the Compensation Committte according to regulation 
1B1 in accordance with the Companies Regulations (Relief for Transactions with 
Interested Parties), 5760-2000. 

The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors have approved, and 
recommended to the shareholders at the AGM to approve, the grant of the 
Indemnification and Release Letter to Mr. Gabbay, resolved that the Maximum 
Indemnity Amount is reasonable given the circumstances and that the indemnification 
Events listed in Schedule I of the Indemnification and Release Letter are anticipated 
in light of Partner's current activities, and resolved that such resolutions are in the best 
interest of the Company.

Termination of service: In the event of termination, Mr. Gabbay shall be 
entitled to, and shall be required to issue, advance notice of three months during the 
first year of employment and six months during the second year of employment 
onwards. During the advance notice period, Mr. Gabbay shall be required to continue 
working, 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf
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In compliance with clause 9 of the Compensation Policy, the Company’s CEO 
shall be required to return sums to the Company that had been paid to him (and vice 
versa) as performance-based bonus or other compensation on the basis of data (such 
as the Speical Bonus) that subsequently were discovered to be materialy erroneous 
and were restated in the Company’s financial statements, if and insofar as this shall 
transpire.  

The ratio between Mr. Gabbay’s terms of office and employment and the 
Salary Cost of the rest of the employees of the Company and of employees of 
manpower contractors who are working at the Company4: 

The ratio between the value of Mr. Gabbay’s terms of employment and the 
average Salary Cost of the Company’s employees, excluding employees of Manpower 
Contractors who are working at the Company, is approximately 12, while the ratio 
between the value of Mr. Gabbay’s terms of employment and the median Salary Cost 
of the Company’s employees, excluding employees of Manpower Contractors who 
are working at the Company, is approximately 17.

The aforesaid ratios do not include data regarding the average Salary Cost and 
median Salary Cost of employees of Manpower Contractors since the total effect of 
such data on the average Salary Cost is marginal and its inclusion would not have led 
to a substantially different result. Considering the CEO’s role and the difference in the 
Salary Cost levels, these gaps do not suffice to affect labor relations in the Company.

The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors discussed the ratio 
between the fixed proposed compensation regarding the CEO and cash compensation 
and reached the conclusion that the aforesaid ratios are in accordance with the 
Compensation Policy.

The rationale of the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors 
for approving the terms of office and employment of the Company's CEO

In addition to the specific rationales mentioned above regarding certain 
components of Mr. Gabbay’s remuneration, the following rationales were also 
mentioned:

(a) The terms of office and employment of the Company’s CEO are consistent 
with the Compensation Policy, are congruent with its objective and the 
inclusive monetary total to the CEO; (b) An external, independent, expert 
appraiser compared the CEO’s employment terms to those of CEOs at 
comparable companies and found that they do not deviate from the range of 
overall compensation being paid to such office holders at similar companies; 
(c) Mr. Gabbay’s terms of employment are commensurate, considering Mr. 
Gabbay’s qualifications, expertise and extensive experience in the 
telecommunications industry in general, and taking into account Mr. Gabbay’s 

4 “Employees of a Manpower Contractor who are working at the Company” – employees of a 
Manpower Contractor, when the Company is their Actual Employer, and employees of a Service 
Contractor who are engaged in the provision of a service at the Company; in this context, 
“Manpower Contractor,” “Service Contractor,” “Actual Employer” – as these terms are defined in 
the Employment of Employees by Manpower Contractors Law, 5756 – 1996.
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performance in his various roles in the past and currently; (d) Considering the 
nature of the Company’s activities, Mr. Gabbay’s executive office as the 
Company’s CEO and considering the responsibility being imposed on him, the 
ratio between the cost of Mr. Gabbay’s terms of employment being submitted 
now for approval and the average and median cost of employment of the 
Company’s employees, is a reasonable ratio, and will not adversely affect 
labor relations in the Company; (e) The office and employment terms include 
an appropriate balance between the fixed components and the variable 
components. The variable components are limited to maximums that are 
consistent with the requirement for a close link between payments to the CEO 
and the Company's performance and increase of its profits, while protecting 
the interests of the Company and its shareholders; and (f) Considering the set 
of parameters and considerations, as well as the reasons specified above, and 
considering, inter alia, the size of the Company, and the scope, complexity and 
nature of its operations, considering the complexity of the office and the 
degree of responsibility being imposed on him, the Compensation Committee 
and the Board of Directors determined that the terms of employment of the 
CEO, Mr. Avi Gabbay, are fair, reasonable and customary, under the 
circumstances.

In accordance with the Israeli Companies Law, if the shareholders oppose the 
approval of a specific compensation plan of an officer, the Compensation Committee 
and Board of Directors may approve said plan, in “special cases”, notwithstanding 
shareholders’ opposition, after having held another discussion of the terms of said 
compensation plan, and on the basis of detailed reasoning that considered the 
rationale behind the shareholders’ opposition and determined that this resolution is in 
the best interest of the Company.

It is proposed that at the AGM the following resolutions be adopted:

(i) “RESOLVED: to approve the terms of office and employment of 
the CEO, Mr. Avi Gabbay including the grant of an 
Indemnification and Release Letter effective from his 
appointment date on June 1, 2022; and

(ii) RESOLVED: this resolution is in the best interest of the 
Company.”

The vote of the holders of a majority of the Ordinary Shares participating in the AGM 
and voting on the matter is required for the approval of item 6 on the agenda. The vote 
of the holders of a majority of the Ordinary Shares participating in the AGM and 
voting on the matter is required for the approval of item 6 on the agenda; provided, 
that one of the following conditions is fulfilled: (i) the majority of votes in favor of 
the matter shall include at least a majority of the votes of shareholders not constituting 
Controlling Parties (as stated in the Israeli Companies Law, including section 268 
thereof, “Controlling Parties”) in the Company, or those having a Personal Interest (as 
defined in the Israeli Companies Law, a “Personal Interest”) in the approval of this 
item, participating in the vote; which votes shall not include abstaining votes; or (ii) 
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the total number of objecting votes of the shareholders mentioned in clause (i) does 
not exceed 2% of the total voting rights in the Company. 

A shareholder shall notify the Company at the address above at least four (4) hours 
prior to the time of the AGM, whether the shareholder is a Controlling Party in the 
Company or the shareholder has a Personal Interest in the approval of item 6 on the 
agenda or not, as a condition for that shareholder's right to vote and be counted with 
respect to this item. A shareholder voting, by means of a Deed of Vote, may include 
said notice regarding his Controlling Party Interest or his Personal Interest on the 
Deed of Vote (to be submitted to the Company at least four (4) hours prior to the time 
of the AGM or if voted electronically, no later than six (6) hours before the time fixed 
for the AGM).  

The Board of Directors recommends a vote FOR approval of these 
proposed resolutions.
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RESTRICTIONS ON VOTING RIGHTS

Partner conducts its operations pursuant to licenses granted to Partner, directly 
or indirectly, by the Minister of Communications of the State of Israel (including the 
License). Partner’s Articles of Association and, with respect to shareholders other 
than shareholders of Partner prior to its public offering, the License contains 
provisions that may cause the suspension of voting rights of the holders of Ordinary 
Shares or ADSs if such voting rights would breach the ownership limits contained in 
the License. These limits prohibit the transfer or acquisition of 10% or more of 
Partner’s means of control and acquisition of control of the Company without the 
consent of the Minister of Communications of Israel, and restrict cross-control and 
cross-ownership of other mobile telephone operators in Israel, and shareholdings and 
agreements which may reduce or harm competition. Ordinary Shares or Ordinary 
Shares represented by ADSs held in breach of these limits may be considered dormant 
shares. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Proxy Statement, dormant 
shares will not bear any rights to which the holders would otherwise be entitled, other 
than the right to receive dividends and other distributions to shareholders (including 
the right to participate in rights offerings). Specifically, the holders of dormant shares 
will not have voting rights with respect to their dormant shares, nor will they have the 
right to participate in general meetings of shareholders. Under certain licenses 
granted, to Partner, directly or indirectly, a notice to the Minister of Communications 
of the State of Israel may be required for holding any of Partner's means of control.

Any shareholder seeking to vote at the AGM must notify the Company prior 
to the vote, or indicate on the Deed of Vote (if a shareholder is seeking to vote by 
Deed of Vote), or indicate on the Deed of Authorization (if a shareholder is seeking to 
appoint a proxy by a Deed of Authorization), if any of the shareholder’s holdings in 
Partner or the shareholder’s vote require the consent of the Minister of 
Communications due to a breach by the shareholder of the restrictions on the transfer 
or acquisition of means of control or acquisition of control of Partner, or the 
provisions regarding cross-ownership or cross-control of other mobile telephone 
operators in Israel, in each case as specified in Sections 21 and 23 of the License (a 
translation of Sections 21-24 of the License is attached hereto as Annex “D”). If a 
shareholder does not provide such notification, the shareholder shall not vote and, if 
the shareholder has voted, his vote shall not be counted. 

By Order of the Board of Directors

Sarit Hecht, Adv.
Company Secretary

Dated: June 22, 2022
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Shareholders of Partner Communications Company Ltd.

Opinions on the Financial Statements and Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited the accompanying consolidated statements of financial position of Partner Communications 
Company Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the related 
consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for each of the 
three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, including the related notes (collectively referred to as the 
“consolidated financial statements”).  We also have audited the Company’s internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework 
(2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, 
the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and 
its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021 in conformity with 
International Financial Reporting Standards as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board.  Also 
in our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in Internal Control - Integrated Framework 
(2013) issued by the COSO.  

Basis for Opinions

The Company's management is responsible for these consolidated financial statements, for maintaining 
effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control 
over financial reporting, included in Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting 
appearing under Item 15b.  Our responsibility is to express opinions on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements and on the Company's internal control over financial reporting based on our audits.  We are a 
public accounting firm registered with the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) 
(PCAOB) and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal 
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the 
PCAOB.
  
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB.  Those standards require that we 
plan and perform the audits to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud, and whether effective internal 
control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.  

Our audits of the consolidated financial statements included performing procedures to assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing 
procedures that respond to those risks.  Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence 
regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements.  Our audits also included 
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements.  Our audit of internal control over 
financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing 
the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of 
internal control based on the assessed risk.  Our audits also included performing such other procedures as we 
considered necessary in the circumstances.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our 
opinions.
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Definition and Limitations of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 
regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external 
purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.  A company’s internal control over 
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the 
company; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation 
of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of 
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the 
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect 
misstatements.  Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that 
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the 
policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the 
consolidated financial statements that was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit 
committee and that (i) relates to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated financial 
statements and (ii) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of 
critical audit matters does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a 
whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the 
critical audit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
 
Goodwill Impairment Assessment – Fixed line segment
As described in Notes 4(3) and 13 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company’s goodwill balance in 
respect of the fixed line segment was NIS 407 million as of December 31, 2021. Management conducts an 
impairment test at each year end, or more frequently if events or circumstances indicate that the carrying 
amount of goodwill may be impaired. Potential impairment is identified by comparing the carrying amount of 
the relevant cash-generating unit to its recoverable amount, including goodwill. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and its value-in-use. The recoverable amount of the fixed-line 
segment to which the goodwill has been allocated was estimated by management using a discounted cash flow 
model. Management’s cash flow projections for the Fixed line segment included significant judgments and 
assumptions relating to the revenue growth rate, the terminal growth rate, and the discount rate.

The principal considerations for our determination that performing procedures relating to the goodwill 
impairment assessment of the fixed line segment is a critical audit matter are (i) the significant judgment by 
management when developing the value-in-use measurement of the fixed line segment; (ii) a high degree of 
auditor judgment, subjectivity and effort in performing procedures and evaluating management’s significant 
assumptions related to revenue growth rate, terminal growth rate and discount rate; (iii) the audit effort 
involved the use of professionals with specialized skill and knowledge. 

Addressing the matter involved performing procedures and evaluating audit evidence in connection with 
forming our overall opinion on the consolidated financial statements. These procedures included obtaining an 
understanding, evaluating the design and testing the effectiveness of controls over the Company's goodwill 
impairment review process including controls over managements review of the significant assumptions 
described above. These procedures also included, among others, evaluating the appropriateness of the 
discounted cash flow model; testing the completeness and accuracy of underlying data used in the model; 
comparing projected cash flows to the Company's historical cash flows; evaluating the significant assumptions 
used by management related to the revenue growth rate, terminal growth rates and discount rate by amongst 
others: assessing the historical accuracy of managements estimates, performing sensitivity analyses and 
reviewing the changes of the Company's regulatory environment and  consumers' market. Professionals with 
specialized skill and knowledge were used to assist in the evaluation of the Company’s discounted cash flow 
model and the discount rate assumption.  
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/s/ Kesselman & Kesselman
Certified Public Accountants (Isr.)
A member of PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited

Tel-Aviv, Israel                                                                              
February 28, 2022

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1998.
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

New Israeli Shekels

Convenience 
translation 
into U.S. 
dollars 

(note 2b3)
December 31,

2020 2021 2021
Note In millions

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents 376 308 99
Short-term deposits 6 411 344 111
Trade receivables 7 560 571 184
Other receivables and prepaid expenses 14 46 152 49
Deferred expenses – right of use 12 26 27 9
Inventories 8 77 87 28

1,496 1,489 480

NON CURRENT ASSETS
Long-term deposits 6 155 280 90
Trade receivables 7 232 245 79
Deferred expenses – right of use 12 118 142 45
Lease – right of use 19 663 679 218
Property and equipment 10 1,495 1,644 529
Intangible and other assets 11 521 472 152
Goodwill 13 407 407 131
Deferred income tax asset 25 29 34 11
Other non-current receivables 9 1 *

3,629 3,904 1,255

TOTAL ASSETS 5,125 5,393 1,735

* Representing an amount of less than 1 million

The financial statements were authorized for issue by the board of directors on February 28, 2022.

Avi Zvi Tamir Amar Jonathan Kolodny
Chief Executive Officer Deputy CEO & Chief 

Financial Officer 
Director
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION

New Israeli Shekels

Convenience 
translation into 

U.S. dollars 
(note 2b3)

December 31, 
2020 2021 2021

Note In millions
CURRENT LIABILITIES

 Current maturities of notes payable and borrowings 6,15 290 268 86
Trade payables 666 705 227
Other payables and provisions 14 127 185 59
Current maturities of lease liabilities 19 120 125 40
Deferred revenues and other 9,14 131 139 45

1,334 1,422 457
NON CURRENT LIABILITIES

Notes payable 6,15 1,219 1,224 394
Borrowings from banks 6,15 86 184 59
Financial liability at fair value 6,15 4
Liability for employee rights upon retirement, net 16 42 35 12

 Lease liabilities 19 582 595 191
 Deferred revenues from HOT mobile 9,14 71 39 13
 Non-current liabilities and provisions 14 64 35 11

2,068 2,112 680

TOTAL LIABILITIES 3,402 3,534 1,137

EQUITY 21
          Share capital – ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value:

      authorized – December 31, 2020 and 2021 – 235,000,000
 shares; issued and outstanding -                                   2 2 1

December 31, 2020 – *182,826,973 shares
December 31, 2021 – *183,678,220 shares

Capital surplus 1,311 1,279 411
Accumulated retained earnings 606 742 239
Treasury shares, at cost –
   December 31, 2020 – **7,741,784 shares

        December 31, 2021 – **7,337,759 shares (196) (164) (53)
TOTAL EQUITY 1,723 1,859 598
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 5,125 5,393 1,735

*   Net of treasury shares.
** Including shares held by trustee under the Company's Equity Incentive Plan, see note 21(a), such shares will   
      become outstanding upon completion of vesting conditions, see note 21(b).

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Convenience
translation

into U.S. dollars
New Israeli Shekels (note 2b3)

Year ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021 2021

Note In millions (except earnings per share)
Revenues, net 5,22 3,234 3,189 3,363 1,081
Cost of revenues 5,22 2,707 2,664 2,732 878
Gross profit 527 525 631 203

Selling and marketing expenses                                                                  22 301 291 323 104
General and administrative expenses 22 149 145 164 52
Credit losses 7 18 23 9 3
Other income, net 23 28 30 28 9

Operating profit 87 96 163 53
Finance income 7 8 4 1
Finance expenses 24 75 77 68 22

Finance costs, net 68 69 64 21

Profit before income tax 19 27 99 32
Income tax income (expense) 25 * (10) 16 5
Profit for the year 19 17 115 37

Earnings per share

Basic    27 0.12 0.09 0.63 0.20

Diluted 27 0.12 0.09 0.62 0.20

*   Representing an amount of less than 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

New Israeli Shekels

Convenience 
translation 
into U.S. 
dollars 

(note 2b3)
Year ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021 2021
Note In millions

Profit for the year 19 17 115 37
Other comprehensive income, items 

 that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
 Remeasurements of post-employment benefit 

 obligations 16 (2) 1 8 3
Income taxes relating to remeasurements of
     post-employment benefit obligations 25 * * (2) (1)
Other comprehensive income (loss)

 for the year, net of income taxes (2) 1 6 2

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
 FOR THE YEAR 17 18 121 39

*   Representing an amount of less than 1 million.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.



PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
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Share capital
Number of Capital Accumulated Treasury
Shares** Amount surplus earnings shares Total equity 

NIS In millions 
New Israeli  Shekels:
BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2019 162,628,397 2 1,102 542 (261) 1,385

CHANGES DURING THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2019
Profit for the year 19 19
Other comprehensive loss for the year, net of income taxes (2) (2)

Total comprehensive income for the year 17 17
Exercise of options and vesting of restricted shares granted to employees 287,593 (23) 23
Employee share-based compensation expenses 17 17
Transactions with non-controlling interests (2) (2)

 BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2019 162,915,990 2 1,077 576 (238) 1,417
CHANGES DURING THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020

Profit for the year 17 17
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income taxes 1 1

Total comprehensive income for the year 18 18
Issuance of shares to shareholders (see note 21) 19,330,183 * 276*** 276
Exercise of options and vesting of restricted shares granted to employees 580,800 (42) 42
Employee share-based compensation expenses 12 12

 BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2020 182,826,973 2 1,311 606 (196) 1,723
CHANGES DURING THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

Profit for the year 115 115
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income taxes 6 6

Total comprehensive income for the year 121 121
Exercise of options and vesting of restricted shares granted to employees 851,247 (32) 32
Employee share-based compensation expenses 15 15

 BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 183,678,220 2 1,279 742 (164) 1,859
Convenience translation into U.S. Dollars (note 2b3):
        BALANCE AT JANUARY 1, 2021 182,826,973 1 421 195 (63) 554
       CHANGES DURING THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

Profit for the year 37 37
Other comprehensive income for the year, net of income taxes 2 2

Total comprehensive income for the year 39 39
Exercise of options and vesting of restricted shares granted to employees 851,247 (10) 10
Employee share-based compensation expenses 5 5

BALANCE AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 183,678,220 1 411 239 (53) 598
*  Representing an amount of less than 1 million.    ** Net of treasury shares.    *** Net of issuance costs.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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(Continued)– 1
PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.

(An Israeli Corporation)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

New Israeli Shekels

Convenience 
translation 
into U.S. 
dollars 

(note 2b3)
Year ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021 2021
Note In millions 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Cash generated from operations (Appendix) 838 787 791 254
Income tax paid 25 (1) (1) (17) (5)

Net cash provided by operating activities 837 786 774 249

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Acquisition of property and equipment (462) (409) (519) (167)
Acquisition of intangible and other assets (167) (164) (153) (49)
Acquisition of a business, net of cash acquired (3)
Investment in deposits, net (552) (14) (58) (19)
Interest received 1 6 3 1
Consideration received from sales of property and 

equipment 23 2 * * *
Net cash used in investing activities (1,181) (581) (727) (234)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Lease principal payments 19 (139) (129) (130) (42)
Lease interest payments 19 (20) (18) (18) (6)
Share issuance, net of issuance costs 21 276
Proceeds from issuance of notes payable, 

net of issuance costs 6,15 562 466 220 71
Proceeds from issuance of option warrants exercisable 

for notes payables 15 37
Interest paid 24 (37) (49) (48) (15)

     Proceeds from non-current bank borrowing received 6,15 150 48
Repayment of borrowings 15 (65) (52) (52) (17)
Repayment of notes payable 15 (109) (620) (237) (76)
Settlement of contingent consideration (2)
Transactions with non-controlling interests (2)

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 227 (128) (115) (37)

INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH
 EQUIVALENTS (117) 77 (68) (22)

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING
 OF YEAR 416 299 376 121

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF
 YEAR 299 376 308 99

*   Representing an amount of less than 1 million. 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements.
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(Concluded)– 2
PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.

(An Israeli Corporation)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Appendix – Cash generated from operations and supplementary information

New Israeli Shekels 

Convenience 
translation 

into 
U.S. dollars 
(note 2b3)

Year  ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021 2021

Note In millions 

Cash generated from operations:
     Profit for the year 19 17 115 37

    Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortization 10,11 723 683 713 229
Amortization of deferred expenses - Right of use 12 28 31 31 10
Employee share based compensation expenses 21 17 12 15 5
Liability for employee rights upon retirement, net 16 1 (1) 2 1
Finance costs, net 24 5 (2) (4) (1)
Lease interest payments 19 20 18 18 6
Interest paid 24 37 49 48 15
Interest received 24 (1) (6) (3) (1)
Deferred income taxes 25 4 12 (7) (2)
Income tax paid 25 1 1 17 5
Capital loss from property and equipment (2) * * *

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in accounts receivable:

Trade 7 42 82 (24) (8)
Other (1) (6) (70) (23)

Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and accruals:
Trade 63 (57) 3 1
Other payables and provisions 14,25 (14) (70) 27 8
Deferred revenues and other 9 (27) 24 (24) (7)

Increase in deferred expenses - Right of use 12 (51) (47) (56) (18)
      Decrease (increase) in inventories 8 (26) 47 (10) (3)

Cash generated from operations: 838 787 791 254

  *    Representing an amount of less than 1 million.

Supplementary information 
At December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021, trade and other payables, net include NIS 115 million, NIS 139 
million and NIS 157 million (US$ 50 million), respectively, in respect of acquisition of intangible assets and 
property and equipment; payments in respect thereof are presented in cash flows from investing activities. 
These balances are recognized in the cash flow statements upon payment. For non-cash movements in lease 
liabilities and lease right of use assets see note 19. Cost of inventory used as fixed assets during 2020 and 2021 
were NIS 8 million and NIS 33 million (US$ 11 million), respectively.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the financial statements. 
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - GENERAL

a. Reporting entity

Partner Communications Company Ltd. ("the Company", "Partner") is a leading Israeli provider of 
telecommunications services (cellular, fixed-line telephony, internet and television services) under the 
Partner brand, and cellular services also under the 012 Mobile brand. The Company is incorporated and 
domiciled in Israel and its principal executive office’s address is 8 Amal Street, Afeq Industrial Park, 
Rosh-Ha'ayin 48103, Israel. The Company's business and non-current assets are concentrated in Israel.

The Company's share capital consists of ordinary shares, which are traded on the Tel Aviv Stock 
Exchange Ltd. ("TASE") under the symbol "PTNR". American Depositary Shares ("ADSs"), each 
representing one of the Company’s ordinary shares, are quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market™, 
under the symbol "PTNR". See also note 21(a).

Regarding the Company's principal shareholder and holdings of approved Israeli shareholders in the 
Company, see note 26.

These consolidated financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2021, are comprised of the 
Company and its subsidiaries and consolidated partnerships (the "Group"). See the list of subsidiaries and 
consolidated partnerships and principles of consolidation in note 2(c)(1). See also 2(c)(2) with respect to 
investment in PHI. 

The coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic began to have a harmful effect on the Company's business 
from the beginning of March 2020, due in particular to the significant fall in the volume of international 
travel by the Company's customers which caused a very significant decrease in revenues from roaming 
services. In addition the closure of shopping malls for limited periods during 2020 and changes in general 
consumer behavior negatively affected the volume of sales of equipment. 
Beginning in the second quarter of 2021, shopping malls reopened and the extent of general domestic 
economic activity largely returned to levels experienced prior to the COVID-19 pandemic. Regarding 
roaming services, revenues from roaming services began to increase moderately in the second half of 
2021 as a result of a moderate increase in the volume of international travel by the Company’s customers. 
However, as of the date of approval of these financial statements, revenues from roaming services 
continue to be significantly restrained, largely related to the impact of the Omicron variant on 
international travel, and remain significantly below pre-COVID-19 pandemic levels. 
The Company reviewed the effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on its critical accounting estimates and 
judgments as of December 31, 2021, and determined that no material change was required.
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - GENERAL (continued)

b. Operating segments

The operating segments were determined based on the reports reviewed by the Chief Executive Officer 
(CEO) who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, 
and therefore is the Chief Operating Decision Maker ("CODM"), and supported by budget and business 
plans structure, different regulations and licenses (see (c) below). The CEO considers the business from 
two operating segments, as follows (see also note 5): 

(1) Cellular segment:
Services in the cellular segment include basic cellular telephony services, text messaging, internet 
browsing and data transfer, content services, roaming services, M2M (Machine to Machine) and IOT 
(Internet of Things) services, handset repair services, cellular content and value-added services, and 
services provided to other operators that use the Company's cellular network. The two payment 
methods offered to our customers are pre-paid and post-paid. Pre-paid services are offered to 
customers that purchase credit in advance of service use. Post-paid services are offered to customers 
with bank and credit arrangements. Most of the cellular tariff plans are bundles which include 
unlimited volumes of calls time and text messaging (with fair use limits), as well as limited data 
packages. Cellular content and value-added services offered include multimedia messaging, cyber 
protection, cloud backup, ringtones, and a range of advanced business services. International roaming 
services abroad for the Company’s customers include airtime calls, text messaging and data services 
on networks with which the Company has a commercial roaming relationship. Partner also provides 
inbound roaming services to the customers of foreign operators with which the Company has a 
commercial roaming relationship. In addition, the cellular segment includes wholesale cellular 
services provided to virtual operators who use the Partner cellular network to provide services to their 
customers.
Optional services such as equipment extended warranty plans and international calling plans are also 
provided for an additional monthly charge or included in specific tariff plans. The Company also 
provides warranty repair plans and services for cellular phone and electronic devices to both retail 
customers and independent merchants and parallel importers.

(2) Fixed-line segment:
Services in the fixed-line segment include: (a) Internet services that provide access to the internet 
through both fiber-optics and wholesale broadband access, internet services provider (“ISP”) services; 
internet Value Added Services (“VAS”) such as cyber protection, anti-virus and anti-spam filtering; 
and fixed-line voice communication services provided through Voice Over Broadband (“VOB”); (b) 
Business solutions including Session Initiation Protocol (“SIP”) voice trunks and Network 
Termination Point Services (“NTP”) – under which the Group supplies, installs, operates and 
maintains endpoint network equipment and solutions, including providing and installing equipment 
and cabling within a subscriber's place of business or premises, hosting services, transmission services, 
Primary Rate Interface (“PRI”) and other fixed-line communications solution services; (c) 
International Long Distance services (“ILD”): outgoing and incoming international telephony, 
hubbing, roaming and signaling and calling card services; (d) Television services over the Internet 
(“TV”); (e) Connections and data transfer services provided to international telecommunications 
operators over the fiber-optic infrastructure.
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - GENERAL (continued)

b. Operating segments (continued)

The cellular segment and the fixed-line segment also include sales and leasing of telecommunications, 
audio visual and related devices: mainly cellular handsets, tablets (handheld computers), laptops, landline 
phones, modems, datacards, domestic routers, servers and related equipment, integration project hardware 
and a variety of digital audio visual devices and small household appliances including smart watches, car 
dashboard cameras, televisions, digital cameras, games consoles, audio accessories and other devices.
Each segment is divided into services and equipment revenues, and the related cost of revenues. The 
operating segments include the following measures: revenues, cost of revenues, operating profit (see note 
5(2)). The CODM does not examine assets or liabilities for the segments separately for the purposes of 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments and they are not therefore 
presented in note 5 segment information.
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 - GENERAL (continued)

c. Group licenses

The Group operates under the following licenses that were received from the Israeli Ministry of 
Communications ("MOC"), the Israeli Civil Administration ("CA") and the Israeli Electricity 
Authority ("EA"): 

Type of services Area of 
service

License owner Granted 
by

License 
valid 

through

Guarantees 
made

Dec 31, 2021
(NIS millions)

(1) Cellular Israel Partner Communications 
Company Ltd.

MOC Feb, 2032 21**

(2) Cellular West Bank Partner Communications 
Company Ltd.

CA Feb, 2032 4

(3) Cellular infrastructure Israel P.H.I Networks (2015) Lp. MOC Aug, 2025
(4) ISP Israel Partner Communications 

Company Ltd.
MOC Mar, 2023

(5) ISP West Bank Partner Communications 
Company Ltd.

CA Mar, 2023

(6) Fixed
(incl. ISP, ILD, NTP)

Israel Partner Land-line 
Communication Solutions - 
Limited Partnership

MOC Jan, 2027 2

(7) Fixed
(incl. ISP, ILD, NTP)

West Bank Partner Land-line 
Communication Solutions - 
Limited Partnership

CA Jan, 2027 *

(8) Electric Energy Israel Partner Communications 
Company Ltd.

EA Oct, 2026 2

*   Representing an amount of less than 1 million. 
** Including guarantees of NIS 16 million with respect to the frequencies tender, see note 17(1).

The Group also has a trade license that regulates issues of servicing and trading of equipment, and a number 
of encryption licenses that permits dealing with means of encryption within the framework of providing 
radio telephone services to the public. 

On October 18, 2021, the Minister of Energy granted Partner a license to supply electricity without means of 
production (the "License"). The License will allow the Company to purchase electricity for sale to consumers 
that have online meters. The License is granted to Partner for a period of 5 years.

With respect to license (1): On November 2021 the cellular license was extended by the MOC for an 
additional 10 year period until February 1, 2032. See also note 2(f) with respect to changes in accounting 
estimate made to the estimated useful life of the 2G and 3G frequencies. License (2) follows license (1). 

The other licenses may be extended for various periods, at the discretion of the MOC, CA or EA, 
respectively. 

See also note 17(5) as to additional guarantees made to third parties.
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
  

a. Basis of preparation of the financial statements

(1) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Company ("the financial statements") have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs), as issued by 
the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB).

The principal accounting policies set out below have been consistently applied to all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated.

(2)  Use of estimates and judgments

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates, and requires management to exercise its judgment in the process 
of applying the Group's accounting policies. Areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial 
statements are disclosed in note 4.
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
  

b. Foreign currency translations 

(1) Functional and presentation currency
The consolidated financial statements are measured and presented in New Israeli Shekels 
("NIS"), which is the Group's functional and presentation currency as it is the currency of the 
primary economic environment in which the Group operates. The amounts presented in NIS 
millions are rounded to the nearest NIS million.

(2) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into NIS using the exchange rates prevailing at the 
dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains 
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognized in the income statement in finance costs, net.  

(3) Convenience translation into U.S. Dollars (USD or $ or dollar)
The NIS figures at December 31, 2021 and for the period then ended have been translated into 
dollars using the representative exchange rate of the dollar at December 31, 2021 (USD 
1 = NIS 3.110). The translation was made solely for convenience, is supplementary 
information, and is distinguished from the financial statements. The translated dollar figures 
should not be construed as a representation that the Israeli currency amounts actually 
represent, or could be converted into, dollars.

c. Interests in other entities

(1) Subsidiaries

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power over the 
investee; has exposure, or rights, to variable returns from involvement in the investee; and has 
the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns. Subsidiaries and partnerships 
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Company.

Inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses on transactions between Group 
companies are eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. 

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of a subsidiary are shown separately in the 
consolidated statements of profit or loss, statement of comprehensive income, statement of 
changes in equity and balance sheet respectively. 

List of wholly owned Subsidiaries and partnerships:
▪ 012 Smile Telecom Ltd.
▪ 012 Telecom Ltd.
▪ Partner Land-Line Communication Solutions - Limited Partnership 
▪ Partner Future Communications 2000 Ltd. ("PFC")
▪ Get Cell Communication Products Limited Partnership 
▪ Partner Business Communications Solution - Limited Partnership – not active
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
  

c.   Interests in other entities (continued)

(2) Investment in PHI

In November 2013, the Company and Hot Mobile Ltd. entered into a network sharing 
agreement ("NSA") and a right of use agreement. Pursuant to the NSA, the parties created a 
50-50 limited partnership - P.H.I. Networks (2015) Limited Partnership ("PHI"), which 
operates and develops a radio access network shared by both parties, starting with a pooling of 
both parties' radio access network infrastructures creating a single shared pooled radio access 
network. PHI began its operations in July 2015, managing the networks. 

The control over PHI is borne 50-50 by the Company and Hot Mobile, each nominates an 
equal number of directors (3 directors). Decisions about the relevant activities of PHI require 
the unanimous consent of the Parties, PHI is considered a joint arrangement controlled by the 
Company and Hot Mobile (joint control). The activities of the joint arrangement are primarily 
designed for the provision of output to the Parties. The joint arrangement terms give the 
Parties rights to the assets, and obligations for the liabilities and expenses of PHI. Furthermore 
the Parties have rights to substantially all of the economic benefits of PHI's assets. PHI's 
liabilities are in substance satisfied by the cash flows received from the Parties, as the Parties 
are substantially the source of cash flows contributing to the continuity of the operations of 
PHI. The Company accounts for its rights in the assets of PHI and obligations for the liabilities 
and expenses of PHI as a joint operation, recognizing its share in the assets, liabilities, and 
expenses of PHI. See also note 9.

d. Inventories

Inventories of equipment: cellular handsets and fixed telephones, tablets, laptops, datacards, 
servers, spare parts, ISP modems, related equipment, accessories and other inventories are 
stated at the lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined on the "first-in, first-out" 
basis. The Group determines its allowance for inventory obsolescence and slow moving 
inventory based upon past experience, expected inventory turnover, inventory ageing and 
current and future expectations with respect to product offerings. 

e. Property and equipment

Property and equipment are initially stated at cost.

Costs are included in the assets' carrying amounts or recognized as separate assets, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item 
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance that do not meet the above criteria are charged to the statement of income during 
the financial period in which they are incurred.

Costs include expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. The cost 
of self-constructed assets includes the cost of materials and direct labor, any other costs 
directly attributable to bringing the asset to a working condition for its intended use. 
Purchased software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalized 
as part of that equipment.

Property and equipment are presented less accumulated depreciation, and accumulated 
impairment losses. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable 
amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (see 
note 2(i)). The useful economic lives of the Group's non-financial assets are reviewed 
annually, see note 4(1).
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PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

e. Property and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the 
assets, as follows: 

years

Communications network: 
       Physical layer and infrastructure 10 - 25 (mainly 15, 10)
       Other Communication network 3 - 15  (mainly 5, 10, 15)
Computers, software and hardware for

information systems 3-10 (mainly 3-5)
Office furniture and equipment 7-15
Optic fibers and related assets 7-25 (mainly 25)
Subscribers equipment and installations 2 - 5
Property 25

Leasehold improvements are depreciated by the straight-line method over the term of the lease 
(including reasonably assured option periods), or the estimated useful life (between 5 to 10 
years) of the improvements, whichever is shorter.

f. Licenses and other intangible assets 

(1) Licenses costs and amortization (see also note 1(c)): 

(a) The licenses to operate cellular communication services (and related frequencies 
purchase costs) were recognized at cost (mainly the costs of frequencies allocated to to 
the Company). Borrowing costs which served to finance the license fee - incurred until 
the commencement of utilization of the license - were capitalized to cost of the 
license. 

The costs of the 2G and 3G frequencies allocated to the Company are depreciated up 
to Dec 31, 2030; see also change in estimate below. The costs of certain 4G 
frequencies allocated to the Company are depreciated up to Aug 9, 2025. The costs of 
the other frequencies allocated to the Company following the 5G frequencies tender 
(see note 17(1)) are depreciated up to Sep 29, 2035 and Sep 29 ,2030.

(b) Partner Land-line Communication solutions – limited partnership's license for 
providing fixed-line communication services is stated at cost. 

The other licenses of the Group were received with no significant costs.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

f. Licenses and other intangible assets (continued)

Changes in an accounting estimate:

Management has updated an accounting estimate in 2019 as follows: The estimated 
useful life of the cellular license was determined in the past to end by February 1, 2022. 
According to applicable law existed in 2019, the Company's cellular license could be 
extended for additional 6-year periods, subject to the requirements set in the license. 

The MOC published a tender during 2019 for the award of frequencies, including 
frequencies for 5G services. Following the tender published, Management made an 
annual examination of the estimated useful life of the license in the fourth quarter of 2019 
with the expectation that conditions necessary to obtain renewal of the license will be 
satisfied and that the cost of renewal will not be significant. The tender includes 2x30 
MHz in the 700 MHz Band, 2x60 MHz in the 2,600MHz band and 300 MHz in the 
3,500-3,800 MHz band. The frequencies in the 700 MHz band were offered for a period 
of 15 years and the rest of the frequencies offered in the tender were offered for a period 
of 10 years. See also note 17(1) for the results of the frequencies tender.

Based on Company's judgment described above, the Company expected in 2019 that the 
license would be renewed at a high level of certainty: the Company estimated in 2019 that 
based on its experience and acquaintance with the communications market in Israel, if 
current conditions continue, there is a high probability that the license will be extended 
for the additional term of 6 years. Following this examination, the estimated useful life of 
the 2G and 3G frequencies was re-evaluated for an additional period of 6 years, thereby 
ending on February 1, 2028. The effect of these changes on the consolidated financial 
statements were as follows: the amortization expenses of the cellular license were 
reduced by NIS 15 million in the fourth quarter of 2019, by NIS 60 million in 2020, and  
by approximately NIS 60 million in 2021. 

On September 29, 2020 the Company's cellular license was amended (amendment 
number 107), whereby the Company is entitled to request an extension of the license for 
additional periods of ten years instead of six years, at the discretion of the MOC and CA. 
See information with respect to the extension provisions in note 1(c). On receipt of the 
license amendment, and with respect to the high probability judgment that remained the 
same, the estimated life of the 2G and 3G frequencies were re-valuated for an additional 
period of 4 years, thereby ending on February 1, 2032. The effect of these changes on the 
consolidated financial statements (in addition to the 2019 abovementioned change in 
estimate) were as follows: the amortization expenses of the cellular license were reduced 
in the fourth quarter of 2020 by NIS 2 million, and were reduced by an annual amount of 
approximately NIS 8 million 2021. See also note 4(1).



22

PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

f. Licenses and other intangible assets (continued)

Changes in an accounting estimate (continued):

In June 2021 the Company received a decision of the MOC setting the frequencies 
allotments that were allocated at the time for the 2G and 3G networks (in the 900, 1800 
and 2100 Mhz bands) for usage that will also be allowed with more advanced 
technologies, until December 31, 2030. Following the decision the Company revised the 
useful life of the 2G and 3G frequencies to end by December 31, 2030. The change in 
estimate did not have a material effect on the amortization expenses. The decision also 
included the termination of the 2G and 3G networks by December 31, 2025. The decision 
to terminate the 2G and 3G networks by the end of December 31, 2025 did not have a 
material effect on depreciation expenses.

The other licenses are amortized by the straight-line method over their useful lives (see 
note 1(c)) which exclude any ungranted possible future extensions that are not under the 
Group's control. 

The amortization expenses are included in the cost of revenues.

(2) Computer software:

Acquired computer software licenses are capitalized on the basis of the costs incurred to 
acquire and to bring to use the specified software. 

Development costs, including employee costs, that are directly attributable to the design 
and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group are 
recognized as intangible assets when the capitalization criteria under IAS 38 are met. 
Other development expenditures that do not meet the capitalization criteria, such as 
software maintenance, are recognized as expenses as incurred.

Computer software costs are amortized over their estimated useful lives (3 to 10 years, 
mainly 3 years) using the straight-line method, see also note 11.

(3) Capitalization of costs to obtaining customers contracts: 

Costs of obtaining contracts with customers are recognized as assets when the costs are 
incremental to obtaining the contracts, and it is probable that the Group will recover these 
costs. The assets are amortized to selling and marketing expenses in accordance with the 
expected service period (mainly over 2-3 years), using the portfolio approach, see also 
notes 4(1) and 11. Other costs incurred that would arise regardless of whether a contract 
with a customer was obtained are recognized as an expense when incurred.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

g. Deferred expenses - Right Of Use (ROU) 

Right of use (ROU) of capacity over international fiber optic cables was acquired in a business 
combination, subsequent additions and right of use in PHI's assets are recognized at cost. The 
ROU is presented as deferred expenses (current and non-current) and is amortized to cost of 
revenues on a straight line basis over a period beginning each acquisition of additional ROU in 
this framework and until 2030 (including expected contractual extension periods). See also 
notes 12 and 17(4). 

h. Goodwill

Goodwill acquired in a business combination represents the excess of the consideration 
transferred over the net fair value of the identifiable assets acquired, and identifiable liabilities 
and contingent liabilities assumed. The goodwill has an indefinite useful economic life and is 
not subject to amortization; rather is measured at cost less accumulated impairment losses. For 
the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to a group of cash-generating units 
(CGUs) under the fixed line segment that is expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination. The group of CGUs represents the lowest level within the entity which the 
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. 

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Any impairment 
loss would be recognized for the amount by which the carrying amount of goodwill exceeded 
its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of value-in-use and the fair 
value less costs of disposal. Value-in-use is determined by discounting expected future cash 
flows using a pre-tax discount rate. Any impairment is recognized immediately as an expense 
and is not subsequently reversed. See also note 13(1) with respect to impairment tests.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

i. Impairment tests of non-financial assets with finite useful economic lives

Assets that are subject to depreciation and amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. 
If such indications exist an impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset's 
carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is determined for an 
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of 
those from other assets or groups of assets. If this is the case, recoverable amount is 
determined for the cash-generating unit (CGU) to which the asset belongs. The recoverable 
amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. Value-in-
use is determined by discounting expected future cash flows using a pre-tax discount rate. 

An impairment loss recognized for an asset (or CGU) other than goodwill shall be reversed if, 
and only if, there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the asset's (or CGU's) 
recoverable amount since the last impairment loss was recognized. If this is the case, the 
carrying amount of the asset (or CGU) shall be increased to its recoverable amount. The 
increased carrying amount of an asset (or CGU) other than goodwill attributable to a reversal 
of an impairment loss shall not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined 
(net of amortization or depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset (or 
CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized immediately in the 
statement of income.

j.     Financial instruments

The Group applies IFRS 9 and classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: 
(1) amortized cost (AC), (2) at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL: Financial liability at 
fair value (see note 15) and embedded derivatives). The classification depends on the business 
model for managing the financial instruments and the contractual terms of the cash flows. See 
note 6(c) as to classification of financial instruments to the categories. 

 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of 
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL), transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Financial assets are classified as 
current if they are expected to mature within 12 months after the end of the reporting period; 
otherwise they are classified as non-current. 

Financial liabilities are included in current liabilities, except for maturities greater than 12 
months after the end of the reporting period, which are classified as non-current liabilities. See 
also note 15.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

j.    Financial instruments (continued)

(1) FVTPL category: 

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of embedded derivative financial 
instruments and financial liability at fair value are presented in the income statement 
within "finance costs, net" in the period in which they arise. These financial instruments 
are classified into 3 levels based on their valuation method (see also notes 6(c), 
6(a)(2)(c)): 

Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the 
assets or liabilities, either directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices).
Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, 
the instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for financial liability at fair value.

(2) Amortized cost category:

The Group classifies its financial assets, such as trade receivables, at amortized cost only 
if both of the following criteria are met: (1) the asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows, and (2) the contractual terms give 
rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. Financial assets with 
embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining whether their 
cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Amortized cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those 
cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortized 
cost. Interest income from trade receivables is included in the income statement under 
other income, net (see note 23) using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss 
arising on derecognition is recognized directly in profit or loss and presented in finance 
income/expense together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment expenses 
(credit losses) are presented as separate line item in the statement of profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents are short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value, which include short-term bank deposits (up to 3 months from date of 
deposit) that are not restricted as to withdrawal or use.

Short term deposits, are deposits in commercial banks for periods of more than 3 months 
from date of deposit and less than 12 months from the reporting date.

Long term deposits, are deposits in commercial banks for periods of more than 12 months 
from the reporting date.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

j.    Financial instruments (continued)

Financial assets at amortized cost are presented net of impairment losses:
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired based on the expected credit 
loss model. The assets that are subject to the expected credit loss model are mainly the 
trade receivables. While cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term deposits and 
contract assets are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the identified 
impairment loss was immaterial. 

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with 
its debt instruments carried at amortized cost. The impairment methodology applied 
depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.  For trade 
receivables and contract assets the Group applies IFRS 9 simplified approach to 
measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss allowance.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics and period of payments and period past due. The 
expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales, and the corresponding 
historical credit losses experienced. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current 
and forward-looking information on factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle 
the receivables. 

Trade receivables and contract assets are written off where there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery 
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, and results 
of legal proceedings.

Financial liabilities, such as borrowings and notes payable, are initially recognized at fair 
value, net of transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at amortized cost. Any 
difference between the fair value (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is 
recognized in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective interest 
method. 

Offsetting:
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of 
financial position when the Group has currently a legal enforceable right to offset the 
recognized amounts and has an intention to settle on a net basis or realize the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously. The legal enforceable right must not be contingent on 
future events and must be enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of 
default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the company or the counterparty. 
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

k. Employee benefits

(i) Post-employment benefits

1. Defined contribution plan

According to Section 14 of the Israeli Severance Pay Law the Group's liability for some 
of the employee rights upon retirement is covered by regular contributions to various 
pension schemes. The schemes are generally funded through payments to insurance 
companies or trustee-administered funds. These plans are defined contribution plans, 
since the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate and independent entity. The 
Group has no legal or constructive obligations to pay further contribution if the fund 
does not hold sufficient assets to pay all employees the benefit relating to employee 
service in the current or prior periods. The amounts funded as above are not reflected in 
the statement of financial position. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution 
pension plans are recognized as an expense in the statement of income when they are 
due.

2. Defined benefit plan

Labor laws, agreements and the practice of the Group, require paying retirement benefits 
to employees dismissed or retiring in certain other circumstances (except for those 
described in 1 above), measured by multiplying the years of employment by the last 
monthly salary of the employee (i.e. one monthly salary for each year of tenure), the 
obligation of the Group to pay retirement benefits is treated as a defined benefit plan.

The liability recognized in the statement of financial position in respect of the defined 
benefit plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at end of the reporting 
period less the fair values of plan assets. 

The defined benefit obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries using the 
projected unit credit method. According to IAS 19 employee benefits, the present value 
of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the estimated future cash 
outflows using interest rates of deep market for high-quality corporate bonds. 

Remeasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in 
actuarial assumptions are charged or credited to equity in other comprehensive income 
in the period in which they arise. Interest costs in respect of the defined benefit plan are 
charged or credited to finance costs. See also note 16.
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

k. Employee benefits (continued)

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are payable when employment is terminated by the Group before the 
normal retirement date, or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in 
exchange for these benefits. The Group recognizes termination benefits when it is 
demonstrably legally or constructively committed to either: terminating the employment of 
current employees according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal; or 
providing termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary 
redundancy. 

(iii) Short term employee benefits

1.  Vacation and recreation benefits

The employees are legally entitled to vacation and recreation benefits, both computed 
on an annual basis. This entitlement is based on the term of employment. This 
obligation is treated as a short term benefit under IAS 19. The Group charges a 
liability and expense due to vacation and recreation pay, based on the benefits that 
have been accumulated for each employee, on an undiscounted basis.

2.   Profit-sharing and bonus plans

The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses based on consideration 
of individual performance and the Group's overall performance. The Group 
recognizes a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice 
that has created a constructive obligation.

3.   Other short term benefits

The Group recognized expenses for other short term benefits provided by the 
collective employment agreement (see also note 22(e)).

l.     Share based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based compensation plan to its employees, under 
which the Group receives services from employees as consideration for equity instruments of 
the Group. The fair value of the employee services received in exchange for the grant of the 
equity instruments is recognized as an expense. The total amount to be expensed is determined 
by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted, at the grant date. Non-market 
vesting conditions (performance conditions) are included among the assumptions used to 
estimate the number of options expected to vest. The total expense is recognized during the 
vesting period, which is the period over which all of the specified vesting conditions of the 
share-based payment are to be satisfied. At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises 
its estimates of the number of equity instruments that are expected to vest based on the vesting 
conditions, and recognizes the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the 
statement of income, with corresponding adjustment to accumulated earnings. See also note 
21.
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m. Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources will require settling the 
obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. See note 14.

(1) In the ordinary course of business, the Group is involved in a number of lawsuits and 
litigations. The costs that may result from these lawsuits are only accrued for when it is 
probable that a liability, resulting from past events, will be incurred and the amount of 
that liability can be quantified or estimated within a reasonable range. The amount of the 
provisions recorded is based on a case-by-case assessment of the risk level, and events 
arising during the course of legal proceedings that may require a reassessment of this risk, 
and where applicable discounted at a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The Group's 
assessment of risk is based both on the advice of legal counsel and on the Group's 
estimate of the probable settlements amount that are expected to be incurred, if any. See 
also note 20.

(2) The Company is required to incur certain costs in respect of a liability to dismantle and 
remove assets and to restore sites on which the assets were located. The dismantling costs 
are calculated according to best estimate of future expected payments discounted at a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to the passage of time 
is recognized as finance costs.

(3) Provisions for equipment warranties include obligations to customers in respect of 
equipment sold and maintenance contracts. Where there are a number of similar 
obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in a settlement is determined 
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized even if the 
likelihood of an outflow with respect to any item included in the same class of obligations 
may be small. 
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n. Revenues  

The revenue recognition standard IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, and its 
clarifications ("IFRS 15", "The Standard") outlines a single comprehensive model of accounting 
for revenue arising from contracts with customers. The model includes five steps for analyzing 
transactions so as to determine when to recognize revenue and at what amount:
1) Identifying the contract with the customer.
2) Identifying separate performance obligations in the contract.
3) Determining the transaction price.
4) Allocating the transaction price to separate performance obligations.
5) Recognizing revenue when the performance obligations are satisfied.

(1) Identifying the contract with the customer
Two or more contracts entered into at or near the same time with the same customer (or related 
parties of the customer) are accounted for as a single contract if one or more of the following 
criteria are met:

a.  The contracts are negotiated as a package with a single commercial objective;
b.  The amount of consideration to be paid in one contract depends on the price or  performance
     of the other contract; 
c.  The goods or services promised in the contracts (or some goods or services promised in each
    of the contracts) are a single performance obligation.

Additions of distinct goods or services at their stand-alone sale price are treated as separate 
contracts. 

(2) Identifying performance obligations
The Group assesses the goods or services promised in the contract with the customer and 
identifies as performance obligation any promise to transfer to the customer one of the 
following: 
(a) Goods or services (or a bundle of goods or services) that are distinct; or
(b) A series of distinct goods or services that are substantially the same and have the same 
pattern of transfer to the customer.
Goods or services are identified as being distinct when the customer can benefit from the good 
or service on its own or together with other resources that are readily available to the customer 
and the Group’s promise to transfer the good or service to the customer is separately identifiable 
from other promises in the contract.  An option that grants the customer the right to purchase 
additional goods or services constitutes a separate performance obligation in the contract only if 
the options grant the customer a material right it would not have received without the original 
contract.
The performance obligations are mainly services, equipment and options to purchase additional 
goods or services that provide a material right to the customer. 
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

n.    Revenues (continued)

(3) Determining the transaction price
The transaction price is the amount of consideration that the Group expects to receive for the 
transfer of the goods or services specified in a contract with the customer, taking into account 
rebates and discounts, excluding amounts collected on behalf of third parties, such as value 
added taxes. 
The transaction price is also adjusted for the effects of the time value of money if the contract 
includes a significant financing component (such as sales of equipment with non-current credit 
arrangements, mainly in 36 monthly installments). The Group applies a practical expedient in 
the standard and does not adjust the transaction price for the effects of a significant financing 
component if, at contract inception, the Group expects the period between customer payment 
and the transfer of goods or services to be one year or less. The financing component is 
recognized in other income-net over the period which is calculated according to the effective 
interest method. See also note 23 – unwinding of trade receivables and note 7(a).

(4) Allocating the transaction price to separate performance obligations
In a transaction that constitutes a revenue arrangement with multiple performance obligations, 
the transaction price is allocated to separate performance obligations based of their relative 
stand-alone selling prices. 

A discount is allocated to one or more, but not all, performance obligations in the contract if (a) 
the Group  regularly sells each distinct good or service (or each bundle of distinct goods or 
services) in the contract on a stand-alone basis, (b) the Group  also regularly sells on a stand-
alone basis a bundle (or bundles) of some of those distinct goods or services at a discount to the 
stand-alone selling prices of the goods or services in each bundle; and (c) the discount 
attributable to each bundle in 'b' above is substantially the same as the discount in the contract 
and an analysis of the goods or services in each bundle provides observable evidence of the 
performance obligation (or performance obligations) to which the entire discount in the contract 
belongs.

(5) Satisfaction of performance obligations
The Group recognizes revenue when it satisfies performance obligations by transferring control 
over the goods or services to the customers. 

Revenues from services and from providing rights to use the Group's assets, (see note 1(b)) 
(either month-by-month or long term arrangements) are recognized over time, as the services 
are rendered to the customers, since the customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously, 
and provided that all other revenue recognition criteria are met. 

Revenue from sale of equipment (see note 1(b)) is recognized at a point of time when the 
control over the equipment is transferred to the customer (mainly upon delivery) and all other 
revenue recognition criteria are met. 
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NOTE 2 - SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

n.    Revenues (continued)

(6) Principal – Agent consideration
The Group determines whether it is acting as a principal or as an agent for each performance 
obligation. The Group is acting as a principal if it controls a promised good or service before 
they are transferred to a customer. Indicators for acting as a principal include: (1) the Group is 
primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to provide the specified good or service, (2) the 
Group has inventory risk in the specified good or service and (3) the Group has discretion in 
establishing the price for the specified good or service. On the other hand, the Group is acting as 
an agent or an intermediary, if these criteria are not met. When the Group is acting as an agent, 
revenue is recognized in the amount of any fee or commission to which the Group expects to be 
entitled in exchange for arranging for the other party to provide its goods or services. A Group’s 
fee or commission might be the net amount of consideration that the Group retains after paying 
the other party the consideration received in exchange for the goods or services to be provided 
by that party. The Group determined that it is acting as an agent in respect of certain content 
services provided by third parties to customers; therefore the revenues recognized from these 
services are presented on a net basis in the statement of income.

(7) Recognition of receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. Trade receivables are recognized when the control over the goods 
or services is transferred to the customer, and at the amount that is unconditional because only 
the passage of time is required before the payment is due. The Group holds the trade receivables 
with the objective to collect the contractual cash flows, and the contractual terms give rise to 
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest. Therefore they are subsequently 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. See also note 7 and also note 
6(a)(3) regarding trade receivables credit risk.

(8) Recognition of contract assets and contract liabilities
A contract asset is a Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the 
entity has transferred to a customer when that right is conditioned on something other than the 
passage of time (for example, the Group’s future performance). 
A contract liability is a Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which 
the entity has received consideration (or the amount is due) from the customer; therefore the 
Group records contract liabilities for payments received in advance for services, such as 
transmission services and pre-paid calling cards, as deferred revenues until such related services 
are provided. 
Contract assets and contract liabilities arising from the same contract are offset and presented as 
a single asset or liability.
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n.    Revenues (continued)

(9) Other practical expedients implemented:
The Group applies IFRS 15 practical expedient to the revenue model to a portfolio of contracts 
with similar characteristics if the Group reasonably expects that the financial statement effects 
of applying the model to the individual contracts within the portfolio would not differ 
materially.

The Group applies a practical expedient in the standard and measures progress toward 
completing satisfaction of a performance obligation and recognizes revenue based on billed 
amounts if the Group has a right to invoice a customer at an amount that corresponds directly 
with its performance to date; for which, or where the original expected duration of the contract 
is one year or less,  the Group also applies the practical expedient in the standard and does not 
disclose the transaction price allocated to unsatisfied, or partially unsatisfied, performance 
obligations, such as constrained variable consideration. 

The Group applies in certain circumstances where the customer has a material right to acquire 
future goods or services and those goods or services are similar to the original goods or services 
in the contract and are provided in accordance with the same terms of the original contract, a 
practical alternative to estimating the stand-alone selling price of the customer option, and 
instead allocates the transaction price to the optional goods or services by reference to the goods 
or services expected to be provided and the corresponding expected consideration.
 

(10) Capitalization of contract costs
The main effect of the Group’s application of IFRS 15 is the accounting treatment for the 
incremental costs of obtaining contracts with customers, which in accordance with IFRS 15, are 
recognized as assets under certain conditions, see notes 2(f)(3) and 11. Contract costs that were 
recognized as assets are presented in the statements of cash flows as part of cash flows used in 
investing activities. 

         See additional information with respect to revenues in note 22(a).
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o. Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if 
the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in 
exchange for consideration.

Group as lessee:

According to IFRS 16 Leases, the Group applies a single recognition and measurement 
approach for all leases, except for low-value assets. The Group recognizes lease liabilities to 
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the underlying 
assets.

The Group applied the following practical expedients:

Non-lease components: practical expedient by class of underlying asset not to separate non-
lease components (services) from lease components and, instead, account for each lease 
component and any associated non lease components as a single lease component.
Discount rate: The lease payments are discounted using the lessee’s incremental borrowing 
rate, since the interest rate implicit in the lease cannot be readily determined. The lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate is the rate that the lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms, security and conditions. However, the Group is using the 
practical expedient of accounting together a portfolio of leases with similar characteristics 
provided that it is reasonably expected that the effects on the financial statements of applying 
this standard to the portfolio would not differ materially from applying this Standard to the 
individual leases within that portfolio. And using a single discount rate to a portfolio of leases 
with reasonably similar characteristics (such as leases with a similar remaining lease term for a 
similar class of underlying asset in a similar economic environment). The discount rates were 
estimated by management with the assistance of an independent external expert.
Low-value leases: The low-value leases practical expedient is applied and these leases are 
recognized on a straight-line basis as expense in profit or loss.

The practical expedient for short-term leases is not applied.  
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o.    Leases (continued)

Group as lessee (continued):

Lease liabilities measurement:
At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognizes lease liabilities measured at the 
present value of lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include: 
fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, 
variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate (such as CPI), amounts expected to 
be payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees, the exercise price of a purchase 
option if the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option, payments of penalties for 
terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option, and lease 
payments (principal and interest) to be made under reasonably certain extension options.

The lease liability is subsequently measured according to the effective interest method, with 
interest costs recognized in the statement of income as incurred. The amount of lease liabilities 
is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In 
addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a 
change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments or a change in the assessment of an 
option to purchase the underlying asset. The Group is exposed to potential future changes in 
lease payments based on linkage to the CPI index, which are not included in the lease liability 
until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take 
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the right-of-use asset. 

Lease payments are presented in the statement of cash flows under the cash used in financing 
activities. Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost 
is charged to the statement of income over the lease period so as to produce a constant 
periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets measurement:
The Group recognizes right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease. Right-of-use 
assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and 
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the 
amount of lease liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made at 
or before the commencement date, estimated dismantling and restoring costs, less any lease 
incentives received.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset's useful life and the 
lease term (including reasonably certain extension periods) on a straight-line basis, and 
adjusted for any remeasurements of lease liabilities. As follows:

Buildings 2 – 15 years
Cell sites 2 – 10 years 
Vehicles 1 – 3 years
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 o.     Leases (continued)

Group as lessor:
The cellular segment and the fixed-line segment also include leasing of telecommunications, 
audio visual and related devices (see note 1(b)). Leases in which the Group does not transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as 
operating leases. Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is 
recognized in income on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The respective leased assets 
are included in the balance sheet based on their nature. See note 22(a). 

p. Tax expenses

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the 
income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other 
comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. The current income tax charge is 
calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantially enacted as of the end of the 
reporting period. Management periodically evaluates positions taken with respect to situations 
in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where 
appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognized on temporary differences arising between that tax bases of 
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However, deferred 
tax liabilities are not recognized if they arise from initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred 
income tax is determined using the tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred 
income tax is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled. Deferred income tax 
assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be 
available against which the temporary differences can be utilized. Deferred income tax assets 
are presented as non-current, see also note 25. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are 
offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against current tax 
liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on the same taxable entity where there is an intention to 
settle the balances on a net basis.
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q. Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Company's shares acquired by the Company (treasury shares) are presented as a reduction of 
equity, at the consideration paid, including any incremental attributable costs, net of tax. 
Treasury shares do not have a right to receive dividends or to vote. See also note 21(a).

r.    Earnings Per Share (EPS)

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of 
the Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year 
excluding ordinary shares purchased by the Company and held as treasury shares.
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding to assume exercise of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. The instruments 
that are potential dilutive ordinary shares are equity instruments granted to employees, see 
note 21(b). A calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been 
acquired at fair value (determined as the average annual market share price of the company's 
shares) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding share 
options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared with the number of shares that 
would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share options (see also note 27).

s.     Government grants

Government grants relating to the purchase of assets (see note 17, in respect of the frequencies 
tender) are presented in the statement of financial position as a deduction to the carrying 
amount of the asset and they are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
expected lives of the related assets.
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 (1) The following relevant new standards, amendments to standards or interpretations have been 
issued, and were effective for the first time for financial periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2021: 

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions – amendments to IFRS 16 
In May 2020, the IASB amended IFRS 16 Leases which provides lessees with an option to treat 
qualifying rent concessions in the same way as they would if they were not lease modifications. The 
expedient initially only applied to reductions in lease payments due on or before June 30, 2021, but 
that date was subsequently extended to June 30, 2022 through further amendments made in March 
2021. This resulted in accounting for concessions received in an immaterial amount as variable lease 
payments in the period in which they are granted. The expedient was applied to all qualifying rent 
concessions.

 (2)  The following new standards and amendments to standards are not effective in 2021 

Classifying liabilities as current or non-current
In January 2020, the IASB issued amendment to IAS 1 to specify the requirements for classifying 
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify: the definition of a right to defer a 
settlement, that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period, that classification is 
unaffected by the likelihood that an entity will exercise its deferral right, that only if an embedded 
derivative in a convertible liability is itself an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not 
impact its classification. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 
January 1, 2023. At this stage the Company cannot evaluate the effect of the amendment on the 
financial statements.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies
In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 1 and IFRS Practice Statement 2 Making 
Materiality Judgments, in which it provides guidance to help entities apply materiality judgments to 
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments aim to help entities provide accounting policy 
disclosures that are more useful by replacing the requirement for entities to disclose their 
‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies 
and adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about 
accounting policy disclosures. The amendments to IAS 1 are applicable for annual periods beginning 
on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application permitted. The Group is currently assessing the 
impact of the amendments to determine the impact they will have on the Group’s accounting policy 
disclosures.

Assessing contingent liabilities
In May 2020, the IASB issued amendments to IAS 37, ‘Provisions, contingent liabilities and 
contingent assets’ specify which costs a company includes when assessing whether a contract will be 
loss-making. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022. 
The amendment is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities
In May 2020, the IASB issued Amendment to IAS 12 – deferred tax related to assets and liabilities 
arising from a single transaction. These amendments require companies to recognize deferred tax on 
transactions that, on initial recognition give rise to equal amounts of taxable and deductible 
temporary differences. The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2023. The amendment is not expected to have a material effect on the financial statements.
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NOTE 4 –CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances. The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting 
accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal actual results. The estimates and assumptions that 
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year are addressed below.

(1) Assessing the useful lives of non-financial assets: 
The useful economic lives of the Group's property and equipment are an estimate 
determined by management. The Group defines useful economic life of its assets in terms 
of the assets' expected utility to the Group. This estimation is based on assumptions of 
future changes in technology or changes in the Group's intended use of these assets, 
experience of the Group with similar assets, and legal or contract periods where relevant. 
The useful economic lives of the Group's intangible assets are an estimate determined by 
management based on assumptions of future changes in technology, legal rights, experience 
of customer's behavior, and experience of the Group with similar assets where relevant. 
The assets estimated economic useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at 
least annually. See also note 2(f).

(2) Assessing the recoverable amount for impairment tests of non-financial assets : 

The Group is required to determine at the end of each reporting period whether there is any 
indication that an asset may be impaired. If indicators for impairment are identified the 
Group estimates the assets' recoverable amount, which is the higher of an asset's fair value 
less costs to sell and value in use. The value-in-use calculations require management to 
make estimates of the projected future cash flows. Determining the estimates of the future 
cash flows is based on management past experience and best estimate for the economic 
conditions that will exist over the remaining useful economic life of the Cash Generating 
Unit (CGU). See also notes 2(i) and 13. 

Trends in the economic and financial environment, competition and regulatory authorities' 
decisions, or changes in competitors’ behavior in response to the economic environment 
may affect the estimate of recoverable amounts in future periods. See also note 2(i).

Continued increases in the level of competition for cellular and fixed-line services may 
bring further downward pressure on prices which may require us to perform further 
impairment tests of our assets. Such impairment tests may lead to recording additional 
significant impairment charges, which could have a material negative impact on our 
operating and profit.  
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(3) Assessing the recoverable amount for impairment tests of goodwill:

Goodwill impairment reviews are undertaken annually or more frequently if events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's fair value less costs of disposal and value in 
use. The recoverable amount of the fixed-line segment to which goodwill has been 
allocated has been determined based on value-in-use calculations. For the purpose of the 
goodwill impairment tests as of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 the recoverable 
amount was assessed by management with the assistance of external independent experts 
(BDO Ziv Haft Consulting & Management Ltd.) based on value-in-use calculations. The 
value-in-use calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections covering a five-year period. 
Cash flows beyond the five-year period to be generated from continuing use are 
extrapolated using estimated growth rates. The terminal growth rate represents the long-
term average growth rate of the fixed-line communications services business. 

The key assumptions used in the December 31, 2021 test were as follows:

Terminal growth rate 1%
After-tax discount rate 7%
Pre-tax discount rate 8.5%

The impairment test as of December 31, 2021 was based on assessments of financial 
performance and future strategies in light of current and expected market and economic 
conditions. Trends in the economic and financial environment, competition and regulatory 
authorities' decisions, or changes in competitors’ behavior in response to the economic 
environment may affect the estimate of recoverable amounts. See also note 13(1) and note 
2(h). No impairment charges were recognized with respect to goodwill in 2019, 2020 and 
2021.

Sensitivity Analysis:

The headroom of the fixed line segment recoverable amount over the carrying amount as of 
December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 was approximately 42%, 37% and 52% respectively. 

Sensitivity analysis was performed for the recoverable amount as of December 31, 2021 for 
a change of the after-tax discount rate within the range of ± 10% multiplied by the variable 
7% (6.3% to 7.7%), assuming all other variables constant. Sensitivity analysis was also 
performed for a change of the terminal growth rate within the range of ± 1% of the variable 
1.0% (0% to 2%), assuming all other variables constant. Results showed that no impairment 
charge is required for both analyses. 
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(4)   Assessing impairment of financial assets: 

The allowance for credit losses for financial assets is based on assumptions about risk of 
default and expected loss rates. The Group uses judgment in making these assumptions and 
selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, based on the Group’s past history, existing 
market conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end of each reporting period.  
Individual receivables which are known to be uncollectable are written off by reducing the 
carrying amount directly. The other receivables are assessed collectively, grouped based on 
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due. 

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit losses associated with its 
debt instruments carried at amortized cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk.  For trade receivables and 
contract assets with and without significant financing components, the Group applies IFRS 9 
simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based 
on shared credit risk characteristics and period past due.  The expected loss rates are based 
on the payment profiles of sales, and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced. 
The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on 
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. See notes 7, 6(a)(3), 
2(j).

(5)   Considering the likelihood of contingent losses and quantifying possible legal settlements:

Provisions are recorded when a loss is considered probable and can be reasonably estimated. 
Judgment is necessary in assessing the likelihood that a pending claim or litigation against the 
Group will succeed, or a liability will arise, quantifying the best estimate of final settlement. 
These judgments are made by management with the support of internal specialists, or with the 
support of outside consultants such as legal counsel. Because of the inherent uncertainties in 
this evaluation process, actual results may be different from these estimates. See notes 2(m), 
14 and 20.
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New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31, 2021

In millions
Cellular 
segment

Fixed-line 
segment Elimination Consolidated

Segment revenue - Services 1,687 948 2,635
Inter-segment revenue - Services 12 118 (130)
Segment revenue - Equipment 602 126 728
Total revenues 2,301 1,192 (130) 3,363

Segment cost of revenues - Services 1,204 952 2,156
Inter-segment cost of  revenues- Services 117 13 (130)
Segment cost of revenues - Equipment 498 78 576
Cost of revenues 1,819 1,043 (130) 2,732
Gross profit 482 149 631

Operating expenses (1) 302 194 496
Other income, net 17 11 28
Operating profit (loss) 197 (34) 163

Reconciliation to profit for the year:
Finance costs, net (64)
Income tax income 16
Profit for the year 115

Depreciation and amortization included in 
the segment's operating profit 410 334 744

(1) Operating expenses include selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses and 
credit losses.
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NOTE 5 – SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31, 2020

In millions
Cellular 
segment

Fixed-line 
segment Elimination Consolidated

Segment revenue - Services 1,647 861 2,508
Inter-segment revenue - Services 16 132 (148)
Segment revenue - Equipment 545 136 681
Total revenues 2,208 1,129 (148) 3,189

Segment cost of revenues - Services 1,272 856 2,128
Inter-segment cost of  revenues- Services 131 17 (148)
Segment cost of revenues - Equipment 451 85 536
Cost of revenues 1,854 958 (148) 2,664
Gross profit 354 171 525

Operating expenses (1) 300 159 459
Other income, net 19 11 30
Operating profit 73 23 96

Reconciliation to profit for the year:
Finance costs, net (69)
Income tax expenses (10)
Profit for the year 17

Depreciation and amortization included in 
the segment's operating profit

450 264 714

(1) Operating expenses include selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses and 
credit losses.
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New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31, 2019

In millions
Cellular 
segment

Fixed-line 
segment Elimination Consolidated

Segment revenue - Services 1,783 777 2,560
Inter-segment revenue - Services 15 148 (163)
Segment revenue - Equipment 571 103 674
Total revenues 2,369 1,028 (163) 3,234

Segment cost of revenues - Services 1,367 810 2,177
Inter-segment cost of  revenues- Services 147 16 (163)
Segment cost of revenues - Equipment 464 66 530
Cost of revenues 1,978 892 (163) 2,707
Gross profit 391 136 527

Operating expenses (1) 334 134 468
Other income, net 20 8 28
Operating profit 77 10 87

Reconciliation to profit for the year:
Finance costs, net (68)
Income tax expense *
Profit for the year 19

Depreciation and amortization included in 
the segment's operating profit

542 209 751

*   Representing an amount of less than NIS 1 million.

(1) Operating expenses include selling and marketing expenses, general and administrative expenses and credit 
losses.



45

PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 6 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

a. Financial risk factors

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks: credit, liquidity and market risks as part of its 
normal course of business. The Group's risk management objective is to monitor risks and minimize 
the possible influence that results from this exposure, according to its evaluations and expectations of 
the parameters that affect the risks. The Group did not enter into hedging transactions in 2019, 2020 
and 2021.

1. Risk Management

Risk management is carried out by the financial division under policies and/or directions resolved 
and approved by the audit and investment committee and the board of directors.    

2. Market risks

(a) Description of market risks

Cash flow risk due to interest rate changes and CPI changes

The Group is exposed to fluctuations in the Israeli Consumer Price index (CPI) with respect to 
lease obligations, see also note 19.

Foreign exchange risk

The Group's operating profit and cash flows are exposed to currency risk, mainly due to trade 
receivables and trade payables denominated in USD. 
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NOTE 6 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

a. Financial risk factors (continued)

2. Market risks (continued)

   (a) Description of market risks (continued)

Data regarding the US Dollar and Euro exchange rate and the Israeli CPI:
Exchange Exchange 
rate of one rate of one Israeli

Dollar Euro CPI*
At December 31:
     2021 NIS 3.110 NIS 3.520 229.37 points
     2020 NIS 3.215 NIS 3.944 223.11 points
     2019 NIS 3.456 NIS 3.878 224.67 points
Increase (decrease) during the year:
     2021 (3.3)% (10.8)% 2.8%
     2020 (7.0)% 1.7% (0.7)%
     2019 (7.8)% (9.6)% 0.6%

* Index for each reporting period's last month, on the basis of 1993 average = 100 points.

Sensitivity analysis:
An increase (decrease) of 2% in the CPI as at December 31, 2020, and 2021 would have 
decreased (increased) equity and profit by NIS 2 million, for each of the years ended 
December 31, 2020 and 2021, assuming all other variables remain constant. 

An increase (decrease) of 5% in the USD exchange rate as at December 31, 2020 and 
2021 would have decreased (increased) equity and profit by NIS 3 million, for each of the 
years ended December 31, 2020 and 2021, assuming that all other variables remain 
constant. 
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NOTE 6 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

a. Financial risk factors (continued)

2. Market risks (continued)

(b) Analysis of linkage terms of financial instruments balances

December 31, 2021

In or 
linked to 

USD

In or linked to 
other foreign 

currencies 
(mainly EURO)

NIS 
unlinked

Linked to 
the CPI Total

New Israeli Shekels in millions
Current assets
   Cash and cash equivalents 2 3 303 308

Short term deposits 14 330 344
   Trade receivables** 35 3 533 571
   Other receivables 46 46

Non- current assets
   Long term deposits 280 280
   Trade receivables 245 245
Total assets 51 6 1,737 - 1,794

Current liabilities
   Current maturities of notes payable and
      borrowings 268 268
   Trade payables** 127 13 565 705
   Other payables 133 133
   Current maturities of lease liabilities * 125 125

Non- current liabilities
   Notes payable 1,224 1,224
   Borrowings from banks 184 184
   Lease liabilities 2 593 595
Total liabilities 129 13 2,374 718 3,234

* Representing an amount of less than 1 million

In or linked to foreign 
currencies

New Israeli Shekels in millions
**Accounts that were set-off under  
    enforceable netting arrangements

Trade receivables gross amounts 111
Set-off (73)
Trade receivables, net 38

Trade payables gross amounts 213
Set-off (73)
Trade payables, net 140
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NOTE 6 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

a. Financial risk factors (continued)

2. Market risks (continued)

(b) Analysis of linkage terms of financial instruments balances (continued)

December 31, 2020

In or 
linked to 

USD

In or linked to 
other foreign 

currencies 
(mainly EURO)

NIS 
unlinked

Linked to 
the CPI Total

New Israeli Shekels in millions
Current assets
   Cash and cash equivalents 2 4 370 376

Short term deposits 411 411
   Trade receivables* 29 7 524 560
   Other receivables 7 7

Non- current assets
   Long term deposits 155 155
   Trade receivables 232 232
Total assets 31 11 1,699 - 1,741

Current liabilities
   Current maturities of notes payable and
      borrowings 290 290
   Trade payables* 92 11 534 29 666
   Other payables 70 70
   Current maturities of lease liabilities 1 119 120

Non- current liabilities
   Notes payable 1,219 1,219
   Borrowings from banks 86 86

Financial liability at fair value 4 4
Other non-current liabilities 30 30

   Lease liabilities 2 580 582
Total liabilities 95 11 2,233 728 3,067

In or linked to foreign 
currencies

New Israeli Shekels in millions
*Accounts that were set-off under  
    enforceable netting arrangements

Trade receivables gross amounts 104
Set-off (68)
Trade receivables, net 36

Trade payables gross amounts 171
Set-off (68)
Trade payables, net 103
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NOTE 6 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

a. Financial risk factors (continued)

2. Market risks (continued)

(c)  Details regarding financial liability at fair value

As of December 31, 2021 there are no notional amounts of financial liability at fair value 
(see note 15(6)) with respect to Notes series G option. The following table describes the 
changes in the liability during 2020 and 2021:

New Israeli Shekels 
in millions

Balance as at January 1, 2020 28
Finance costs 3
Exercise (27)

Balance as at December 31, 2020 4
Finance costs *
Exercise (4)
Balance as at December 31, 2021 -

           *   Representing an amount of less than NIS 1 million.

3. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group's 
trade receivables, from cash and cash equivalents, short-term and long-term deposits and other 
receivables. Management has a credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk is 
monitored on an ongoing basis. The Group conducts credit evaluations on receivables of 
certain types over a certain amount, and requires collaterals against them. The impairment 
requirements are based on an expected credit loss model. Accordingly, the financial 
statements include appropriate allowances for expected credit losses. See also note 2(j)(2).

The face amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure, see note 6(c).
 

The cash and cash equivalents and short-term and long-term deposits are held in leading 
Israeli commercial banks, rated by Standard & Poor's Maalot at ilAAA/stable.
 
Deposits at December 31, 2021 are deposited with remaining maturity of 3 to 18 months and 
bear annual unlinked fixed interest of between 0.25% and 0.52%.

The trade receivables are significantly widespread, and include individuals and businesses, 
and therefore have no representing credit rating. 

See also note 7 as to the assessment by aging of the trade receivables and related allowance 
for credit losses. 
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NOTE 6 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

a. Financial risk factors (continued)

4. Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as 
they fall due. The Group's approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that 
it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, without incurring 
unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group's reputation. The Group's policy is to 
ensure that it has sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet expected operational expenses 
and financial obligations.

Maturities (undiscounted) of financial liabilities as of December 31, 2021:

2022 2023 2024 

2025
to   

2026
 2027 and 
thereafter Total 

New Israeli Shekels in millions
Principal payments of long term 

indebtedness:
Notes payable series F 128 128 128 384
Notes payable series G 85 85 85 255 341 851
Notes payable series H 60 138 198
Borrowing P 29 29
Borrowing Q 23 23 11 57
Borrowing R 45 105 150

Expected interest payments of
   long term borrowings and notes
   payables 49 44 37 57 30 217
Lease liabilities 139 120 96 151 278 784
Trade and other payables 819 819
Total 1,272 400 357 568 892 3,489

See note 15 in respect of borrowings and notes payable.

b. Capital risk management 

Credit rating: According to Standard & Poor's Maalot ("S&P Maalot") credit rating, of August 11, 
2021, the Company's ilA+/Stable credit rating was unchanged. 

See note 15(7) regarding financial covenants.
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NOTE 6 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

c. Fair values of financial instruments 
As detailed in note 2(j) the financial instruments are categorized as following:
Fair Value through Profit or Loss (FVTPL); Amortized Cost (AC). See also note 15 in respect of 
borrowings and notes payable and note 7 with respect to trade receivables.

The financial instrument that is categorized as FVTPL is a financial liability at fair value. Its fair value is 
calculated by discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract 
and using forward rates for a similar instrument at the measurement date. All significant inputs in this 
technique are observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates, see also 
note 6(a)(2)(c). 

There were no transfers between fair value levels during the year. 

Carrying amounts and fair values of financial assets and liabilities, and their categories:
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021

Category
Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Interest 
rate  used 

(**) 
Carrying 
amount

Fair 
value

Interest 
rate used 

(**) 
New Israeli Shekels in millions

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents AC 376 376 308 308
Short term deposits AC 411 411 344 344
Long term deposits (***) 155 155 0.46% 280 280 0.49%
Trade receivables AC 792 794 3.60% 816 818 3.13%
Other receivables (*) AC 7 7 48 48
Other non-current assets (*) 10 10
Liabilities
Notes payable series D AC 109 110 Market quote

Notes payable series F AC 512 524 Market quote 384 392 Market quote

Notes payable series G AC 824 939 Market quote 851 952 Market quote

Notes payable series H AC 198 199 Market quote

Financial liability at fair value FVTPL
Level 3 4 4

Other non-current liabilities (*) AC 30 30
Trade and other payables (*) AC 719 719 819 819
Borrowing P AC 59 60 0.84% 29 30 0.41%
Borrowing Q AC 79 82 0.93% 57 58 0.65%
Borrowing R AC 150 150 2.55%
Lease liabilities AC 702 702 2.04% 720 709 2.07%

 (*) The fair value of these financial instruments equals their carrying amounts, as the impact of discounting is 
not significant.

(**)  The fair values of the notes payable quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period are within level 
1 of the fair value hierarchy. The fair values of other instruments under AC categories were calculated 
based on observable weighted average of interest rates derived from quoted market prices of the Group's 
notes payable and bank quotes of rates of similar terms and nature, are within level 2 of the fair value 
hierarchy. 

(***) At December 31, 2021, long-term deposits are deposited for periods ending in March 2023 and June
          2023. 



52

PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 7 – TRADE RECEIVABLES
 

(a) Composition:

New Israeli Shekels
December 31,

2020 2021
In millions

Trade (current and non-current) 963 965
Deferred interest income (note 2(n)) (23) (21)
Allowance for credit loss (148) (128)

792 816
Current 560 571
Non – current 232 245

Non-current trade receivables bear no interest. These balances are in respect of equipment 
sold in installments (13-36 monthly payments (mainly 36)). The amount is computed on the 
basis of the interest rate relevant at the date of the transaction (2020: 2.97% - 5.07%) (2021: 
2.68% - 3.85%).

See also note 2(j). 
  

(b) Impairment of financial assets:

The changes in the allowance for credit losses for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 
and 2021 are as follows:

New Israeli Shekels
Year ended

2019 2020 2021
In millions

Balance at beginning of year 188 162 148
Receivables written-off during the year as
    uncollectible (44) (37) (29)
Credit losses 18 23 9
Balance at end of year 162 148 128

See note 6(a)(3) regarding trade receivables credit risk.

The estimate for expected credit losses from customers was considered using forward-
looking information (including macro-economic information). Forward-looking information 
included additional downside scenarios related to the spread of COVID-19: considering 
increased risk of credit to customers in certain industries most harmed by the slowdown. A 
general increased provision was recorded in respect of the population as a whole, and a 
second provision was recorded in the amount of the expected loss based on an average of the 
impact of the different scenarios assumed. As a result the company increased its provision 
for expected credit losses in an immaterial amount. 
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NOTE 7 – TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(b) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

The aging of gross trade receivables and their respective allowance for credit losses as at 
December 31, 2020 and 2021 were as follows:

New Israeli Shekels New Israeli Shekels
December 31, 2020 December 31, 2021

In millions In millions
Average 

expected loss 
rate Gross Allowance

Average 
expected loss 

rate Gross Allowance

Not passed due 5% 831 45 5% 861 46

Less than one year 59% 60 36 62% 53 33

More than one year 94% 72 67 96% 51 49
963 148 965 128

NOTE 8 – INVENTORY

New Israeli Shekels
December 31,

2020 2021
In millions

Handsets and devices 36 36
Accessories and other 9 13
Spare parts 20 22
ISP modems, routers, servers and related equipment 12 16

77 87

Write-downs recorded 7 5
Cost of inventory recognized as expenses and included 

in cost of revenues for the year ended 544 581

Cost of inventory used as fixed assets 8 33
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NOTE 9 – INVESTMENT IN PHI

Network sharing agreement 

On November 8, 2013 the Company and Hot Mobile Ltd. ("Hot Mobile") (together: "the Parties") entered into 
a 15-year network sharing agreement (“NSA”), which was approved by the Antitrust Commissioner , subject 
to certain conditions, and by the Ministry of Communications. Pursuant to the NSA, the Parties created a 50-
50 limited partnership - P.H.I. Networks (2015) Limited Partnership (hereinafter "PHI"), which operates and 
develops a radio access network shared by the Parties, starting with a pooling of the Parties radio access 
network infrastructures creating a single shared pooled radio access network (the "Shared Network"). The 
Parties also established a 50-50 company limited by shares under the name Net 4 P.H.I Ltd., to be the general 
partner of the limited partnership. 

In February 2016, HOT Mobile exercised its option under the NSA to advance the payment date of a onetime 
amount of NIS 250 million ("Lump Sum"), which was received by the Group in 2016. Therefore in accordance 
the NSA from April 2016 onward (i) each party bears half of the expenditures relating to the Shared Network, 
and (ii) the bearing of the operating costs of the Shared Network is according to a pre-determined mechanism, 
according to which one half of the operating costs is shared equally by the Parties, and one half is divided 
between the Parties according to the relative volume of traffic consumption of each party in the Shared 
Network (the "Capex-Opex Mechanism"). The Lump Sum is treated by the Group as payments for rights of 
use of the Group's network and therefore recognized as deferred revenue which is amortized to revenues in the 
income statement over a period of eight years, which is determined to be the shorter of the expected period of 
the arrangement or the expected life of the related assets, see note 22(a). 

The NSA term will be automatically extended for consecutive terms of five years each, unless either party 
provided the other party with prior notice of at least two years prior to the commencement of the respective 
extended term. At any time after the eighth anniversary of the NSA's effective date (i.e. following April  
2023), either party may provide the other party with two years termination notice, and terminate the NSA, 
without cause, effective as of the end of the said two-year period. On the expiry of the NSA, other than 
following a material breach, the Parties shall divide the network between themselves according to a 
mechanism provided by the NSA, based on the Parties then-respective interests in PHI, with priority that each 
party shall first receive its own assets.
The Company provided a guarantee to PHI's debt in an amount of NIS 50 million.

See also note 2(c)(2).
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NOTE 10 – PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT   

Communication 
network

Computers and 
information 

systems

Optic fibers 
and related 

assets

Subscribers 
equipment 

and 
installations

Property, leasehold 
improvements, 
furniture and 

equipment  Total 
New Israeli Shekels in millions

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2019 1,619 148 715 280 123 2,885
Share in PHI P&E included as of 
Jan 1, 2019 171 2 173
Additions in 2019 91 3 146 172 6 418
Disposals in 2019 193 12 1 8 7 221
Balance at December 31, 2019 1,688 141 860 444 122 3,255

Additions in 2020 83 7 168 138 5 401
Disposals in 2020 418 72 9 30 27 556
Balance at December 31, 2020 1,353 76 1,019 552 100 3,100

Additions in 2021 79 26 259 151 11 526
Disposals in 2021 285 17 38 19 359
Balance at December 31, 2021 1,147 85 1,278 665 92 3,267
 

Accumulated depreciation
Balance at January 1, 2019 1,116 104 281 94 79 1,674
 

Share in PHI P&E included as of 
Jan 1, 2019 33 1 34
Depreciation in 2019 170 13 45 99 9 336
Disposals in 2019 192 11 1 8 7 219
Balance at December 31, 2019 1,127 107 325 185 81 1,825

Depreciation in 2020 147 11 55 117 8 338
Disposals in 2020 421 71 10 28 28 558
Balance at December 31, 2020 853 47 370 274 61 1,605

Depreciation in 2021 129 12 75 151 9 376
Disposals in 2021 285 17 37 19 358
Balance at December 31, 2021 697 42 445 388 51 1,623
 

Carrying amounts, net
 

At December 31, 2019 561 34 535 259 41 1,430

At December 31, 2020 500 29 649 278 39 1,495

At December 31, 2021 450 43 833 277 41 1,644

For depreciation and amortization presentation in the statement of income see note 22.

New Israeli Shekels in millions
Year ended December 31

2019 2020 2021
Cost additions include capitalization of salary and employee related 

expenses 39 41 50
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 Intangible assets with finite economic useful lives:

Licenses

Costs of 
obtaining 
contracts 

with 
customers

Customer 
relationships 

and other
Computer 
software(1) Total

New Israeli Shekels in millions
Cost
At  January 1, 2019 2,123 175 279 492 3,069
Share in PHI's accounts  included 
as of Jan 1, 2019 5 5
Additions in 2019 95 6 59 160
Disposals in 2019 61 61
At  December 31, 2019 2,123 270 285 495 3,173
Additions in 2020 30 115 49 194
Disposals in 2020 137 137
At  December 31, 2020 2,153 385 285 407 3,230
Additions in 2021 99 55 154
Disposals in 2021 3 277 82 362
At  December 31, 2021 2,150 484 8 380 3,022
     

Accumulated amortization 
At  January 1, 2019 1,852 62 273 265 2,452
Share in PHI's accounts  included 
as of Jan 1, 2019 2 2
Amortization in 2019 73 79 2 87 241
Disposals in 2019 60 60
At December 31, 2019 1,925 141 275 294 2,635
Amortization in 2020 27 97 3 84 211
Disposals in 2020 137 137
At December 31, 2020 1,952 238 278 241 2,709
Amortization in 2021 18 103 1 81 203
Disposals in 2021 3 277 82 362
At December 31, 2021 1,967 341 2 240 2,550
     

Carrying amounts, net

At December 31, 2019 198 129 10 201 538
At December 31, 2020 201 147 7 166 521
At December 31, 2021 183 143 6 140 472

New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31

2019 2020 2021
In millions

(1) Cost additions include capitalization of salary and employee 
related expenses 57 44 41

See notes 2(f)(1) and 4(1) with respect to change in accounting estimate of the useful life of the cellular license.
For depreciation and amortization in the statement of income see note 22.
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NOTE 12 – DEFERRED EXPENSES – RIGHT OF USE

New Israeli Shekels 
in millions

Cost
Balance at January 1, 2019 736
Share in PHI's accounts included as of Jan 1, 2019 (169)
Additional payments in 2019 51
Balance at December 31, 2019 618
Additional payments in 2020 47
Balance at December 31, 2020 665
Additional payments in 2021 56
Balance at December 31, 2021 721

Accumulated amortization and impairment
Balance at January 1, 2019 500
Share in PHI's accounts  included as of Jan 1, 2019 (38)
Amortization in 2019 28
Balance at December 31, 2019 490
Amortization in 2020 31
Balance at December 31, 2020 521
Amortization in 2021 31
Balance at December 31, 2021 552

Carrying amount, net at December 31, 2019 128

Carrying amount, net at December 31, 2020 144
       Current 26
       Non-current 118

Carrying amount, net at December 31, 2021 169
       Current 27
       Non-current 142

The amortization and impairment charges are charged to cost of revenues in the statement of 
income. See also note 2(g) and note 17(4). 
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NOTE 13 – IMPAIRMENT TESTS 

(1) Annual goodwill impairment tests in the fixed-line segment

Goodwill in the fixed-line segment is allocated to a single group of CGUs which constitute 
all the operations of the fixed-line segment, in an amount of NIS 407 million.

For the purpose of the goodwill impairment tests in the fixed-line segment as of December 
31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 the recoverable amount was assessed by management with the 
assistance of an external independent expert (BDO Ziv Haft Consulting & Management 
Ltd.) based on value-in-use calculations. The value-in-use calculations use pre-tax cash flow 
projections covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period to be 
generated from continuing use are extrapolated using estimated growth rates. The terminal 
growth rate represents the long-term average growth rate of the fixed-line communications 
services business. The key assumptions used are as follows:

As of December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Terminal growth rate 1.0% 1.0% 1.0%
After-tax discount rate 8.0% 7.5% 7.0%
Pre-tax discount rate 9.6% 9.0% 8.5%

The impairment tests in the fixed-line segment as of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 
were based on assessments of financial performance and future strategies in light of current 
and expected market and economic conditions. Trends in the economic and financial 
environment, competition and regulatory authorities' decisions, or changes in competitors’ 
behavior in response to the economic environment may affect the estimate of recoverable 
amounts. As a result of the impairment tests, the Group determined that no goodwill 
impairment existed as of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021. See also note 4(3) and note 
2(h).

(2) Interim impairment tests of non-financial assets in 2020

The economic slowdown in the markets triggered in March 2020 the identification of 
indicators for impairment of non-financial assets. In particular, the significant fall in the 
volume of international travel by the Company's customers has caused a significant decrease 
in revenues from roaming services, which affected the cellular segment. In addition, the 
temporary closures of shopping malls and changes in general consumer behavior adversely 
affected the volume of sales of equipment, which affected the cellular and the fixed-line 
segments. 

The Company tested the recoverable amount of the fixed line segment as of March 31, 2020, 
based on value-in-use calculations. The recoverable amount was assessed by management 
with the assistance of an external independent expert (BDO Ziv Haft Consulting & 
Management Ltd.). The value-in-use calculations use pre-tax cash flow projections covering 
a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the five-year period to be generated from continuing 
use are extrapolated using estimated growth rates. The terminal growth rate represents the 
long-term average growth rate of the fixed-line communications services business. The key 
assumptions used are as follows:

March 31, 2020
Terminal growth rate 1.0%
After-tax discount rate 8.25%
Pre-tax discount rate 9.9%
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As a result of the impairment test, the Group determined that no impairment existed as of 
March 31, 2020.
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NOTE 13 – IMPAIRMENT TESTS (continued)

(2)   Interim impairment tests of non-financial assets (continued)

The Company tested as of March 2020 the impairment of the cellular segment assets with 
the assistance of an external independent expert (BDO Ziv Haft Consulting & Management 
Ltd.), using a reasonable approximation of its fair value less costs of selling as its 
recoverable amount, and determined that no impairment was required. 

(3) Impairment of certain fixed-line assets in the third quarter of 2021
In addition, the Company recorded, in the third quarter of 2021, a provision for an 
impairment of fixed-line assets in an amount of NIS 10 million, following a business change 
in TV services which the Company estimated would likely lead to the churn of certain fixed-
line service subscribers.

NOTE 14 – OTHER RECEIVABLES AND LIABILITIES 

New Israeli Shekels
December 31,  

2020 2021
In millions

Other receivables and prepaid expenses - current
Prepaid expenses 38 103
Grant receivable with respect to frequencies tender 36
Other current receivables 8 13

46 152

Deferred revenues and other
Deferred revenues from Hot mobile – current and non-current 102 70
Deferred revenues  – current 56 58
Other – current 44 50

202 178
The reduction in deferred revenues was mainly due to revenue recognized.

Other payables and provisions - current
Provisions (mainly legal claims) 13 22
Income tax payable and institutions 39 15
Payables in respect of employees 58 99
Interest payable 17 18
Liability for frequencies 31

127 185
Liabilities and provisions – non-current

Non-current provisions for dismantling and restoring sites 
obligation 21 22

Other non-current liabilities 13 13
Liability for frequencies 30

64 35
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NOTE 15 –BORROWINGS AND NOTES PAYABLE
 

(1) Borrowings and Notes Payable

The Group's long term debt as of December 31, 2021 consists of borrowings from leading Israeli 
commercial banks and notes payable. The Group may, at its discretion, execute an early repayment of 
the borrowings, subject to certain conditions, including that the Group shall reimburse the lender for 
losses sustained by it as a result of the early repayment. The reimbursement is mainly based on the 
difference between the interest rate that the Group would otherwise pay and the current market 
interest rate on the early repayment date.

The notes payable are unsecured, non-convertible and listed for trade on the TASE. 
The notes payable have been rated ilA+, on a local scale, by Standard & Poor’s Maalot. 

Composition as of December 31, 2021:
Reference to notes Annual interest rate

Notes payable series F 15(3) and 15(5) 2.16% fixed 
Notes payable series G 15(2) and 15(6) 4% fixed 
Notes payable series H 15(2) 2.08% fixed
Borrowing P (received in 2017) 2.38% fixed
Borrowing Q (received in 2017) 2.5% fixed
Borrowing R (received in 2021) 15(4) 2.55% fixed

See note 6(a)(4) as to the balances and maturities of the borrowings and the notes payable.
See note 6(c) as to the fair value of the borrowings and the notes payable.
See note 15(7) regarding financial covenants.

As of December 31, 2021, and 2020 PHI had a short term credit facility with a leading Israeli 
commercial bank in the amount of NIS 100 million. The Group's share in this facility is 50%. The 
facility is restricted for use by PHI only. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020 no funds were drawn 
from this facility.
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NOTE 15 –BORROWINGS AND NOTES PAYABLE (continued)
 
(1) Borrowings and Notes Payable (continued):

The following table details the changes in financial liabilities, including cash flows from financing 
activities:

Movements in 2021
Non cash movements

As at 
December 31, 

2020

Cash flows 
used in 

financing 
activities, net

CPI adjustments 
and other 

Against 
lease ROU 

asset

As at 
December 
31, 2021

New Israeli Shekels in millions
Non-current borrowings* 138 98 236
Notes payable* 1,457 (17) 1,440
Financial liability at fair value 4 (4)
Interest payable 17 (48) 49 18
Lease liability 702 (148) 18 148 720

2,318 (115) 63 148 2,414

*   Including current maturities.

Movements in 2020
Non cash movements

As at 
December 31, 

2019

Cash flows 
used in 

financing 
activities, net

CPI adjustments 
and other 

Against 
lease ROU 

asset

As at 
December 
31, 2020

New Israeli Shekels in millions
Non-current borrowings* 191 (52) (1) 138
Notes payable* 1,589 (154) 22 1,457
Financial liability at fair value 28 (24) 4
Interest payable 8 (49) 58 17
Lease liability 617 (147) 18 214 702

2,433 (402) 73 214 2,318

*   Including current maturities.
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(2) Notes payable issuance

In January 2019, the Company issued a new Series G Notes, in a principal amount of NIS 225 
million, payable as follows: 4 annual installments of NIS 22.5 million each, payable in June of 
each of the years 2022 through 2025, NIS 45 million payable in June 2026 and NIS 90 million 
payable in June 2027. The principal bears fixed annual interest of 4%, payable annually on 
June 25 of each year.

In July 2020, the Company issued in a private placement additional Series G Notes in a 
principal amount of NIS 300 million, under the same conditions of the original series.

In December 2021, the Company issued Series H Notes, in a principal amount of NIS 198.4 
million, payable as follows: 5 annual installments, NIS 39.7 million payable in June 2025, NIS 
19.8 million payable in June 2026, NIS 39.7 million payable in June of each of the years 2028 
through 2029 and NIS 59.5 million payable in June 2030. The principal bears fixed annual 
interest of 2.08%, payable annually on June 25 of each year.
 
Regarding exercise of option warrants which are exercisable for Series G Notes see note 
15(6).

(3) Early redemption of Notes payable

In July 2020, the Company executed a partial early redemption of Series F Notes in a total 
principal amount of NIS 305 million. The total amount paid was NIS 313 million. The early 
redemption resulted in additional finance costs of NIS 7 million.

(4) New borrowings received

Borrowing R: In December 2021, the Company received a long-term loan from a commercial 
bank in the principal amount of NIS 150 million. The borrowing bears unlinked interest at the 
rate of 2.55% per annum and will be paid in 5 annual installments, NIS 30 million payable in 
June 2025, NIS 15 million payable in June 2026, NIS 30 million payable in June of each of the 
years 2028 through 2029 and NIS 45 million payable in June 2030. The principal bears fixed 
annual interest payable on June 30 and December 31 of each year.

(5) Notes payable issuance commitments 

According to agreements the Company entered into in December 2017 and January 2018, the 
Company issued in December 2019, in a framework of a private placement, an aggregate 
principal amount of NIS 226.75 million of additional Series F Notes to certain Israeli 
institutional investors.

(6) Private placement of option warrants

In April 2019, the Company issued in a private placement two series of untradeable option 
warrants that were exercisable for the Company's Series G Notes. The exercise period of the 
first series was between July 1, 2019 and May 31, 2020 and of the second series was between 
July 1, 2020 and May 31, 2021. The exercise price was NIS 88 for each Series G notes 
principal amount of NIS 100. The Series G Notes that were allotted upon the exercise of an 
option warrant were identical in all their rights to the Company's Series G Notes immediately 
upon their allotment, and are entitled to any payment of interest or other benefit, the effective 
date of which is due after the allotment date. 
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(6) Private placement of option warrants (continued)

The Notes that were allotted as a result of the exercise of option warrants were registered on 
the TASE. The total amount received in 2019 by the Company for both series on the allotment 
date of the option warrants was NIS 37 million. 

In 2019, 2020 and 2021, following partial exercises of option warrants which are exercisable 
for Series G Notes, the Company issued Series G Notes in a total principal amount of NIS 125 
million, NIS 174.3 million and NIS 26.5 million, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2021 no option warrants are outstanding.

(7) Financial covenants

Regarding Series F Notes, Series G Notes, Series H Notes and borrowing P, borrowing Q and 
borrowing R the Company is required to comply with a financial covenant that the ratio of 
Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA shall not exceed 5. Compliance will be examined and 
reported on a quarterly basis. For the purpose of the covenant, Adjusted EBITDA is 
calculated as the sum total for the last 12 month period, excluding adjustable one-time items. 
As of December 31, 2021, the ratio of Net Debt to Adjusted EBITDA was 0.8. 

Additional stipulations mainly include: 
Shareholders' equity shall not decrease below NIS 400 million and no dividends will be 
declared if shareholders' equity will be below NIS 650 million regarding Series F notes, 
borrowing P and borrowing Q. Shareholders' equity shall not decrease below NIS 600 million 
and no dividends will be declared if shareholders' equity will be below NIS 750 million 
regarding Series G notes and borrowing R. Shareholders' equity shall not decrease below NIS 
700 million and no dividends will be declared if shareholders' equity will be below NIS 850 
million regarding Series H notes.
The Company shall not create floating liens subject to certain terms. The Company has the 
right for early redemption under certain conditions. With respect to notes payable series F, 
series G and series H: the Company shall pay additional annual interest of 0.5% in the case of 
a two- notch downgrade in the Notes rating and an additional annual interest of 0.25% for 
each further single-notch downgrade, up to a maximum additional interest of 1%; the 
Company shall pay additional annual interest of 0.25% during a period in which there is a 
breach of the financial covenant; debt rating will not decrease below BBB- for a certain 
period. In any case, the total maximum additional interest for Series F, Series G and Series H, 
shall not exceed 1.25%, 1% or 1.25%, respectively.

The Group was in compliance with the financial covenant and the additional stipulations for 
the year 2021.
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Israeli labor laws and agreements require payment of severance pay upon dismissal of an employee 
or upon termination of employment in certain other circumstances. See also note 2(k).

 (1) Defined contribution plan
The Group had contributed NIS 23 million, NIS 25 million and NIS 24 million for the years 
2019, 2020 and 2021 respectively, in accordance with Section 14 of the Israeli Severance Pay 
Law. See also note 2(k)(i)(1). 

 (2) Defined benefit plan
Liability for employee rights upon retirement, net is presented as non-current liability.
The amounts recognized in the statement of financial position, in respect of a defined benefit 
plan (see note 2(k)(i)(2)) and changes during the year in the obligation recognized for post-
employment defined benefit plans were as follows:

New Israeli Shekels in millions
Present value 
of obligation 

Fair value of 
plan assets Total

At January 1, 2020 150 (107) 43
Current service cost 10 10
Interest expense (income) 4 (2) 2
Employer contributions (8) (8)
Benefits paid (8) 4 (4)
Remeasurements:

Experience changes (2) (2)
Return on plan assets 1 1

At December 31, 2020 154 (112) 42
Current service cost 14 14
Interest expense (income) 3 (2) 1
Employer contributions (8) (8)
Benefits paid (16) 10 (6)
Remeasurements:

Experience changes 8 8
Return on plan assets (16) (16)

At December 31, 2021 163 (128) 35

Remeasurements are recognized in the statement of comprehensive income.

The expected contribution to the defined benefit plan during the year ending December 31, 2022 is 
approximately NIS 7 million.
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(2) Defined benefit plan (continued)

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

December 31
2020 2021

Interest rate weighted average 2.12% 3.21%
Inflation rate weighted average 0.97% 2.41%
Expected turnover rate 9%-56% 9%-70%
Future salary increases 1%-6% 1%-6%

The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in the principal assumptions is: 

December 31, 2021
NIS in millions

Increase of 
10% of the 
assumption

Decrease of 
10% of the 
assumption

Interest rate  (0.3) 0.5
Expected turnover rate 0.1 (0.2)
Future salary increases 0.4 (0.4)

The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. 
When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant actuarial assumptions the same 
method has been applied as when calculating the pension liability recognized within the statement of financial 
position. The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change 
compared to the previous period.

The defined benefit plan exposes the Group to a number of risks, the most significant are asset volatility, and a 
risk that salary increases will be higher than expected in the actuarial calculations. The assets are invested in 
provident funds, managed by managing companies and are subject to laws and regulations, and supervision 
(including investment portfolio) of the Capital Markets, Insurance and Saving Division of the Israeli Ministry 
of Finance. 

Expected maturity analysis of undiscounted defined benefits as at December 31, 2021:

  NIS in millions
 2022 25
 2023 19
 2024 16
 2025 and 2026 19
 2027 and thereafter 96

175
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(1) Results of Frequencies Tender and frequency fees

In August 2020, the Ministry of Communications ("MoC") informed the Company of the 
results of the frequencies tender published by the MoC and the award of 10 MHz in the 700 
MHz frequency band, 20 MHz in the 2600 MHz frequency band and 100 MHz in the 3500 
MHz frequency band to the Company and HOT Mobile Ltd. ("HOT Mobile"), at a total price 
of NIS 62.38 million which shall be paid equally by the Company and HOT Mobile in 
September 2022. The frequencies were received in September 2020, and as a result, the 
Company recognized in 2020 an intangible asset at a discounted amount of NIS 30 million 
against other non-current liabilities. As of December 31, 2021 the liability is presented in 
current liabilities.

The tender documents entitled the Company to a grant of NIS 37 million for deployment of its 
5G network, subject to the approval of the MoC. In October 2021 the Company received a 
letter from the MOC confirming that the Company has met the criteria entitling it to the grant. 
The grant shall be received in accordance with the schedule set out in the license and after the 
Company has paid the 5G license fee, expected in 2022. Since the MOC has confirmed 
entitlement to the grant and the reception of the grant is subject only to the Company's 
payment of the 5G license fee, which is under the Company's control, the grant was 
recognized in its entirety under current receivables against a reduction in property and 
equipment in its present value amount of NIS 36 million.

Under the Telegraph Regulations the Company is committed to pay an annual fixed fee for 
each frequency used. Following the above mentioned tender completion, the Telegraph 
Regulations were amended, reducing the frequency fees for existing frequencies, subject to 
certain conditions, and establishing fees for the new frequencies received. Under the above 
Regulations should the Company choose to return a frequency, such payment would no longer 
due.

For the years 2019, 2020 and 2021 the Company recorded frequency fee expenses in a total 
amount of approximately NIS 79 million, NIS 75 million and NIS 66 million, respectively. 
The total amount of frequency fees of both the Company and Hot Mobile under the 
regulations are divided between the Company and Hot Mobile, through PHI ,according to the 
OPEX-CAPEX mechanism (see also note 9).

(2) At December 31, 2021, the Group is committed to acquire property and equipment and 
software elements for approximately NIS 117 million. 

(3) The Company entered into a non-exclusive agreement with Apple Distribution International, 
effective April 1, 2021, for the purchase and resale of iPhone handsets in Israel and the 
purchase of a minimum quantity of iPhone handsets per year, for a period of three years at 
market prices. The Company also ordered inventories from other suppliers. In total, at 
December 31, 2021, the Group is committed to acquire inventories in an amount of 
approximately NIS 458 million over 3 years.
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(4) Right of Use (ROU)

The Group signed long-term agreements with service providers to receive indefeasible Rights 
of Use (ROU) of international capacities through submarine infrastructures (see note 12), most 
extendable until 2030. As of December 31, 2021, the Group is committed to pay for capacities 
over the following years an amount of NIS 84 million (excluding maintenance fees) as 
follows:

New Israeli 
Shekels in millions

2022 60
2023 11
2024 11
2025 2

84

In addition, under the terms of the ROU agreements, as of December 31, 2021 the Group is 
committed to pay annual maintenance fees during the usage period. The total aggregated 
expected maintenance fee for the years 2022 to 2023 is approximately NIS 7 million. Some 
payments under the ROU agreements are linked to the USD.

(5) Liens and guarantees

As of December 31, 2021, the Group has provided bank guarantees in respect of licenses (see 
note 1(c)) in an amount of approximately NIS 30 million, in addition to bank guarantees in 
favor of other parties in an aggregate amount of approximately NIS 24 million. Therefore, the 
total bank guarantees provided by the Group as of December 31, 2021 is NIS 54 million. In 
addition, the Company provided a guarantee to PHI's credit facility in an amount of NIS 50 
million. PHI's credit facility is not used as at December 31, 2021 (see also notes 9 and 15). 

(6) Fiber optics infrastructure

The Company signed an agreement in January 2022 to deploy additional fiber-optic 
infrastructure within Israel to provide to an international telecommunications operator with 
connections and data transfer services between the Far East/Gulf countries and Europe. 

(7) Covenants and negative pledge – see note 15(7).

(8) See note 9 with respect to network sharing and PHI's commitments.

NOTE 18 –COOPERATION AGREEMENT

On November 14, 2021, PHI, entered into a framework agreement with Pelephone Communications 
Ltd. and Cellcom Israel Ltd, to expand the cooperation between the parties in the field of passive 
infrastructure sharing for cellular sites, which will allow for the unification of existing and new 
passive infrastructures for cellular sites. A pre-condition for the agreement to enter into force is the 
receipt of the approvals required by law. There is no certainty that such approvals will be received.
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The Group leases the following assets (as a lessee) (see also notes 2(o) and 3):  

(1) Buildings: The Group leases its headquarter facilities in Rosh Ha-ayin, Israel, with a total of 
approximately 51,177 gross square meters (including parking lots). The lease term was extended in 
October 2020 to end on December 31, 2029 and the Company expects to exercise its option to extend it 
until December 31, 2034. The rental payments are linked to the Israeli CPI. 
The Group also leases call centers, retail stores and service centers. The leases for each site have different 
lengths and specific terms. The lease agreements are for periods of two to ten years. The Group has 
options to extend some lease contract periods for up to twenty years (including the original lease periods). 
Substantially all of the rental payments are linked to the Israeli CPI and a few are linked to the dollar. 
Some of the extension options include an increase of the lease payment in a range of 2%-10%.
 

(2) Cell sites: Lease agreements in respect of cell sites and switching stations throughout Israel are for 
periods of two to ten years. The Company has an option to extend some of the lease contract periods for 
up to ten years (including the original lease periods). Substantially all of the rental payments are linked to 
the Israeli CPI and a few are linked to the dollar. Some of the extension options include an increase of the 
lease payment mostly in a range of 2%-10%. Most of cell sites were assigned to PHI.

(3) Vehicles: The Group leases vehicles for periods of up to three years. The rental payments are 
linked to the Israeli CPI. 

The extension options are negotiated by management to provide flexibility in managing the leased asset 
portfolio and align with the Group's business needs. Management exercised judgment and generally 
determined that the extension options are reasonably certain to be exercised. Generally, the Group's 
obligations under its leases are secured by the lessor's title to the leased assets. Set out below are the carrying 
amounts of right of use assets and lease liabilities recognized and the movements during the year:

New Israeli Shekels in millions
Lease right of use asset Lease liability

Buildings Cell sites Vehicles
Balance as at January 1, 2020 222 330 30 617
Amortization charges (38) (71) (25)
Accretion of interest 18
Non-cash movements 114 65 36 214
Lease payments (principal) cash outflow (129)
Lease payments (interest) cash outflow (18)
Balance as at December 31, 2020 298 324 41 702
Amortization charges (37) (68) (29)
Accretion of interest 18
Non-cash movements 52 63 35 148
Lease payments (principal) cash outflow (130)
Lease payments (interest) cash outflow (18)
Balance as at December 31, 2021 313 319 47 720
      Current 125
      Non-Current 313 319 47 595

Balance as at December 31, 2020 298 324 41 702
      Current 120
      Non-Current 298 324 41 582

See note 6(a)(4) for maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liability.
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A. Claims

Total provision recorded in the financial statements in respect of all lawsuits against the Group 
amounted to NIS 20 million at December 31, 2021. Provisions regarding the claims below were 
recognized when appropriate according to the Company's accounting policy (see note 2(m)(1)).

Described below are the main litigation and claims against the Group:

1. Consumer claims 

This category includes class actions and motions for the recognition of these lawsuits as class 
actions with respect to, among others, alleged claims regarding charges and claims regarding 
alleged breach of the Consumer Protection Law, the Privacy Protection Law, the 
Communications Law (Telecommunications and Broadcasting), license provisions, other legal 
provisions and engagement agreements with customers.

Described hereunder are the outstanding consumer class actions and motions for the 
recognition of these lawsuits as class actions, detailed according to the amount claimed, as of 
the date of approval of these financial statements:

Claim amount 
Number of 
claims

Total claims amount 
(NIS million)

Up to NIS 100 million 14 315
NIS 101 - 400 million 5 937
NIS 401 million - NIS 1 billion 1 1,000
Unquantified claims 11 -
Total 31 2,252

With respect to five claims mentioned above, the court approved these claims as class actions 
as follows:

1. On November 12, 2015, a claim and a motion to certify the claim as a class action were filed 
against Partner. The claim alleges that Partner required their customers to purchase a Smartbox 
device which is terminal equipment as a condition for using its fixed-line telephony services, an 
action which would not be in accordance with the provisions of its licenses. The total amount 
claimed against Partner is estimated by the plaintiff to be approximately NIS 116 million. In 
February 2019, the Court approved the request to certify the claim as a class action with certain 
changes. In March 2019, Partner filed an appeal of this decision. In February 2020, the Supreme 
Court dismissed the appeal request that was filed and the claim was reverted back to the District 
Court and the proceedings have resumed. Partner estimates that the claim will not have a 
material effect on the Company's financial statements.

2. On November 12, 2015, a claim and a motion to certify the claim as a class action were filed 
against 012 Smile. The claim alleges that 012 Smile required their customers to purchase a 
Smartbox device which is terminal equipment as a condition for using its fixed-line telephony 
services, an action which would not be in accordance with the provisions of its licenses. The 
total amount claimed against 012 Smile is estimated by the plaintiff to be approximately NIS 64 
million. In February 2019, the Court approved the request to certify the claim as a class action 
with certain changes. In March 2019, the Company filed an appeal of this decision. In February 
2020, the Supreme Court dismissed the appeal request that was filed and the claim was reverted 
back to the District Court and the proceedings have resumed. The Company estimates that the 
claim will not have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.
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  NOTE 20 – LAWSUITS AND LITIGATIONS (continued)

A. Claims (continued)

1. Consumer claims (continued)

3. On April 21, 2016, a claim and a motion to certify the claim as a class action were filed against 
012 Smile. The claim alleges that the infrastructure included in the 012 Smile's plans does not 
support data speeds that the Company publishes to its customers. The total amount claimed 
against the Company if the lawsuit is certified as a class action was not stated by the plaintiffs. 
In January 2021, the Court approved the motion and recognized the lawsuit as a class action. 
The Company estimates that the claim will not have a material effect on the Company's 
financial statements.

4. On November 13, 2017, a claim and a motion to certify the claim as a class action were filed 
against 012 Smile (initially the motion was filed against Partner and 012 Smile). The claim 
alleges that Partner and 012 Smile charged their customers for incoming calls while they are 
abroad, without the calls for which they were charged being made, and without them having 
given a call forwarding provision. The total amount claimed is estimated by the plaintiff to be 
approximately NIS 53 million against Partner and approximately NIS 10 million against 012 
Smile. In January 2021, the District Court approved the motion against Partner and recognized 
the lawsuit as a class action and dismissed the motion against 012 Smile. The Company 
estimates that the claim will not have a material effect on the Company's financial statements.

5. On February 28, 2017, a claim and a motion to certify the claim as a class action were filed 
against the Company. The claim alleges that the Company charged its cellular service customers 
who entered into agreements for fixed periods, a higher rate than agreed without receiving prior 
written notice. The total amount claimed from the Company was estimated by the plaintiffs to 
be approximately NIS 4.176 million. In March 2021, the Court approved the motion and 
recognized the lawsuit as a class action. In June 2021, the Company filed an appeal of this 
decision. The Company estimates that the claim will not have a material effect on the 
Company's financial statements

In addition to all the above mentioned claims the Group is a party to various claims arising in the 
ordinary course of its operations .
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  NOTE 20 – LAWSUITS AND LITIGATIONS (continued)

B. Contingencies in respect of building and planning procedures 

Section 197 of the Building and Planning Law states that a property owner has the right to be 
compensated by a local planning committee for reductions in property value as a result of a new 
building plan.

In January 2006, the Non-ionizing Radiation Law was published, amending the Planning and 
Building Law so that local Planning and Building committees must require indemnification 
letters against reduction in property value from the cellular operators requesting building 
permits.

Accordingly, on January 3, 2006, the National Council for Planning and Building published an 
interim decision conditioning the issuance of building permits for cell site permits by local 
planning and building councils upon provision of a 100% indemnification undertaking by the 
cellular operators. This decision shall remain in effect until it is replaced with an amendment to 
the National Zoning Plan 36. Between January 3, 2006 and December 31, 2021 the Company 
provided the local authorities with 423 indemnification letters as a pre-condition for obtaining 
building permits.

In case the Company shall be required to make substantial payments under the indemnity letters, 
it could have an adverse effect on the Company's financial results.

According to the company’s management estimation and based on its legal counsel, a provision 
in the financial statement was not included.

The Company assumes that the requirement to provide indemnification letters might require it 
to change locations of sites to different, less suitable locations and to dismantle some of its sites. 
These changes in the deployment of the sites might have an adverse effect on the extent, quality 
and capacity of the network coverage.

C. Investigation by the Israeli Tax Authority

The Israeli Tax Authority is conducting an investigation that involves document collection and the 
questioning of among others, several Company employees, both past and current. The investigation is 
seeking to determine whether there have been violations of the Eilat Free Trade Zone (Tax 
Exemptions and Reductions) - 1985 Law regarding the sale of cellular phones in the city of Eilat. The 
Company is fully cooperating with the Israeli Tax Authority. At this stage, the Company is unable to 
estimate the impact of the investigation on the Company, its results and its condition, if any.
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a. Share capital:

The Company's share capital consists of ordinary shares, which are traded on the Tel Aviv Stock 
Exchange Ltd. under the symbol "PTNR", and are quoted on the NASDAQ Global Select Market™, 
in the form of American Depositary Shares ("ADSs"), each representing one of the Company’s 
ordinary shares, under the symbol "PTNR", according to the dual listing regulations. The ADSs are 
evidenced by American Depositary Receipts ("ADRs"). Citibank, N.A. serves as the Company's 
depository for ADSs. The holders of ordinary shares are entitled vote in the general meetings of 
shareholders and to receive dividends as declared. 

Under the provisions of the Company's licenses (note 1(c)), restrictions are placed on transfer of the 
Company's shares and placing liens thereon. The restrictions include the requirement of advance 
written consent of the Minister of Communications be received prior to transfer of 10% or more of the 
Company's shares to a third party. Nevertheless, under certain licenses granted, directly or indirectly, 
to the Company, a notice to, the Minister of Communications may be required for holding any means 
of control in the Company. The Company's license also restricts cross-ownership and cross-control 
among competing mobile telephone operators, including the ownership of 5% or more of the means of 
control of both the Company and a competing operator, without the consent of the Minister of 
Communications, which may limit certain persons from acquiring our shares. See also note 26 (d) with 
respect of holdings of approved Israeli shareholders in the Company.

Through December 31, 2008 the Company purchased its own 4,467,990 shares at the cost of NIS 351 
million, and during 2018 the Company purchased its own 6,501,588 shares at the cost of NIS 100 
million (upon repurchase were recorded as "treasury shares"). In accordance with the Israeli 
Companies Law, the treasury shares are considered dormant shares as long as they are held by the 
Company, and as such they do not bear any rights (including the right to vote in general meetings of 
shareholders and to receive dividends) until they are transferred to a third party. Some of the treasury 
shares were offered to employees under a share based compensation plan: Company's Equity Incentive 
Plan as restricted shares awards ("RSAs") (see (b) below). 

As of December 31, 2021 a total of 7,337,759 treasury shares remained, of which 1,349,119 were 
allocated to a trustee on behalf of the employees under the plan. The RSAs offered under the plan are 
under the control of the Company until vested under the plan and therefore are not presented in the 
financial statements as outstanding shares until vested.  

In January 2020, the Company issued 19,330,183 shares of the Company to institutional investors, 
following a tender under a shelf offering, and by way of a private placement. The total net 
consideration received was approximately NIS 276 million. The offering expenses totaled NIS 10 
million. 
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b. Share based compensation to employees

(1) Description of the Equity Incentive Plan
Share options and restricted shares were granted to employees in accordance with Company's 
2004 Amended and Restated Equity Incentive Plan (the "Plan"). It includes allocation of 
restricted shares ("RSAs") to the Company's employees and officers and determines the right to 
vote at the general meetings of shareholders and the right to receive dividends distributed with 
respect to the restricted shares. The vesting of the options and the earning of the restricted shares 
are subject to vesting/restriction periods as well as performance conditions set by the Company's 
management bodies (The Compensation Committee and The Board of Directors; and in addition, 
regarding the CEO - The General Assembly of Shareholders). The Company expects that the 
performance conditions will be met. In accordance with the Plan, under certain conditions, the 
share options and the restricted shares are entitled to vesting acceleration upon a change in control 
event. As of December 31, 2021 the company estimated that a future change of control event was 
probable as a result of the possible transaction referred to in note 26(c). The transaction is subject 
to MOC approval. The effect of this accounting estimate on the statement of operation was 
immaterial. The Plan's principal terms of the options include:  

- Exercise price adjustment: The exercise price of options shall be reduced in the following events: 
(1) dividend distribution other than in the ordinary course: by the gross dividend amount so 
distributed per share, and (2) dividend distribution in the ordinary course: the exercise price shall 
be reduced the gross dividend amount so distributed per share ("Full Dividend Mechanism"), 
depending on the date of granting of the options.

- Cashless exercise: Most of the options may be exercised only through a cashless exercise 
procedure, while holders of other options may choose between cashless exercise and the regular 
option exercise procedure. In accordance with such cashless exercise, the option holder would 
receive from the Company, without payment of the exercise price, only the number of shares 
whose aggregate market value equals the economic gain which the option holder would have 
realized by selling all the shares purchased at their market price, net of the option exercise price. 

(2) Information in respect of options and restricted shares granted under the Plan:
Through December 31, 2021

Number of options Number of RSAs 
Granted 39,936,212 6,727,668
Shares issued upon exercises and vesting (7,022,000) (3,633,131)
Cancelled upon net exercises, expiration
    and forfeitures (25,979,213) (1,746,720)
Outstanding 6,934,999 1,347,817
Of which(*):

Exercisable 2,189,520 201,225
Vest in 2022 2,540,988 640,912
Vest in 2023 1,852,136 424,467
Vest in 2024 352,355 81,213

(*) The vesting schedule takes into account the acceleration of the vesting of certain grants based 
on a probable future change of control event, see note 21(b)(1) above.

As of December 31, 2021 the Company expects to record a total amount of compensation expenses 
of approximately NIS 20 million during the next three years with respect to options and restricted 
shares granted through December 31, 2021.
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NOTE 21 - EQUITY AND SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

b. Share based compensation to employees (continued)

 (3) Options and RSAs status summary as of December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 and the changes 
therein during the years ended on those dates:

Year ended December 31
2019 2020 2021

Number

Weighted 
average
exercise 
price Number

Weighted 
average
exercise 
price Number

Weighted 
average
exercise 
price

Share Options: NIS NIS

Outstanding at the beginning of the year 9,697,266 28.19 9,020,689 23.62 7,029,423 18.64
Granted during the year 1,232,226 16.21 1,035,635 14.24 3,827,782 15.60
Exercised during the year (70,824) 16.62 (296,450) 14.71 (3,048,724) 17.98
Forfeited during the year (235,150) 18.74 (252,547) 18.42 (196,000) 13.97
Expired during the year (1,602,829) 46.64 (2,477,904) 34.10 (677,482) 24.29

Outstanding at the end of the year 9,020,689 23.62 7,029,423 18.64 6,934,999 16.83

Exercisable at the end of the year 5,623,921 27.11 4,071,714 20.04 2,189,520 19.46

Shares issued during the year due exercises 3,166 46,747 447,222

RSAs:
Outstanding at the beginning of the year 1,209,521 1,230,464 1,007,423
Granted during the year 397,476 398,055 820,059
Vested during the year (284,427) (534,053) (404,025)
Forfeited during the year (92,106) (87,043) (75,640)
Outstanding at the end of the year 1,230,464 1,007,423 1,347,817

Options granted 
in 2019

Options granted 
in 2020

Options granted 
in 2021

Weighted average fair value of options granted using the 
    Black & Scholes option-pricing model – per option (NIS) 3.34 3.71 4.41
The above fair value is estimated on the grant date based on 
the following weighted average assumptions:

Expected volatility 33.52% 37.24% 42.31%
Risk-free interest rate 0.57% 0.21% 0.18%
Expected life (years) 3 3 2
Dividend yield * * *

*   Due to the Full Dividend Mechanism the expected dividend yield used in the fair value determination of 
     such options was 0% for the purpose of using the Black & Scholes option-pricing model. 

The expected volatility is based on a historical volatility, by statistical analysis of the daily share price for 
periods corresponding the option's expected life. The expected life is expected length of time until expected 
date of exercising the options, based on historical data on employees' exercise behavior and anticipated future 
condition. The fair value of RSAs was evaluated based on the stock price on grant date.
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NOTE 21 - EQUITY AND SHARE BASED PAYMENTS (continued)

b. Share based compensation to employees (continued)

 (4) Information about outstanding options by expiry dates:
Share options outstanding as of December 31, 2021 have the following expiry dates and 
exercise prices:

Expire in 
Number of share 

options
Weighted average 

exercise price in NIS
2022  1,789,042  19.03 
2023  2,366,252  15.44 
2024  879,343  18.68 
2025  202,124  16.34 
2026  641,178  14.36 
2027  1,057,060  16.26 

6,934,999 16.83

The expiry schedule takes into account the acceleration of the vesting of certain grants based on a 
probable future change of control event, see note 21(b)(1) above 
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NOTE 22 – INCOME STATEMENT DETAILS

(a) Revenues:

The aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to performance obligations that were unsatisfied or 
partially unsatisfied as of December 31, 2021, in addition to deferred revenues(see note 14), is 
approximately NIS 204 million (mainly services). Of which the Group expects that approximately 50% will 
be recognized as revenue during 2022, approximately 20% will be recognized as revenue during 2023, and 
the rest in later years. The above excludes contracts that are for periods of one year or less or are billed 
based on time incurred, as permitted under IFRS 15 the transaction price allocated to these unsatisfied 
contracts is not disclosed.

Disaggregation of revenues: 

Year ended December 31, 2021
New Israeli Shekels in millions  

Cellular 
segment

Fixed-line 
segment

Elimination Consolidated

Segment revenue - Services to private customers 933 680 (72) 1,541
Segment revenue - Services to business customers 766 386 (58) 1,094
Segment revenue - Services revenue total 1,699 1,066 (130) 2,635
Segment revenue - Equipment 602 126 728
Total Revenues 2,301 1,192 (130) 3,363

Year ended December 31, 2020
New Israeli Shekels in millions  

Cellular 
segment

Fixed-line 
segment

Elimination Consolidated

Segment revenue - Services to private customers 942 604 (83) 1,463
Segment revenue - Services to business customers 721 389 (65) 1,045
Segment revenue - Services revenue total 1,663 993 (148) 2,508
Segment revenue - Equipment 545 136 681
Total Revenues 2,208 1,129 (148) 3,189
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NOTE 22 – INCOME STATEMENT DETAILS (continued)

Year ended December 31, 2019
New Israeli Shekels in millions  

Cellular 
segment

Fixed-line 
segment

Elimination Consolidated

Segment revenue - Services to private customers 990 513 (87) 1,416
Segment revenue - Services to business customers 808 412 (76) 1,144
Segment revenue - Services revenue total 1,798 925 (163) 2,560
Segment revenue - Equipment 571 103 674
Total Revenues 2,369 1,028 (163) 3,234

New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31,  

2019 2020 2021
In millions

Revenues from services are recognized over time. 

Revenues from equipment are recognized at a point of time, except for 
revenues from equipment that were recognized over time: revenues 

from operating leases according to IFRS 16 17 10 8

Revenues from services include revenues from operating leases 
according to IFRS 16 57 73 78

(b)  Cost of revenues New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31,  

2019 2020 2021
In millions

Transmission, communication and content providers 746 786 800
Cost of equipment and accessories  500 510 550
Depreciation and amortization 603 546 565
Wages, employee benefits expenses and car maintenance 312 282 292
Costs of handling, replacing or repairing equipment 71 66 61
Operating lease, rent and overhead expenses 73 75 75
Network and cable maintenance 99 97 88
Internet infrastructure and service providers 173 157 136
IT support and other operating expenses 57 56 58
Amortization of deferred expenses - rights of use 28 31 31
Other 45 58 76
Total cost of revenues 2,707 2,664 2,732
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NOTE 22 – INCOME STATEMENT DETAILS (continued)

(c)  Selling and marketing expenses New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31,  

2019 2020 2021
In millions

Wages, employee benefits expenses and car maintenance 102 81 103
Advertising and marketing 44 42 41
Selling commissions, net 28 31 32
Depreciation and amortization 106 123 132
Operating lease, rent and overhead expenses 4 2 2
Other 17 12 13
Total selling and marketing expenses 301 291 323

(d)  General and administrative expenses New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31,  

2019 2020 2021
In millions

Wages, employee benefits expenses and car maintenance 85 81 93
Professional fees 21 21 23
Credit card and other commissions 13 13 13
Depreciation 14 14 16
Other 16 16 19
Total general and administrative expenses 149 145 164

(e)  Employee benefit expenses New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31,  

2019 2020 2021
In millions

Wages, employee benefits expenses and car maintenance,
     before capitalization 543 482 526
Less: expenses capitalized (notes 10, 11) (96) (85) (91)
Service costs: defined benefit plan (note 16(2)) 12 10 14
Service costs: defined contribution plan (note 16(1)) 23 25 24
Employee share based compensation expenses (note 21(b)) 17 12 15

499 444 488

In December 2021 the Company signed a renewal of collective employment agreement with the employees' 
representatives and the Histadrut New General Labor Organization (hereinafter - the "Parties") for an 
additional period of three years, with certain changes, at a cost that is immaterial for the Company. Under the 
Collective Employment Agreement it was agreed, among others things, on a salary increase budget for 2022, 
in the amount of 3%, to be differentially allocated. In addition, the Parties agreed to negotiate at a later time a 
salary increase and participation in the Company's profits mechanism for the years 2023- 2024.
In January 2022, a letter from the labor union and the employees' representatives stating various claims was 
presented to the Company, in light of the possible Transaction by the Offerer (see note 26(c)). The Company 
responded that the claims presented are only relevant in light of a change of control, which has not yet 
occurred.
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NOTE 23 – OTHER INCOME, NET

New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31,  

2019 2020 2021
In millions

Unwinding of trade receivables 23 21 20
Other income, net 5 9 8

28 30 28

NOTE 24 – FINANCE EXPENSES
New Israeli Shekels

Year ended December 31,  
2019 2020 2021

In millions
Interest expense and other finance expenses 55 59 50
Interest for lease liabilities 20 18 18

Finance expenses 75 77 68

NOTE 25 – INCOME TAX EXPENSES

a. Corporate income tax rates applicable to the Group

The Group is taxed according to the regular corporate income tax in Israel.  

The corporate tax rate in Israel is 23% for the year 2018 and thereafter.
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NOTE 25 - INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

b. Deferred income taxes  

    Balances of deferred tax asset (liability) in NIS millions are attributable to the following items:

Balance of deferred tax asset 
(liability) in respect of

As at 
January 1, 
2019

Charged to 
the income 
statement

Charged 
to retained 
earnings 
upon 
implement
ation of 
IFRS 16

As at 
December 
31, 2019

Charged 
to the 
income 
statement

As at 
December 
31, 2020

Charged to 
the income 
statement

Charged 
to the 
comprehe
nsive 
income 
statement

As at 
December 
31, 2021

Allowance for credit losses 43 (4) 39 (5) 34 (5) 29
Provisions for employee rights 17 1 18 (5) 13 3  (2) 14
Depreciable fixed assets and software (19) 8 (11) 12 1 14 15
Lease - Right-of-use assets - 17 (151) (134) (18) (152) (4) (156)
Leases liabilities - (15) 157 142 19 161 5 166
Intangibles and deferred expenses (19) (21) (40) (13) (53) 2 (51)

Carry forward losses 11 10 21 (1) 20 (7) 13
Options granted to employees and 

other 5 1 6 (1) 5 (1) 4
Total 38 (3) 6 41 (12) 29 7 (2) 34



82

PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.
(An Israeli Corporation)

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 25 - INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

b. Deferred income taxes (continued)  

New Israeli Shekels
December 31,  

2020 2021
In millions

Deferred tax assets
Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months 188 200
Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months 76 69

264 269
Deferred tax liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered after more than 12 months 184 184
Deferred tax liabilities to be recovered within 12 months 51 51

235 235

Deferred tax assets, net 29 34

c. Following is a reconciliation of the theoretical tax expense, assuming all income is taxed at the regular tax 
rates applicable to companies in Israel (see (a) above), and the actual tax expense:

New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021
In millions 

Profit before taxes on income,      
as reported in the income statements 19 27 99

Theoretical tax expense 4 6 23
Increase in tax resulting from disallowable deductions 5 4 4
Negative taxes (taxes on income) in respect of previous years (7) 3 (34)**
Temporary differences and utilization of tax losses for which no 
deferred income tax asset was recognized (2) (3) (9)**
Income tax expenses (income) * 10 (16)

*   Representing an amount of less than NIS 1 million.
** See also note 25(e)(1)
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NOTE 25- INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)

d. Taxes on income included in the income statements:

New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31,

2019 2020 2021
In millions

For the reported year:
Current 3 2 12
Deferred, see (c) above 4 5 15

In respect of previous years:
Current (7) (4) (21)**
Deferred, see (c) above 7 (22)**

* 10 (16)

*   Representing an amount of less than NIS 1 million.
** See also note 25(e)(1)

e. Tax assessments: 

1) On December 31, 2021 the Company signed a settlement agreement with the Israel tax 
authority ("ITA") in relation to a tax audit for the income tax years 2016-2019. 
According to the agreement, the Company paid an amount of NIS 2.5 million as a 
settlement in respect of the abovementioned years, in addition to advances already paid 
in past. Following the agreement, the Company reduced income tax provisions and 
recognized deferred taxes, in respect of amounts, which according to the agreement will 
be deductible in future years. The impact on the Company income taxes was a net 
income of NIS 43 million.

2) A Group's subsidiary received final income tax assessments through the year ended 
December 31, 2016.

3) As a general rule, income tax self-assessments filed by two other subsidiaries through 
the year ended December 31, 2016 are, by law, now regarded as final.

f. Tax losses carried forward to future years:

At December 31, 2020, the Company had carry forward tax losses of approximately NIS 51 
million which fully utilized during 2021. As of December 31, 2020 The Company 
recognized deferred tax asset in respect of the tax losses.
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NOTE 26 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES
 

a. Key management compensation

Key management personnel are the senior management of the Company and the members of the  
    Company's Board of Directors. 

New Israeli Shekels
Year ended December 31

2019 2020 2021
Key management compensation expenses 

comprised In millions

Salaries and short-term employee benefits 27 21 25
Long term employment benefits 3 3 6
Employee share-based compensation expenses 12 7 11

42 31 42

New Israeli Shekels
December 31,

2020 2021
Statement of financial position items -
     key management In millions

Current liabilities: 9 15

Non-current liabilities: 10 9

b. In the ordinary course of business, key management or their relatives may have engaged with the 
Company with immaterial transactions that are under normal market conditions.
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NOTE 26 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

c. Principal shareholder: 

Approximately 27% of the Company issued and outstanding shares and voting rights are held by a 
receiver (under Israeli law).
On November 12, 2019, the District Court of Tel Aviv (the “Court") issued a court order (the “Court 
Order") under which attorney Ehud Sol (the “Receiver") was appointed as receiver for 49,862,800 of 
the Company's shares, representing as of February 1, 2022, approximately 27% of the Company's 
issued and outstanding share capital and the largest block of shares held by a single shareholder. The 
shares (the “Pledged Shares”) had been purchased by S.B. Israel Telecom Ltd. ("S.B. Israel 
Telecom") from Advent Investments Pte Ltd (“Advent”) in 2013; in connection with the purchase, 
S.B. Israel Telecom assumed certain debt owed to Advent, and agreed that such debt would be 
secured by, among other things, the Pledged Shares. S.B. Israel Telecom defaulted on the payment, 
and on November 11, 2019, consented to enforcement and foreclosure proceedings with respect to 
the Pledged Shares.  
 
The Court Order was issued due to an application filed by Advent ("Advent's Application") and 
granted the Receiver substantial rights related to the Pledged Shares, including the right to participate 
in our shareholders’ meetings, to vote the Pledged Shares, to receive dividends, and any contractual 
right related to the Pledged Shares, although as noted below, the Receiver may not sell or transfer the 
Pledged Shares without the Court’s approval.  Without derogating from those rights of the Receiver, 
S.B. Israel Telecom remains the holder of legal title to the Pledged Shares. On December 9, 2019, 
the Ministry of Communications granted, within its powers, a permit to the Receiver to exercise 
means of control of the Company by himself.  As a result, the Receiver has the power to 
substantially influence the nomination of the Company’s Board of Directors and to play a 
preponderant if not decisive role in other decisions taken at meetings of the Company's  
shareholders. The Receiver is expected to hold such rights until the Pledged Shares are sold or 
transferred to Advent, actions that would require the Court’s approval according to the Court Order 
and Advent's Application. 
  
On December 14, 2021, the Court granted an approval in principle, effective as of December 15, 
2021, for the purchase of the Pledged Shares by a group of parties led by the Phoenix group, Mr. Avi 
Gabbay and Mr. Shlomo Rodav (jointly, the “Offeror”), on an “as is” basis, in consideration for US $ 
300,000,000 (the “Transaction), as proposed by the Offeror.  On January 9, 2022, the Competition 
Authority granted its approval. The Transaction is still subject to the approval of the Ministry of 
Communications”.
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NOTE 26 - TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES WITH RELATED PARTIES (continued)

d.   Holdings of approved Israeli shareholders in the Company: The provisions of the Company's cellular 
license require, among others, that the "founding shareholders or their approved substitutes", as 
defined in the cellular license, hold at least 26% of the means of control in the Company, including 
5% which must be held by Israeli shareholders (Israeli citizens and residents), who were approved as 
such by the Minister of Communications. Notwithstanding the aforesaid, the controlling stake of the 
Phoenix Group (one of the Company’s approved Israeli shareholders) has been sold to foreign 
entities. On November 12, 2019, the Israeli Ministry of Communications issued a temporary order 
(which ended on November 1, 2020) (the “Temporary Order”) amending the Company’s cellular 
license and reducing the percentage that the approved Israeli entities are required to hold (from 5% 
to 3.82% of the means of control in the Company). On July 7, 2020, the MoC published an 
amendment to the Company's cellular license which provides that the license terms applicable to 
Israeli shareholders may be replaced by an order issued by virtue of the Communications Law 
(Telecommunications and Broadcasting), 1982. Since the regulatory procedure allowing the above-
mentioned license amendment to take place was still ongoing at the time, on October 26, 2020, the 
Israeli Ministry of Communications extended the term of the Temporary Order (ending on March 1, 
2021). This temporary order allowed the Ministry and the Company sufficient time in which to 
resolve the issue of holdings of approved Israeli shareholders in the Company. During February 
2021, the regulatory procedure allowing the above-mentioned license amendment to take place has 
been completed. There was no material impact on the financial statements.
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NOTE 27 –EARNINGS PER SHARE

Following are data relating to the profit and the weighted average number of shares that were taken 
into account in computing the basic and diluted EPS:   

Year ended December 31,
2019 2020 2021

Profit used for the computation of  
basic and diluted EPS attributable to the owners of the 
Company (NIS in millions) 19 17 115

Weighted average number of shares used 
in computation of basic EPS (in thousands) 162,831 182,331 183,203

Add - net additional shares from assumed 
      exercise of employee stock options and restricted
      shared (in thousands) 777 857 1,131

Weighted average number of shares used in 
computation of diluted EPS (in thousands) 163,608 183,188 184,334

Number of options and restricted shares not taken into
     account in computation of diluted earnings per share,
     because of their anti-dilutive effect (in thousands) 8,952 6,466 4,470



Annex “B”

PARTNER COMMUNICATIONS COMPANY LTD.

REPORT OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS FOR THE
YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021

The following report is a summary only, and is not intended to be a 
comprehensive review of the company’s business and results of its operations and 
financial condition for the year 2021. The report is based upon and should be read in 
conjunction with Partner’s Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2021, filed with 
the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Form 20-F"). In particular, you should 
read the risk factors appearing in the Form 20-F for a discussion of a number of factors 
that affect and could affect Partner’s financial condition and results of operations.

This report, as well as Form 20-F, includes forward-looking statements within the 
meaning of Section 27A of the US Securities Act of 1933, as amended, Section 21E of 
the US Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the safe harbor provisions of 
the US Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Words such as “believe,” 
“anticipate,” “expect,” “intend,” “seek,” “will,” “plan,” “could,” “may,” “project,” 
“goal,” “target” and similar expressions often identify forward-looking statements but are 
not the only way we identify these statements. All statements other than statements of 
historical fact included in this annual report, including the statements in the sections of 
this annual report entitled “Item 3D. Key Information – Risk Factors,” “Item 4. 
Information on the Company” and “Item 5. Operating and Financial Review and 
Prospects” and elsewhere in this annual report regarding our future performance, 
revenues or margins, market share or reduction of expenses, regulatory developments, 
and any statements regarding other future events or our future prospects, are forward-
looking statements.

We have based these forward-looking statements on our current knowledge and 
our present beliefs and expectations regarding possible future events. These forward-
looking statements are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions about Partner, 
consumer habits and preferences in cellular and fixed-line telephone usage, trends in the 
Israeli telecommunications industry in general, the impact of current global economic 
conditions and possible regulatory and legal developments. For a description of some of 
the risks see “Item 3D Risk Factors,” “Item 4 Information On The Company”, “Item 5 
Operating And Financial Review And Prospects,” “Item 8A.1 Legal And Administrative 
Proceedings” and “Item 11 Quantitative And Qualitative Disclosures About Market 
Risk”. In light of these risks, uncertainties and assumptions, the forward-looking events 
discussed in this annual report might not occur, and actual results may differ materially 
from the results anticipated. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise any 
forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or 
otherwise.
In this report, references to “$” and “US dollars” are to United States dollars and 
references to “NIS” are to New Israeli Shekels.  This report contains translations of NIS 
amounts into US dollars at December 31, 2021 NIS 3.110 =US$ 1.00 as published by the 
Bank of Israel, solely for the convenience of the reader.  



Results of Consolidated Operations for the Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared 
to the Year Ended December 31, 2020

Composition of revenues and cost of revenues

 New Israeli Shekels  

 
Year ended 

December 31,  
 2020   2021  
 In millions  
    

Service revenues   2,508   2,635 
Equipment revenues   681   728 
Total revenues   3,189   3,363 
         
Cost of revenues – Services   2,128   2,156 
Cost of revenues – Equipment   536   576 
Total Cost of revenues   2,664   2,732 

Gross profit   525   631 

Total revenues.  In 2021, total revenues were NIS 3,363 million (US$ 1,081 
million), an increase of 5% from NIS 3,189 million in 2020.

Revenues from services. Service revenues in 2021 totaled NIS 2,635 million (US$ 
847 million), an increase of 5% from NIS 2,508 million in 2020. 

Revenues from equipment sales. Equipment revenues in 2021 totaled NIS 728 
million (US$ 234 million), an increase of 7% from NIS 681 million in 2020, largely 
reflecting an increase in the volume of retail cellular equipment sales compared with the 
lower sales volumes in 2020 resulting from the closure of sales points during certain 
COVID-19-related lockdown periods. The increase was partially offset by decreases in 
the volume of fixed-line equipment sales and of cellular equipment sales to wholesale 
customers.

Gross profit from service revenues. The gross profit from service revenues in 
2021 was NIS 479 million (US$ 154 million), compared with NIS 380 million in 2020, 
an increase of 26%. The increase reflected an increase in gross profit from service 
revenues for the cellular segment, partially offset by a decrease in gross profit from 
service revenues for the fixed-line segment. See also note 22 to our consolidated financial 
statements.

Gross profit from equipment sales. Gross profit from equipment sales in 2021 was 
NIS 152 million (US$ 49 million), compared with NIS 145 million in 2020, an increase 
of 5%. As with revenues from equipment sales, the increase largely reflected the increase 
in the volume of retail cellular equipment sales as a result of the closure of sales points 
during certain COVID-19-related lockdown periods in 2020.



Selling, marketing, general and administrative expenses and credit losses. 
Selling, marketing, general and administrative expenses and credit losses totaled NIS 496 
million (US$ 159 million) in 2021, an increase of 8% compared with NIS 459 million in 
2020. The increase mainly reflected an increase in workforce expenses compared with 
the lower workforce expenses in 2020 as part of the cost-cutting measures taken in 2020 
to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 crisis on revenues. The increase also reflected an 
increase in amortization expenses of customer contract costs, as the number of customer 
contracts increased.  

Total operating expenses ("OPEX"). Total operating expenses increased by NIS 
30 million, or 2%, in 2021 compared with 2020 to a total of NIS 1,901 million (US$ 611 
million); this measure is not a financial measure under IFRS and may not be comparable 
to other similarly titled measures for other companies, see reconciliation below. The 
increase mainly reflected the increase in workforce expenses in the fixed-line segment 
compared with the lower workforce expenses in 2020 as part of the cost-cutting measures 
taken in 2020 to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 crisis on revenues. The increase 
also reflected increases in TV content expenses and expenses related to the government-
mandated fiber incentive fund from 2021. These effects were partially offset by decreases 
in wholesale internet infrastructure access expenses, credit losses and interconnect 
expenses. See Items 5A.2a and 5A.2b for a breakdown of total operating expenses by 
segment.

Reconciliation of Segment Information to Total 
Operating Expenses

Year ended December 
31,

2020 2021
NIS in millions

Segment cost of revenues – Services.......................................... 2,128 2,156
Add Operating expenses ............................................................. 459 496
Deduct depreciation, amortization and impairment 
expenses and other expenses (mainly amortization of 
employee share-based compensation) ........................................ (716) (751)
Total Operating Expenses ........................................................ 1,871 1,901

Including depreciation, amortization and other expenses (mainly amortization of 
employee share-based compensation), total operating expenses in 2021 amounted to NIS 
2,652 million (US$ 853 million), an increase of 3%, or NIS 65 million, compared with 
NIS 2,587 million in 2020. See also note 22 to our consolidated financial statements.

Other income, net. Other income, net, totaled NIS 28 million (US$ 9 million) in 
2021, a decrease of 7% compared with NIS 30 million in 2020. See also note 23 to our 
consolidated financial statements.

Operating profit. Operating profit for 2021 was NIS 163 million (US$ 52 
million), an increase of 70% compared with operating profit of NIS 96 million in 2020. 
The increase in operating profit mainly reflected the increase in service revenues which 
more than offset the increase in operating expenses including depreciation and 



amortization expenses.

Finance costs, net. Finance costs, net in 2021 were NIS 64 million (US$ 21 
million), a decrease of 7% compared with NIS 69 million in 2020. The decrease mainly 
reflected the one-time expense in 2020 of approximately NIS 7 million relating to the 
partial early repayment of the Company’s Notes Series F during the year. See also “Item 
Error! Reference source not found. Error! Reference source not found..”

Profit before income tax. Profit before income taxes for 2021 was NIS 99 million 
(US$ 32 million), an increase of NIS 72 million compared with NIS 27 million in 2020, 
mainly reflecting the increase in operating profit. 

Income taxes on profit. The Company recorded income tax income of NIS 16 
million (US$ 5 million) for 2021, compared with income tax expenses of NIS 10 million 
for 2020.

In 2021, the Company recorded one-time income of NIS 43 million in income tax 
reflecting the impact of the signing of a tax assessment with the tax authority for the 
years 2016 to 2019.

The overall effective tax rate of the Company was minus 16% in 2021 compared 
with 37% in 2020, largely as a result of the one-time income tax income in 2021. 

Excluding the one-time income, the effective tax rate of the Company in 2021 
would have been 27% compared with the regular corporate tax rate in Israel of 23%, 
reflecting disallowable deductions. The Company’s effective tax rate is expected to 
continue to be higher than the general Israeli corporate tax rate (excluding one-time 
effects) mainly due to disallowable deductions.  See also note 25 to our consolidated 
financial statements.

Profit. Profit in 2021 was NIS 115 million (US$ 37 million), an increase of NIS 
98 million compared with NIS 17 million in 2020. Based on the weighted average 
number of shares outstanding during 2021, basic earnings per share or ADS was NIS 0.63 
(US$ 0.20), compared with NIS 0.09 in 2020. 

For information regarding potential downward impacts on profits in 2022, see 
“Item Error! Reference source not found. Error! Reference source not found..” 

Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA in 2021 totaled NIS 922 million (US$ 296 
million), an increase of 12% or NIS 100 million from NIS 822 million in 2020. As a 
percentage of total revenues, Adjusted EBITDA in 2021 was 27%, compared with 26% 
in 2020.

Results of Operation By Segment For The Year Ended December 31, 2021 Compared 
To The Year Ended December 31, 2020

Cellular Segment



Total revenues. Total revenues for the cellular segment in 2021 were NIS 2,301 
million (US$ 740 million), an increase of 4% from NIS 2,208 million in 2020.

Revenues from services. Service revenues for the cellular segment in 2021 totaled 
NIS 1,699 million (US$ 546 million), an increase of 2% from NIS 1,663 million in 2020. 
The increase was mainly the result of growth in the cellular subscriber base of 187,000 
subscribers, or 7%, in 2021 and a moderate increase in revenues from roaming services 
following the significant negative impact of the COVID-19 crisis on revenues from 
roaming services in 2020. The increase was partially offset by a decrease in interconnect 
revenues following the significant increase in incoming call volumes in 2020 related to 
the COVID-19 crisis.  It was also partially offset by the continued price erosion of 
cellular services due to on-going competitive market conditions which remain intense, 
although with less negative impact on the Company’s revenues than in previous years.

Revenues from equipment. Revenues from equipment sales for the cellular 
segment in 2021 totaled NIS 602 million (US$ 194 million), an increase of 10% from 
NIS 545 million in 2020, mainly reflecting the increase in the volume of retail cellular 
equipment sales as a result of the closure of sales points during certain COVID-19-related 
lockdown periods in 2020, partially offset by a decrease in the volume of cellular 
equipment sales to wholesale customers.

Gross profit from equipment sales. The gross profit from equipment sales for the 
cellular segment in 2021 was NIS 104 million (US$ 33 million), compared with NIS 94 
million in 2020, an increase of 11%. This increase mainly reflected the increase in the 
volume of retail cellular equipment sales as a result of the closure of sales points during 
certain COVID-19-related lockdown periods in 2020, as described above.

Cost of service revenues. The cost of service revenues for the cellular segment 
decreased by 6% from NIS 1,403 million in 2020 to NIS 1,321 million (US$ 425 million) 
in 2021. This decrease mainly reflected a decrease in depreciation and amortization 
expenses related to the cellular network, as some fully depreciated network equipment 
was not replaced, as well as in workforce and related expenses, interconnect expenses 
and network maintenance expenses. These effects were partially offset by expenses in an 
amount of NIS 12 million related to the government-mandated fiber incentive fund which 
began operating in 2021. 

Selling, marketing, general and administrative expenses and credit losses. 
Selling, marketing, general and administrative expenses and credit losses for the cellular 
segment in 2021 amounted to NIS 302 million (US$ 97 million), an increase of 1% from 
NIS 300 million in 2020. The increase mainly reflected an increase in workforce and 
related expenses compared with the lower workforce expenses in 2020 as part of the cost-
cutting measures taken in 2020 to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 crisis on 
revenues. The increase also reflected an increase in selling commissions, net. These 
increases in expenses were partially offset by an immaterial decrease in credit losses, 
reflecting both a decrease in provisions for expected credit losses related to the sale of 
equipment with long term financing plans as well as the provision for expected credit 
losses related to the COVID-19 crisis that was recorded in 2020.

Total operating expenses ("OPEX"). Total operating expenses (OPEX is not a 
financial measure under IFRS and is not necessarily comparable to similarly titled 
measures for other companies; see "Item 5A.2" for reconciliation on a consolidated basis) 



for the cellular segment totaled NIS 1,212 million (US$ 390 million) in 2021, a decrease 
of 3% or NIS 41 million from NIS 1,253 million in 2020, principally due to the decreases 
in credit losses, network and cable maintenance, interconnect expenses and workforce 
and related expenses. These decreases were partially offset by the expenses related to the 
government-mandated fiber incentive fund, as discussed above. See also note 22 to our 
consolidated financial statements. Including depreciation and amortization expenses and 
other expenses (mainly amortization of employee share-based compensation), total 
operating expenses totaled NIS 1,623 million (US$ 522 million), a decrease of 5% 
compared with NIS 1,703 million in 2020.

Operating profit. Overall, operating profit for the cellular segment in 2021 was 
NIS 197 million (US$ 63 million), an increase of NIS 124 million compared with NIS 73 
million in 2020, mainly reflecting the decrease in operating expenses including 
depreciation and amortization expenses and other expenses and the increases in cellular 
segment service revenues and in gross profit from equipment sales.    

 Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA for the cellular segment was NIS 616 
million (US$ 198 million) in 2021, an increase of 16% from NIS 533 million in 2020, 
largely for the same reasons as the increase in operating profit (excluding depreciation 
and amortization expenses and other expenses). As a percentage of total cellular 
revenues, Adjusted EBITDA for the cellular segment in 2021 was 27% compared with 
24% in 2020.

Fixed Line Segment
Total revenues. Total revenues in 2021 for the fixed-line segment were NIS 1,192 

million (US$ 383 million), an increase of 6% compared with NIS 1,129 million in 2020.

Revenues from services. Service revenues for the fixed-line segment totaled NIS 
1,066 million (US$ 343 million) in 2021, an increase of 7% compared with NIS 993 
million in 2020. This increase mainly reflected the increase in revenues resulting from the 
growth in internet and TV services, which was partially offset by a decline in revenues 
from international calling services (including the market for wholesale international 
traffic) which continue to be adversely affected by the increased penetration of internet-
based solutions. See also "Item Error! Reference source not found. Error! Reference 
source not found."

Revenues from equipment. Revenues from equipment sales for the fixed-line 
segment in 2021 totaled NIS 126 million (US$ 41 million), a decrease of 7% compared 
with NIS 136 million in 2020, mainly reflecting a decrease in the volume of sales of 
fixed-line equipment for both business and private customers. The decrease in the volume 
of sales for private customers was largely related to the Company’s decision in the final 
quarter of 2021 to cease selling internet routers to private customers.

Gross profit from equipment sales. The gross profit from equipment sales for the 
fixed-line segment in 2021 was NIS 48 million (US$ 15 million), compared with NIS 51 
million in 2020, a decrease of 6%, again largely a reflection of the impact of the decrease 



in sales recorded from sales of fixed-line equipment for both business and private 
customers.

Cost of service revenues. The cost of service revenues for the fixed-line segment 
increased by 11% from NIS 873 million in 2020 to NIS 965 million (US$ 310 million) in 
2021. This increase mainly reflected a significant increase in depreciation and 
amortization expenses related to the fiber-optic network, customer equipment and the 
costs of obtaining contracts with customers. In addition, the Company recorded, in Q3 
2021, a provision for an impairment of fixed-line assets in an amount of NIS 10 million, 
following a strategic business change in TV services which the Company estimated 
would likely lead to the churn of certain fixed-line service subscribers. The increase in 
cost of service revenues also reflected an increase in workforce and related expenses 
which was partially explained by the lower workforce expenses in 2020 as part of the 
cost-cutting measures taken in 2020 to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 crisis on 
revenues) and an increase in TV content expenses.

These increases were partly offset by a decrease in wholesale internet 
infrastructure expenses reflecting both the impact of the decrease in the regulated 
wholesale access tariff at the beginning of 2021 and the decrease in the number of 
Company subscribers using Bezeq or Hot’s infrastructure. The increases in cost of 
service revenues were also partly offset by and decreases in international calling services 
expenses and in interconnect expenses.

Selling, marketing, general and administrative expenses and credit losses. 
Selling, marketing, general and administrative expenses and credit losses for the fixed-
line segment in 2021 amounted to NIS 194 million (US$ 62 million), an increase of 22% 
from NIS 159 million in 2020. The increase mainly reflected increased workforce and 
related expenses, partially explained by the lower workforce expenses in 2020 as part of 
the cost-cutting measures taken in 2020 to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 crisis on 
revenues, and increased depreciation and amortization expenses related to the growth in 
fixed-line segment services. 

Total operating expenses ("OPEX"). Total operating expenses (OPEX is not a 
financial measure under IFRS and not necessarily comparable to similarly titled measures 
for other companies; see Item 5A.2 for reconciliation on a consolidated basis) for the 
fixed-line segment totaled NIS 819 million (US$ 263 million) in 2021, an increase of 7% 
or NIS 53 million from NIS 766 million in 2020. See also note 22 to our consolidated 
financial statements. The increase principally reflected the increases in workforce and 
related expenses, partially explained by the lower workforce expenses in 2020 as part of 
the cost-cutting measures taken in 2020 to mitigate the impact of the COVID-19 crisis on 
revenues, and in TV content expenses, partially offset by the decrease in wholesale 
internet infrastructure expenses. Including depreciation, amortization and impairment 
expenses and other expenses (mainly amortization of employee share-based 
compensation), total operating expenses for the fixed-line segment totaled NIS 1,159 
million (US$ 373 million), an increase of 12% compared with NIS 1,032 million in 2020.

Operating profit/loss. Operating loss for the fixed-line segment was NIS 34 
million (US$ 11 million) in 2021, a decrease of NIS 57 million compared to operating 
profit of NIS 33 million in 2020. The decrease mainly reflected the impact of the growth 
in fixed-line segment services on depreciation and amortization expenses and the increase 



in workforce and related expenses, which was partially explained by the lower workforce 
expenses in 2020 as part of the cost-cutting measures taken to mitigate the impact of the 
COVID-19 crisis on revenues.  

Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA for the fixed-line segment was NIS 306 
million (US$ 98 million) in 2021, an increase of 6% from NIS 289 million in 2020. The 
increase resulted from the growth in services revenues, which was partially offset by the 
increase in total operating expenses (excluding depreciation, amortization and 
impairment expenses and other expenses (mainly amortization of employee share-based 
compensation)). As a percentage of total fixed-line revenues, Adjusted EBITDA for the 
fixed-line segment in 2021 was 26%, unchanged from 2020. 



Date: ______________
Dear Mr. ________________

Letter of Indemnification and Release

1. Partner Communications Company Ltd. (“Partner”) hereby undertakes to indemnify 
you for any liability or expense that you incur or that is imposed on you in 
consequence of an action or an inaction by you (including prior to the date of this 
letter), in your capacity of an officer or director in Partner or as an officer or director 
on behalf of Partner in a company controlled by Partner or in which Partner has a 
direct or indirect interest (such companies being referred to herein as “Subsidiaries”), 
as follows: 

1.1. Financial liability that you incur or is imposed on you in accordance with a 
judgment, including a judgment given in a settlement or a judgment of an 
arbitrator approved by the court; provided, that such liability pertains to one or 
more of the events set out in Schedule I hereto, which, in the opinion of the 
Board of Directors of Partner, are anticipated in light of Partner's activities at 
the time of granting this undertaking and are at the sum or measurement of 
indemnification determined by the Board of Directors to be reasonable given 
the circumstances set forth herein; 

1.2. Reasonable litigation expenses, including legal fees, that you may incur or for 
which you will be ordered to pay by a court in the context of proceedings filed 
against you by or on behalf of Partner or by a third party, or in a criminal 
proceeding in which you are acquitted or if you are convicted, for an offense 
which does not require criminal intent; and

1.3. Reasonable litigation expenses, including legal fees that you may incur due to 
an investigation or proceeding conducted against you by an authority 
authorized to conduct such investigation or proceeding and which has ended 
without the filing of an indictment against you and either (i) no financial 
liability was imposed on you in lieu of criminal proceedings, or (ii) financial 
liability was imposed on you in lieu of criminal proceedings but the alleged 
criminal offense does not require proof of criminal intent, within the meaning 
of the relevant terms in or in the law referred to in the Israeli Companies Law 
of 1999 (the “Israeli Companies Law”), or in relation to a financial sanction 
("itzum caspi").

1.4.   Payment to the harmed party as a result of a violation set forth in Section 
52.54(a)(1)(a) ((�)(1)(�)��52) of the Israeli Securities Law of 1968 (the 
"Israeli Securities Law"), including by indemnification in advance.

1.5.   Expenses incurred in connection with a Procedure ("halich"), as defined in 
Section 56.8(a)(1) ((1)(�)�56) of the Israeli Securities Law (a "Procedure"), in 
connection with any of your affairs including, without limitation, reasonable 
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litigation expenses, including legal fees, including by indemnification in 
advance.

1.5A Expenses that you may incur with respect to a proceeding in accordance with 
the Restrictive Trade Practices Law of 1988, including reasonable litigation 
expenses that include attorney fees.

1.6.      Any other liability or expense indemnifiable under any applicable law.

2. Partner may not indemnify you for your liability for: (i) a breach of duty of loyalty 
towards Partner unless you have acted in good faith and had reasonable grounds to 
assume that the action would not harm Partner's best interest; (ii) a breach of duty of 
care done intentionally or recklessly ("pzizut") except for negligence; (iii) an act 
intended to unlawfully yield a personal profit; (iv) a fine, a civil fine ("knass ezrahi"), 
a financial sanction ("itzum caspi") or a penalty ("kofer") imposed upon you; and (v)  a 
Procedure ("halich").

Upon the occurrence of an event for which you may be entitled to be indemnified, 
subject to the terms of this letter (including the limitations as to amount in Section 
3.13) and any laws applicable at such time, Partner shall provide you with the 
necessary payments to cover all your expenses in respect of the legal proceedings in 
question, so that you will not have to pay for or finance them yourself. 

3. Indemnification pursuant to this letter will be subject to applicable law and to the 
following terms and conditions: 

3.1. That you notify Partner within a reasonable time of your learning of any legal 
proceedings instigated against you in connection with any event that may give 
rise to indemnification and that you provide Partner, or anyone specified by 
Partner, with any documents connected to the proceeding in question.

3.2. That Partner reserves the right to represent you in the proceedings or to appoint 
legal counsel of its choice for this purpose (unless its choice of legal counsel is 
unacceptable to you on reasonable grounds). Partner or such legal counsel will 
take all necessary steps to bring the matter to a close and will keep you 
informed of key steps in the process.  The appointed counsel will be bound by 
a fiduciary duty to you and to Partner. If a conflict of interests should arise 
between the appointed counsel and yourself, counsel will inform Partner and 
you will be entitled to appoint a different counsel reasonably acceptable to 
Partner and the terms of this indemnification agreement shall apply to the new 
appointment. If Partner should decide to settle by arbitration or by mediation 
or by settlement, it shall be allowed to do so; provided, that you do not incur 
any additional expense or liability due to such arbitration, mediation or 
settlement or that you have otherwise agreed to such arbitration, mediation or 
settlement. If Partner so requests, you will sign any document that will 
empower it or any appointed counsel to represent you and defend you in any 
proceeding as stated above. You will cooperate as reasonably demanded of you 
with Partner and any appointed legal counsel. Partner shall cover all related 
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expenses so that you will not have to make any payments or incur any 
expenses yourself.

3.3. That whether or not Partner shall operate in accordance with section 3.2 above, 
indemnification shall still cover all and every kind of expense incurred by you 
that is included in section 1 of this letter so that you will not have to pay or 
finance them yourself.  You will not be indemnified for any expenses arising 
from a settlement, mediation or arbitration unless Partner has agreed to the 
settlement, mediation or arbitration. 

3.4. That upon your request for payment in connection with any event according to 
this indemnification letter, Partner shall complete all the necessary 
arrangements required by the law for payment and shall act to receive all 
necessary authorizations, if demanded. If any authorization should be required 
for payment, and the payment is not authorized for any reason, this payment or 
part of it will be subject to the approval of the court (if relevant) and Partner 
shall act in order to receive authorization. 

3.5. That in the event that you are paid for any sums in accordance with this letter 
of indemnification and release in connection with a legal proceeding, and later 
it becomes clear that you were not entitled to such payments, the sums will be 
considered as a loan given to you by Partner subject to the lowest interest rate 
for purposes of Section 3(9) of the Income Tax Ordinance (or any other 
legislation replacing it) which does not cause a taxable benefit. You shall be 
required to repay such amounts in accordance with the payment arrangements 
fixed by Partner, and at such time as Partner shall request in writing.

3.6 That you shall remain entitled to indemnification by Partner as provided in this 
letter of indemnification and release even when you are no longer an officer or 
director in Partner or in a Subsidiary on Partner’s behalf, as long as the events 
that led to the payments, costs and expenses for which indemnification is being 
sought are a result of an action or an inaction taken by you as such officer or 
director. 

3.7 The terms contained in this letter will be construed in accordance with the 
Israeli Companies Law and in the absence of any definition in the Israeli 
Companies Law, pursuant to the Israeli Securities Law. Schedule I hereto 
constitutes an integral part hereof. 

3.8 The obligations of Partner under this letter shall be interpreted broadly and in a 
manner that shall facilitate its implementation, to the fullest extent permitted by 
law, including, ipso facto, as further expanded in the future, and for the 
purposes for which it was intended. Without derogating from the generality of 
the foregoing, it is clarified that with respect to any expansion of 
indemnification that is currently, or will in the future be, permitted by law 
following incorporation of specific provisions in Partner’s Articles of 
Association, such expansion be in effect ipso facto even prior to such 
incorporation, based on Article 34.1 of the Articles of Association, which 
allows indemnification to the fullest extent permitted by law. In the event of a 
conflict between any provision of this letter and any provision of the law that 
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cannot be superseded, changed or amended, said provision of the law shall 
supersede the specific provision in this letter, but shall not limit or diminish the 
validity of the remaining provisions of this letter.

3.9 The indemnification under this letter will enter into effect upon your signing a 
copy of the same in the appropriate place, and the delivery of such signed copy 
to Partner. It is hereby agreed that your agreement to accept this letter 
constitutes your irrevocable agreement that any previous undertaking of 
Partner for indemnification towards you, to the extent granted, shall become 
void automatically upon your signing this letter. Notwithstanding the above, if 
this letter shall be declared or found void for any reason whatsoever, then any 
previous undertaking of Partner for indemnification towards you, which this 
letter is intended to replace, shall remain in full force and effect. 

3.10 Partner may, in its sole discretion and at any time, revoke its undertaking to 
indemnify hereunder, or reduce the Maximum Indemnity Amount (as defined 
in section 3.13 below) thereunder, or limit the events to which it applies, either 
in regard to all the officers or to some of them, to the extent such change or 
revocation relates solely to events that occur after the date of such change; 
provided, that prior notice has been given to you of its intention to do so, in 
writing, at least 60 days before the date on which its decision will enter into 
effect. No such decision will have a retroactive effect of any kind whatsoever, 
and the letter of indemnification and release prior to such change or revocation, 
as the case may be, will continue to apply and be in full force and effect for all 
purposes in relation to any event that occurred prior to such change or 
revocation, even if the proceeding in respect thereof is filed against you after 
the change or revocation of the letter of indemnification and release. In all 
other cases, this letter may not be changed unless Partner and you have agreed 
in writing. 

3.11 This undertaking to indemnify is not a contract for the benefit of any third 
party, including any insurer, and is not assignable nor will any insurer have the 
right to demand participation of Partner in any payment for which an insurer is 
made liable under any insurance agreement that has been made with it, with the 
exception of the deductible specified in such agreement. For the avoidance of 
any doubt in the event of death this letter will apply to you and your estate.

3.12 No  waiver, delay, forbearance to act or extension granted by Partner or by you 
will be construed in any circumstance as a waiver of the rights hereunder or by 
law, and will not prevent any such party from taking all legal and other steps as 
will be required in order to enforce such rights.

3.13 The aggregate indemnification amount payable by Partner to all directors, 
officers and other indemnified persons (including, inter alia, officers and 
directors nominated on behalf of Partner in Subsidiaries), pursuant to all letters 
of indemnification issued to them by Partner on or after October 17, 2013, 
which indemnification letters include a maximum indemnity amount 
substantially similar to the Maximum Indemnity Amount under this Section 
3.13 (the “Maximum Indemnity Amount”), for any occurrence of an event 
set out in Schedule I hereto (each, an “Event”), will not exceed 25% of 
shareholders equity (according to the latest reviewed or audited financial 
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statements approved by Partner's Board of Directors prior to approval of the 
indemnification payment); provided, however, that under the circumstances 
where indemnification for the same Event is to be made in parallel to you 
under this letter and to one or more indemnified persons under indemnification 
letters issued (or to be issued) by Partner containing a maximum indemnity 
amount which is the higher of 25% of shareholders equity and 25% of market 
capitalization (the "Combined Maximum Indemnity Amount"), the 
Maximum Indemnity Amount for you hereby shall be adjusted so it does not 
exceed the Combined Maximum Indemnity Amount to which any other 
indemnified person is entitled under any other indemnification letter containing 
the Combined Maximum Indemnity Amount.

3.14 The Maximum Indemnity Amount shall not be affected in any way by the 
existence of, or payment under, insurance policies. Payment of the 
indemnification shall not affect your right to receive insurance payments, if 
you receive the same (either personally or through Partner or on your behalf) 
and Partner will not be required to indemnity you for any sums that were, in 
fact, already paid to you or for you in respect of insurance or any other 
indemnification obligations made to you by any third party.  In the event there 
is any payment made under this letter and such payment is covered by an 
insurance policy, Partner shall be entitled to collect such amount of payment 
from the insurance proceeds. You will return to Partner any amount that you 
may receive pursuant to this letter, which is based on data or financial results 
that will later on be found to be erroneous and will be restated in Partner's 
financial statements, as will be implemented by Partner's Board of Directors.

3.15 If the indemnification amount Partner is required to pay to its directors and 
other indemnified persons, as mentioned in section 1 above, exceeds at any 
time the Maximum Indemnity Amount or the balance of the Maximum 
Indemnity Amount in accordance with section 3.13 above after deducting any 
indemnification amounts paid or payable by Partner to any of its directors or 
other indemnified persons at such time (all, as determined and clarified in 
Section 3.13 above or in the other applicable indemnification letters), such 
Maximum Indemnification Amount or remaining balance will be allocated 
among the directors and the other indemnified persons entitled to 
indemnification, in the same ratio as with respect to any Event the amount for 
which each individual director or other indemnified person may be indemnified 
is to the aggregate amount that all of the relevant directors and other 
indemnified persons involved in the Event may be indemnified.

3.16 The foregoing does not derogate from Partner's right to indemnify you 
retroactively in accordance with that permitted by the Articles of Association 
of Partner and applicable law.

4. Release

4.1 The Company releases you in advance, subject to the provisions of the 
Companies Law, from your liability towards the Company for any damage 
caused and/or that will be caused to the Company, insofar as will be caused, in 
consequence of the breach of your duty of care toward the Company while 
acting in good faith, in your capacity as an officer or director in Partner or the 
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Subsidiaries for the events and to the extent that will be allowed at the time of 
release by law. The said release from liability will be for amounts for which 
the officers or directors are not entitled to indemnification in accordance with 
the Company's D&O insurance policy.

4.2  Partner may not release you for your liability for: (i) a breach of duty of 
loyalty towards Partner unless you have acted in good faith and had 
reasonable grounds to assume that the action would not harm Partner's best 
interest; (ii) a breach of duty of care done intentionally or recklessly ("pzizut") 
except for negligence; (iii) an act intended to unlawfully yield a personal 
profit; (iv) a fine, a civil fine ("knass ezrahi"), a financial sanction ("itzum 
caspi") or a penalty ("kofer") imposed upon you and (v) a breach of duty of 
care in a Distribution ("haluka"). 
 

4.3  In addition to the limitations of the release according to any law, the release 
shall not apply to the following cases:

a. Any counterclaim of the Company against an officer or 
director as a result of a claim of an officer or director against the 
Company, except for when the claim of the officer is to protect 
his rights that stem from labor law in accordance with the law or 
a personal employment agreement between himself and the 
Company or a resolution duly adopted by the Company's organs 
in respect of directors remuneration. 

b. Resolution or transaction in which the controlling shareholder 
or any officer or director in the Company (including other 
officers or directors than the officer or director being granted the 
release) has a personal interest.

5. Sections 3.6-3.9 and 3.11-3.12 above will apply Mutatis Mutandis to release. 

6. In sections 4 and 5 -"acting" – or any derivative of it as set forth in the Companies 
Law, including also a decision and/or omission and including all of the actions taken 
by you before the date of this letter during the periods in which you were employed 
and/or served as an officer or director of the Company and/or during the periods in 
which you were an officer, employee or agent of the Company in another corporation 
in which the Company directly or indirectly holds securities.

7. For the avoidance of doubt, it hereby determined that this letter of indemnification and 
release shall not cancel or derogate or constitute a waiver of any other indemnification 
that the officer or director is entitled to in accordance with the provisions of any law or 
in accordance with any previous undertaking of the Company and/or previous 
agreement with the Company, insofar as the said undertaking is legally valid, and from 
any other resolution of the Company to grant indemnification to an officer or director 
in the Company. It is hereby clarified that the Company will not be obligated to 
indemnify an officer or director for the same event, in accordance with any previous 
undertaking (if and insofar as it will be valid) as well as in accordance with this letter 
of indemnification and release. In any case in which an officer or director can be 
indemnified, by law, both in accordance with this Letter of indemnification and 
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release and a previous undertaking of the Company, the Company's Audit Committee 
(and insofar as the majority of its members have a Personal Interest, a special 
committee of two directors that do not have a Personal interest shall be formed) shall 
decide, subject to all legal provisions, according to which undertaking the officer or 
director should be indemnified.

You should be aware that, insofar as indemnification for liabilities arising under the United 
States Securities Act of 1933 (the “U.S. Securities Act”) may be permitted to Partner’s 
directors and officers, Partner has been advised that in the opinion of the U.S. Securities and 
Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) such indemnification is against public policy as 
expressed in the U.S. Securities Act and is, therefore, unenforceable. In the event of a claim 
for such indemnification, Partner will (in accordance with an undertaking given to the SEC), 
unless in the opinion of its counsel the matter has been settled by controlling precedent, 
submit to a court of appropriate jurisdiction the question whether such indemnification is 
against public policy as expressed in the U.S. Securities Act and will be governed by the final 
adjudication of such issue.

The law of the State of Israel shall govern this Letter of Indemnification and Release and all 
issues related thereto, without giving effect to any conflicts of law principles. The courts in 
Tel Aviv, Israel shall have the exclusive local and international jurisdiction, in connection 
with this Letter of Indemnification and Release, except if an indemnification claim is related 
to a legal proceeding, already filed by a third party in a different court.

Respectfully,

______________________
On behalf of                                                                                                                                    
Partner Communications Company Ltd.

I accept the terms and conditions of the above. I am aware that Partner has granted (and may 
grant) indemnification letters with maximum indemnity amounts different from the Maximum 
Indemnity Amount under this letter (including, without limitation, the Combined Maximum 
Indemnity Amount) and consequently, the beneficiaries of those indemnification letters may 
receive higher indemnification amounts than me, and I will have no claim against Partner in 
that respect. I am also aware that my agreement to accept this letter constitutes my irrevocable 
agreement that any previous undertakings of Partner for indemnification, to the extent 
granted, should become void automatically upon my signing this letter. Notwithstanding the 
above, if this indemnification letter shall be void for any reason whatsoever, then, any 
previous undertaking of Partner for indemnification towards me shall remain in full force and 
effect. 

Signature: _____________

Name:  ________________

Date:  ________________
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Schedule I

Subject to the provisions of the law, the following are the events referred to in section 1.1 of 
the Letter of Indemnification and Release: 

1. Any offering of Partner’s securities to private investors and/or to the public and listing 
of such securities, and/or the offer by Partner to purchase securities from the public 
and/or from private investors or other holders, and any undertakings, representations, 
warranties and other obligations related to any such offering and Partner’s status as a 
public company or as an issuer of securities.

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, Partner's public offering of equity in 
1999, public offering of debt securities in 2000, public offering of debt securities in 
2005 (including any subsequent offer and sale of the debt securities of that class), 
redemption of debt securities in 2005, shelf registration in 2009, private offering of 
debt securities in 2009, public offering of debt securities in 2010, private offering of 
debt securities in 2011, public offering of debt securities in 2011 and shelf registration 
in 2012.

2. All matters relating to Partner’s status, obligations and/or actions as a public company, 
and/or the fact that Partner’s securities were issued to the public or to private investors 
and/or are or were traded on a stock exchange (including, without limitation, Nasdaq 
stock market, the Tel Aviv Stock Exchange and the London Stock Exchange), whether 
in Israel or abroad.

3. The erection, construction and operation of Partner’s mobile telephone network, 
including the erection and operation of antennas and other equipment and 
environmental issues, including undertakings, activities and communications with 
authorities regarding the foregoing and including the work performed by Partner’s 
subcontractors in connection therewith.

4. The purchase, distribution, marketing and sale of handsets, other terminal equipment 
and any other of Partner’s products and/or any marketing plans and/or publications.

5. A Transaction, Extraordinary Transaction, or an Activity within the meaning of 
Section 1 of the Israeli Companies Law, including negotiations for entering into a 
Transaction or an Activity, the transfer, sale, acquisition or charge of assets or 
liabilities (including securities) or the grant or acceptance of a right in any one of 
them, receiving credit and the grant of collateral, as well as any act directly or 
indirectly involving such a Transaction or Activity.

6. Investments which Partner and/or its Subsidiaries and/or its affiliates make in other 
entities whether before and/or after the investment is made, entering into the 
transaction, the execution, development and monitoring thereof, including actions 
taken or alleged omissions by you in the name of Partner and/or any subsidiary thereof 
and/or any affiliates thereof as a director, officer, employee and/or a board observer of 
the entity which is the subject of the transaction and the like.

7. The merger acquisition or other business combination or restructuring, or any such 
proposed transaction and any decision related to it (by Partner or another person) of 
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Partner, any subsidiary thereof and/or any affiliate thereof with, of or into another 
entity and/or the sale or proposed sale of the operations and/or business, or part 
thereof, or any dissolution, receivership, creditors' arrangement, stay of proceeding or 
any similar proceeding, of Partner, any of its Subsidiaries and/or any of its affiliates.

8. Tender offers for Partner's securities, including in connection with Partner's Board of 
Directors' opinion regarding a Special Tender Offer as defined in the Israeli 
Companies Law or refraining from such opinion.

9. Labor relations and/or employment matters in Partner, its Subsidiaries and/or its 
affiliates and trade relations of Partner, its Subsidiaries and/or its affiliates, including 
with independent contractors, customers, suppliers and service providers.

10. The testing of products developed and/or marketed by Partner, its Subsidiaries and/or 
its affiliates and/or in connection with the distribution, sale, license or use of such 
products.

11. The intellectual property of Partner, its Subsidiaries and/or its affiliates, and its 
protection, including the registration or assertion of rights to intellectual property and 
the defense of claims relating to intellectual property infringement.

12. Actions taken (or alleged omissions) pursuant to or in accordance with the policies and 
procedures of Partner, its Subsidiaries and/or its affiliates, whether such policies and 
procedures are published or not.

13. The borrowing or other receipt of funds and any other financing transaction or 
arrangement, or any such proposed transaction or arrangement, whether or not 
requiring the imposition of any pledge or lien.

14. Any Distribution (“haluka” - as defined in the Israeli Companies Law).

Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, any share repurchase and distribution 
of dividends, including, without limitation, in 2005 and distribution of dividends 
during the calendar years of 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 (including the special 
dividend distribution as of March 2010, approved by the District Court), 2011 and 
2012.

15. Taking part in or performing tenders.

16. The making of any statement, including a representation or opinion made by an officer 
or director of Partner in such capacity whether in public or private, including during 
meetings of the Board of Directors or any committee thereof.

17. An act in contradiction to the Articles of Association or Memorandum of Partner.

18. Any action or omission in connection with voting rights in Partner.

19. Any action or decision in relation to work safety and/or working conditions.

20. Actions taken pursuant to any of Partner’s licenses, or any breach thereof.
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21. Decisions and/or actions pertaining to the environment and/or the safety of handsets, 
including radiation or dangerous substances.

22. A payment to the harmed party as a result of a violation set forth in Section 
52.54(a)(1)(a) ((�)(1)(�)��52) of the Israeli Securities Law.

22A.   Expenses incurred with respect to a proceeding in accordance with the Restrictive 
Trade Practices Law of 1988, including reasonable litigation expenses that include 
attorney fees.

 23. Negotiation for, signing and performance or non-performance of insurance policies.

24. Events associated with the drawing up and/or approval of financial statements, 
including the acts or omissions relating to the adoption of financial reports (including 
International Financial Reporting Standards IFRS), preparation and signing Partner's 
financial statements, consolidated or on a sole basis, as applicable, as well as the 
editing or approval of the Directors' report or business plans and forecasts, providing 
an estimate of the  effectiveness of Partner's internal controls and other matters in 
connection with the financial statements and Directors' report and provision of 
statements relating to the financial statements.

25. Events associated with business plans, including pricing, marketing, distribution, 
directives to employees, customers and suppliers and collaborations with other parties.

26. Reporting and/or filing of applications or reports, under any applicable law (including 
immediate reports, periodic or other), disclosure, messaging, providing (or failure to 
provide) information, statements, declarations, evaluations, presentations, opinions, 
reviews, requests for approval, or otherwise to any governmental or quasi-
governmental authority, stock exchange or regulatory body whether in Israel or 
abroad.

27. Actions and any legal process, whether in Israel or abroad, relating, directly or 
indirectly, to any governmental or quasi-governmental authority, including with 
respect to trade restrictions, restrictive arrangements, mergers and monopolies.

28. Investigations conducted against you by any governmental or quasi-governmental 
authority.

29. Class actions, including class actions in respect of the environment, consumer 
protection or complaints, roaming, content services, the Communications Law of 
1982, any of Partner’s licenses, Partner’s contracts, and anti-trust, derivative actions or 
any other legal proceedings against you and/or Partner and/or any of its Subsidiaries in 
connection with your role and/or activities in Partner or on its behalf.

30. All matters relating to the change of control transaction, entered into on August 12, 
2009, between Advent Investments Pte. Ltd. and Scailex Corporation Ltd. (“Scailex”), 
under which Scailex agreed to acquire 78,940,104 Ordinary Shares of Partner.

31. All matters relating to a potential sale of Partner’s securities by any Material 
Shareholder (“ba’al menaya mahuti”) of Partner.
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32. Transactions or agreements entered into between Partner and any of its shareholders or 
between shareholders of Partner.

33. Transfer of information to shareholders or potential shareholders of Partner, including 
Interested Parties.

34. All matters relating to breach of Partner contracts.

35. Activities Partner may pursue in new areas such as transmission services, access to 
high-speed Internet services, fixed line and long-distance telephony services, cable 
television and other communication services to subscribers.

36. Establishment, registration, administration, or making use of registries and 
information databases, including as required by the provisions of the Protection of 
Privacy Law of 1981 (including regulations, orders, directives, rules or provisions and 
instructions) issued by any competent authority or by virtue of those authorities and 
any decision or other action relating to said law.

37. A suspicion as to perpetration of an offence and/or breach of a statutory obligation 
under any law because of an action taken by Partner and that, according to any law, 
can also be attributed to you and/or because of an action taken by you by virtue of 
your function as officer or director in Partner and/or that was taken for the sake of 
Partner and/or on its behalf.

38. A payment or non-payment to any governmental authority under any applicable law, 
including the payment of income tax, sales tax, betterment tax on real estate, transfer 
taxes, excise, value added tax, stamp tax, customs, National Insurance payments, 
municipal levies, royalty fees or any other fees, levies, financial sanction ("itzum 
caspi") in connection with any of Partner’s licenses, and including any kind of fines, 
interest and linkage increments.

39. Any other actions which can be anticipated for companies of the type of Partner, and 
which the Board of Directors may deem appropriate.

40. Any of the foregoing events, relating to your service as an officer or director in any of 
Partner's Subsidiaries on Partner's behalf.

41. Any of the foregoing events, as it may relate to 012 Smile Telecom Ltd. or to any 
company in which it has a direct or indirect interest.

In each of the events specified above, including, without limitation, in connection with 
documents relating to these matters, and in connection with actions or decisions relating to 
these matters, and in connection with representations and undertakings made relating to these 
matters, including, without limitation, such representations and undertakings made towards 
third parties (including, without limitation, governmental authorities) or towards Partner or 
anyone on its behalf (including, without limitation, advisors, such as accountants, lawyers, 
etc.).

In each of the events specified above, reference to any action includes also failure to perform 
an action (omission) or performing it poorly (including, without limitation, non- performance 
of an action required under law or performing it in a poor manner that does not comply with 
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the legal requirements), and including, without limitation, making a decision; in each case, 
unless the context in a specific item above does not allow this interpretation.

* * * * *
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Annex “C”
Translation of Sections 21-24 of the License

21. Transfer of Means of Control

21.1 A holding of ten percent (10%) or more of any of the Means of Control in the 
Licensee will not be transferred,  either directly or indirectly, either all at 
once or in parts, unless given the Minister’s prior written consent.

21.2 Any of the said Means of Control, or a part of them, in the Licensee, may not 
be transferred in any way,  if as a result of the transfer, control in the 
Licensee will be transferred from one person to another, unless given the 
Minister’s prior written consent.

21.3 No control shall be acquired, either direct or indirect, in the Licensee, and no 
person, whether on his/her own or together with his/her relative or with those 
acting with him/her on a regular basis, shall acquire in it ten percent (10%) or 
more of any of the Means of Control in the Licensee, whether all at once or 
in parts, unless given the Minister’s prior written consent.

21.4 Deleted1

21.5 2Despite the provisions of sub-clauses 21.1 and 21.3 above, should there 
occur a transfer or purchase of a percentage of Tradable Means of Control in 
the Licensee requiring consent under clauses 21.1 and 21.3 (other than a 
transfer of purchase that results in a transfer of control), without the 
Minister’s consent having been sought, the Licensee shall report this to the 
Minister in writing, and shall make an application to the Minister to approve 
the said transfer or purchase of the Means of Control in the Licensee, within 
21 days of the date on which the Licensee became aware of such.

In this Clause 21, “Tradable Means of Control” – Means of Control, 
including Global or American Depository Shares (GDR’s or ADR’s), or 
similar certificates, registered for trading on the securities exchange in Israel 
or overseas, and offered to the public by prospectus, or held by the public in 
Israel or overseas.

21.6 Neither the entry into an underwriting agreement relating to the issue or sale 
of securities to the public, the registration for trading on the securities 
exchange in Israel or overseas, nor the deposit or registration of securities 
with a registration company or with a depository agent or a custodian for the 
purpose of registration of GDRs or ADRs or similar certificates relating to 
the issue or sale of securities to the public shall in and of themselves be 
considered as a transfer of Means of Control in the Licensee3.

1 Amendment No. 52
2 Amendment No. 3
3 Amendment No. 4
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21.7       (a) Irregular Holdings shall be noted in the Licensee’s members register 
(the list of shareholders) stating the fact that they are irregular, 
immediately upon the Licensee’s becoming aware of this, and a notice 
of the  registration shall be given by the Licensee to the holder of 
such Irregular Holding and to the Minister.

(b) Irregular Holdings, noted as aforesaid in clause 21.7(a), shall not 
provide the holder with any rights, and shall be “dormant shares” as 
defined in Section 308 of the Companies Law 5759-1999, expect in the 
case of the receipt of a dividend or any other distribution to 
shareholders (especially the right to participate in an allotment of rights 
calculated on the basis of holdings of Means of Control in the 
Licensee, although holdings accumulated as aforesaid shall also be 
considered as Irregular Holdings), and therefore no action or claim of 
the activation of a right by virtue of the Irregular Holdings shall have 
any force, except in the case of the receipt of a dividend or any other 
distribution as aforesaid.

Without derogating form the generality of the above:

(1) A shareholder who takes part in a vote during a meeting of 
shareholders shall advise the Licensee prior to the vote, or in the 
case of documentary voting on the voting document, whether his 
holdings in the Licensee or his voting require consent under 
clauses 21 and 23 of the License or not; where a shareholder does 
not so advise, he may not vote and his vote shall not count.

(2) No director of the Licensee shall be appointed, elected or 
transferred from office by virtue of an Irregular Holding; should 
a director be appointed, elected or transferred from office as 
aforesaid, the said appointment, election or transfer, as the case 
may be, shall be of no effect.

(3) Irregular Holdings shall not provide voting rights in the general 
meeting;

For the purposes of this clause:
“Irregular Holdings” – the holding of Tradable Means of Control 
without the Minister’s consent as required under clause 23, and all 
holdings of a person holding Tradable Means of Control acting 
contrary to the provisions of clause 24; for so long as the Minister’s 
consent under clause 21 has been sought but not yet granted, or whilst 
there is a situation of breach of the provisions of clauses 23 or 24.

(c) The provisions of clause 21.7 shall be included in the Articles of 
Association of the Licensee, including the provisions of clause 21.9, 
mutatis mutandis.

21.8 For so long as the Articles of Association of the Licensee provide as set out 
in clause 21.7, and the Licensee acts in accordance with the provisions of 
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clauses 21.5 and 21.7, and for so long as none of the holdings of 1Founding 
Shareholders or their Substitutes  reduces to less than  23 264% of all Means 
of Control in the Licensee immediately prior to the listing of the shares for 
trade, and for so long as the Articles of Association of the Licensee provide 
that a majority of the voting power in the general meeting of the Licensee 
may appoint all members of the Board of Directors of the Licensee, other 
than external directors required by any law and/or the relevant Exchange 
Rules, the Irregular Holdings shall not, in and of themselves, give rise to a 
cause for the cancellation of the Licensee.
'For the purpose of this article: "Founding Shareholders or their Substitutes"- 
Matbit Telecommunications Systems Ltd., Advent Investment Pte Limited, 
Matav Investments Ltd and Tapuz Cellular Systems limited Partnership as 
well as any other entity that one of them has transferred the Means of Control 
in the Licensee to, with the Minister's consent, before 4.7.2004 (each of the 
above entities shall be termed "Founding Shareholder"), as well as any other 
entity that a Founding Shareholder will transfer Means of Control in the 
Licensee to after 4.7.2004, provided that the Minister gave his written 
consent that the transferree be considered for this matter as the Founding 
Shareholder's substitute from the date to be determined by the Minister, 
including anyone that is an Israel Entity as defined in Article 22A.2, that 
purchased Means of Control from the Licensee and received the Minister's 
approval to be considered a founding shareholder or their substitute from the 
date set by the Minister5, unless an instruction was given to the Licensee in 
accordance with article 13 of the law, as set forth in section 22A.2(2)6. Such 
consent under this article does not exempt the Licensee from the obligation 
to receive the Minister's consent for every transfer of the Means of Control in 
the Licensee that requires the Minister's consent in accordance with any other 
article in the License.7

21.9 The provisions of clauses 21.5 through 21.8 shall not apply to the founding 
shareholders or their substitutes.8.

22. Placing a Charge on Means of Control

Any shareholder in the company that holds the License, or a shareholder in 
an Interested Party in the same company, is not allowed to encumber his/her 
shares, in a way that the realization of the charge would cause a change in the 
ownership in ten percent (10%) or more of any of the Means of Control in 
the Licensee, unless the charge agreement includes a constraint, according to 
which the charge cannot be realized without prior consent, in writing, by the 
Minister.

1 Amendment No. 25
2 Amendment No. 9
3 Amendment No. 28
4Amendment No. 31
5 Amendment No. 31
6 Amendment No. 105
7 Amendment No. 25
8 Amendment No. 31
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22A. Israeli Requirement and Holdings of Founding Shareholders or their 
Substitutes1

22A.1 The total cumulative holdings of the "Founding Shareholders or their 
Substitutes", as defined in Article 21.8, (including anyone that is an “Israeli 
Entity” as defined in Article 22.2A below, that purchased Means of Control 
from the Licensee and received the Minister’s approval to be considered a 
founding shareholder or their substitute from the date set by the Minister), 
and are bound by an agreement for the fulfillment of the provisions of Article 
22A of the License (in this Article they will all be considered “Founding 
Shareholders or their Substitutes”) shall not be reduced to less than 26% of 
each of the Means of Control in the Licensee.

22A.2 2(1) The total cumulative holdings of  "Israeli Entities", one or more, which 
are among the Founding Shareholders or their Substitutes, out of the total 
holdings of Founding Shareholders or their Substitutes as set forth in Article 
22.1A above, shall be at a rate not less than five percent (5%) of the total 
issued share capital and from each of the Means of Control in the Licensee. 
For this matter, the issued share capital of the Licensee shall be calculated by 
deducting the number of “Dormant Shares” held by the Licensee.

In this Article- 

Israeli Entity"- for an individual-an Israeli Citizen or Resident of Israel, for 
a corporation- a corporation that was incorporated in Israel and an individual 
that is an Israeli Citizen and a Resident of Israel, controls the corporation 
either directly or indirectly, as long as the indirect control shall be only 
through a corporation that was incorporated in Israel, one or more. However, 
for the matter of indirect holdings, the Prime Minister and the Minister of 
Communications may approve holdings through a corporation that has not 
been incorporated in Israel, as long as the corporation does not directly hold 
shares in the Licensee, and only if they are convinced that this will not 
derogate from the provisions of this article. For this matter, “Israeli 
Citizen”- as defined in the Nationality Law, 5712-1952; “Resident”-as 
defined in the Inhabitants Registry Law, 5725-1965; "Dormant Shares"- as 
defined in Article 308 of the Companies Law, 5759-1999. 

(2) Sub-section (1) shall not apply, if the corporation was given an 
instruction in accordance with Article 13 of the Law, as set forth in Article 
22A.2(2).3

1 Amendment No. 31-Amendment No. 31 will come into effect upon completion of all of the 
obligations set forth in article 22A and no later than 30 June 2005, in accordance with the Ministry 
of Communications document 62/05-4031 dated 13 March 2005

2 Amendment No. 105

3 Amendment No. 122-"On 17.2.21 Partner Communications Company Ltd. was given a provision in 

accordance with section 13 of the Telecommunications Law that includes alternative 

requirements for the Israeli requirement as set forth in Article 22.2A(2) of this License".
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22A.3 At least one tenth (10%) of the members of the Board of Directors of the 
Licensee shall be appointed by the  Israeli Entities as set forth in Article 
22A.2. Notwithstanding the above-mentioned, for this matter- if the Board of 
Directors of the Licensee shall consist of  up to 14 members – at least one 
director shall be appointed by the Israeli entities as set forth in Article 22.2A 
above, if the Board of Directors of the Licensee shall consist of between 15 
and 24 members-at least 2 directors shall be appointed by the Israeli entities 
as set forth in Article 22.2A above and so on and so forth. 1This Article shall 
not apply if an instruction was given to the Licensee in accordance with 
Article 13 of the Law, as set forth in Article 22A.2(2).

22A.4 The Licensee's Board of Directors shall appoint from among its members 
that have security clearance and security compatibility  to be determined by 
the General Security Service  (hereinafter: “ Directors with Clearance”) a 
committee to be designated  "the  Committee for Security Matters", or CSM. 

The CSM  shall consist of at least 4  Directors with Clearance  including at 
least one External Director. Security matters shall be discussed, subject to 
Article 22A.5, solely by the  CSM. A resolution that was adopted or an 
action that was taken by the CSM , shall have the same effect as a resolution 
that was adopted or an action that was taken by the Board of Directors and 
shall be discussed by the Board of Directors only if necessary in accordance 
with Article 22A.5 and subject to Article 22A.5.

In this article-“security matters”-as defined in the Bezeq Order 
(Determination of Essential Service Provided by “Bezeq”, the Israeli 
Telecommunications Company Ltd), 5757-1997, as of March 9, 2005. 

22A.5 Security matters that the Board of Directors or the Audit Committee of the 
Licensee shall be required to consider  in accordance with the mandatory  
provisions of the Companies Law, 5759-1999, or in accordance with the 
mandatory  provisions of any other law that applies to the Licensee shall be 
discussed, if they need to be discussed by the Board of Directors or the Audit 
Committee, only in the presence of  Directors with Clearance. Directors that 
do not have security clearance shall not be allowed to participate in this 
Board of Directors or Audit Committee meeting and shall not be entitled to 
receive information or to review documents that relate to this matter. The 
legal quorum for such meetings shall include only Directors with Clearance.
The Licensee may set out in its Articles of Association that an Office Holder, 
who in the capacity of his position or based on the provisions of the law or 
the Articles of Association, should have received information or participate 
in security matter meetings and this was denied him due to Article 22A.5, 
will be released  from any liability for any claim of breach of  duty of care 
towards the Licensee, if the breach of duty of care was  a result of his or her 
inability to participate in the meetings or receive  information.

1 Amendment No. 105
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22A.6 The shareholders at a general meeting shall not be entitled to assume, 
delegate, transfer or exercise any of the authorities  granted  to another organ 
in the company, regarding security matters

22A.7    (a) The Minister shall appoint an observer for the Board of Directors and 
committee meetings, that has security clearance and security 
compatibility that will be determined by the General Security Services.

(b) The observer shall be a government employee,  qualified  to serve  as a 
director, in accordance with Chapter C of the Government Companies 
Law, 5735-1975.

(c) In addition, and without derogating from any duty imposed on him by 
any law, the observer shall be bound by confidentiality towards the 
Licensee, except as the matter may be required  to fulfill his  
responsibilities as an observer. The observer shall not act as an 
observer or in any other capacity for any entity that deals with the 
provision of telecommunication services and directly competes  with 
the Licensee, and shall refrain from any conflict of interest between his 
position as an observer and between the Licensee, excluding conflicts 
of interest that result from his being a government employee that is 
fulfilling his responsibilities  as an observer with the Licensee. The 
observer shall undertake towards the Licensee not to serve as an 
observer or an office holder, and not to fulfill a position or be 
employed, directly or indirectly by any  entity that directly competes  
with the Licensee or  has a conflict of interest with the Licensee, 
excluding a conflict of interest that results from his being a government 
employee that is fulfilling his responsibilities as an observer with the 
Licensee throughout the duration of his position as an observer with the 
Licensee and for eighteen months  after he completes this term.
In any case of a dispute regarding a conflict of interest of the observer, 
the matter shall be decided by the State Attorney General or a person 
on his behalf.

(d) Notices to Board of Director and committee meetings, including the 
CSM, shall be sent to the observer and he shall be entitled to 
participate as an observer in each such meeting.

(e) The observer's entitlement to receive information from the Licensee, 
shall be the same as a director. If the Licensee believes that certain 
information that is sensitive business information is not required by the 
observer in order to fulfill his duties, the Licensee may delay delivery  
of such information to the observer and shall inform him accordingly. 
If the observer believes that he should receive such information, the 
matter shall be decided by the head of the General Security Services.

(f) If the observer believes  that the Licensee adopted or is about to adopt a 
resolution regarding security matters, contrary to the provisions of the 
License, contrary to Article 13 of the Law or contrary to the provisions 
of Article 11 of the General Security Services Law, 5762-2002, he 
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shall immediately notify the Licensee in writing. Such a notice shall be 
sent to the chairman of the Board of Directors and to the chairman of 
the CSM  and adequate time shall be given, under the circumstances of 
the case, to remedy the breach or to change the resolution, if possible.

22A.8 The provisions of Article 22A of the License shall be adopted in the Articles 
of Association of the Licensee. 
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Section C: Cross-Ownership and Conflict of Interests

23. Prohibition of Cross-Ownership

23.1 The Licensee, an Office Holder or an Interested Party in the Licensee, as well 
as an Office Holder in an Interested Party in the Licensee, shall not hold, 
either directly or indirectly, five percent (5%) or more of any Means of 
Control in a Competing MRT Operator, and shall not serve as an Office 
Holder in a Competing MRT Operator or in an Interested Party in a 
Competing MRT Operator; for this matter, “Holding” includes holding as an 
agent.

23.2 Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph 23.1, the Minister may, based 
upon written request, permit an Office Holder in the Licensee to serve as an 
Office Holder in an Interested Party in a Competing MRT Operator, or 
permit an Office Holder in an Interested Party in the Licensee to serve as an 
Office Holder in a Competing MRT Operator or in an Interested Party in a 
Competing MRT Operator, if he is satisfied, that this will not harm the 
competition in MRT Services;  the Minister may condition the granting of 
such permit on conditions that the Office Holder must fulfill for prevention 
of harm to the competition as aforesaid.

23.3 Notwithstanding the provisions of Paragraph 23.1, an Interested Party in the 
Licensee, which is a trust fund, an insurance company, an investment 
company or a pension fund, may hold up to ten percent (10%) of the Means 
of Control in a Competing MRT Operator, and an Interested Party in a 
Competing MRT Operator, which is a trust fund, an insurance company, an 
investment company or a pension fund, may hold up to ten percent (10%) of 
the Means of Control in the Licensee, provided it does not have a 
representative or an appointee on its behalf among the Office Holders of a 
Competing MRT Operator or of the Licensee, as the case may be, unless it is 
required to do so by law.

23.4 The Licensee, an Office Holder or an Interested Party in the Licensee, as well 
as an Office Holder in an Interested Party in the Licensee, will not control a 
Competing MRT Operator, and will not cause it, by any act or omission, to 
be controlled by a Competing MRT Operator or by an Office Holder or an 
Interested Party in a Competing MRT Operator, or by an Office Holder in an 
Interested Party in a Competing MRT Operator, or by a person or 
corporation that controls a Competing MRT Operator.

23.5 The rate of indirect holding in a corporation will be a product of the 
percentage of holdings  in each stage of the chain of ownership, subject to 
what is set out in Paragraph 23.6; for example:
(A) ‘A’ holds 40%  in Company ‘B’;
(B) Company ‘B’ holds 40%  in Company ‘C’;
(C) Company ‘C’ holds 25%  in Company ‘D’;
(D) Therefore, Company ‘A’ holds, indirectly, 4% of Company ‘D’.
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23.6 For the matter of this Paragraph and Paragraphs 14.1 (G) (6), (7), (8), (8a), 
(9) and 21.4, if a certain body (hereinafter: “the Controlling Body”) controls 
another body that has holdings, directly or indirectly, in the Licensee 
(hereinafter: “the Controlled Body”), the Controlling Body, and also any 
other body controlled by the Controlling Body, will be attributed with the 
rate of holdings in the Licensee that the Controlled Body has, directly or 
indirectly; according to the following examples:
A. Direct holdings:

(1) ‘A’ holds 50% in Company ‘B’, and controls it;
(2) Company ‘B’ holds 50% in Company ‘C’, and controls it;
(3) Company ‘C’ holds 10% in the Licensee and does not control it;
(4) Therefore, notwithstanding that ‘A’s’ holdings in the Licensee in 

accordance with the instructions of Paragraph 5.6 are 2.5%, ‘A’ 
and also any body controlled by ‘A’ will be deemed as an 
Interested Party holding 10% in the Licensee.

B. Indirect holdings:
(1) ‘A’ holds 50% of Company ‘B’ and controls it;
(2) Company ‘B’ holds 40% of Company ‘C’ and controls it;
(3) Company ‘C’ holds 40% of Company ‘D’ and does not control it;
(4) Company ‘D’ holds 40% of the Licensee and does not control it;
(5) Therefore, ‘A’ and any body controlled by ‘A’ will be regarded 

as having a holding in the Licensee at the rate of holdings of 
Company ‘C’ in the Licensee, which is holdings of 16% 
(according to the method set out in Paragraph 23.5 for the 
calculation of the rate of indirect holdings in the absence of 
control), and in this manner, ‘A’ and any body controlled by ‘A’ 
is an Interested Party in the Licensee.

23.7 If a certain body has indirect holding in the Licensee, through two or more 
Interested Parties, then for the purpose of its definition as an Interested Party, 
and for the purpose of determining the rate of holding with regard to this 
Paragraph, the greatest indirect rate of holding will be taken into account, 
and also any rate of holding that derives from the chain of holdings through 
which the said holding body is attributed with the holdings of corporations 
controlled by it in accordance with the provisions of Paragraph 23.6;  the 
rates of holdings that derive from two or more chains that will be taken into 
account as stated above, will be cumulative for the purpose of calculating the 
rate of holdings.

23.8 The Minister may, in response to a written request, permit an Interested Party 
in the Licensee to hold, either directly or indirectly, five percent (5%) or 
more in any of the Means of Control of a Competing MRT Operator, if the 
Minister is satisfied that this will not harm competition in the MRT field; 



5-Proxy Statement-Annex D (translation of sec 21-24 License).docx.pdf Last Updated: 22/6/22 15:50

1the Minister may condition the granting of the said permit on a condition 
that the Interested Party in the Licensee or competing MRT Operator is an 
Interested Party merely by virtue of the provisions of Article 23.6 .  

24.1 Prohibition of Conflict of interests

The Licensee, any body in which the Licensee is an Interested Party, an 
Office Holder in the Licensee or an Interested Party in the company holding 
the License or an Office Holder in an Interested Party therein, will not be 
party to any agreement, arrangement or understanding with a Competing 
MRT Operator, or an Interested Party or an Office Holder in it, or an Office 
Holder in an Interested Party in a Competing MRT Operator, or any other 
body in which a Competing MRT Operator is an Interested Party, which are 
intended to or might reduce or harm competition in anything that pertains to 
MRT Services, MRT Terminal Equipment or any other Telecommunications 
Services.

24.22 Without derogating from the aforementioned in Article 24.1, the Licensee 
may reach a Cooperation Agreement as set forth in Article 19.1B.

1 Amendment No. 10
2 Amendment No. 83



[THIS IS THE HEBREW FORM OF DEED OF VOTE (KTAV HAZTBAA) REQUIRED BY 
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22 ביוני 2022

חברת פרטנר תקשורת בע"מ 

כתב הצבעה לפי תקנות החברות (הצבעה בכתב והודעות עמדה), התשס"ו-2005

חלק ראשון

שם החברה

חברת פרטנר תקשורת בע"מ ("החברה") 

סוג האסיפה הכללית, המועד והמקום לכינוסה

אסיפה כללית שנתית ("האסיפה השנתית") של בעלי מניות החברה תתכנס ביום חמישי, 28 ביולי, 
2022, בשעה 14:00 (שעון ישראל) במשרדי החברה ברחוב העמל 8, ראש העין, ישראל או בכל מועד 

נדחה של האסיפה השנתית. לבירורים ניתן להתקשר לטל': 054-7814191.

על פי חוק החברות, התשנ"ט-1999, כפי שתוקן ("חוק החברות") תקנות החברות (הוכחת בעלות 
במניה לצורך הצבעה באסיפה הכללית), התש"ס-2000 ותקנות החברות (הצבעה בכתב והודעות 
עמדה), התשס"ו-2005, כפי שתוקנו (יקראו יחד: "תקנות כתבי הצבעה"), בעלי מניות שלא ישתתפו 
באסיפה השנתית באופן אישי, רשאים להצביע על נושאים 1, 4-6 על סדר היום באמצעות כתב 
הצבעה או באמצעות כתב הצבעה שיועבר במערכת הצבעה אלקטרונית כהגדרתה בתקנות כתבי 
הצבעה ועל נושאים אלה חלות הוראות המפורטות בחוק החברות ובתקנות כתבי הצבעה ("הליכי 
הצבעה בכתב"). לנוחות בעלי המניות, כלולים במסמך זה גם נושאים 2-3 על סדר היום, עליהם לא 

יחולו הליכי הצבעה בכתב.

למען הנוחות, להלן פירוט נושאים 2-3 על סדר היום, שאינם כפופים להליכי הצבעה בכתב

נושא 2 על סדר היום - דיון בשכרם של רואי החשבון לשנה שהסתיימה ביום 31 בדצמבר 2021, כפי 
שנקבע על ידי ועדת הביקורת ודירקטוריון החברה, ובדו"ח הדירקטוריון לגבי השכר המשולם לרואי 

החשבון ולחברות קשורות להם לשנה שהסתיימה ביום 31 בדצמבר 2021; ו-

נושא 3 על סדר היום - דיון בדוחות הכספיים המבוקרים של החברה לשנה שהסתיימה ביום 31 
בדצמבר 2021 ובדו"ח הדירקטוריון לתקופה האמורה.

להלן פירוט נושאים 1 ו-4-6 על סדר היום, הכפופים להליכי הצבעה בכתב 

להלן תמצית עיקרי ההחלטות המוצעות לגביהן ניתן להצביע באמצעות כתב ההצבעה:   
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PricewaterhouseCoopers נושא 1 על סדר היום - אישור מינויים מחדש של קסלמן וקסלמן, חברי
International Limited Group, כרואי החשבון של החברה לתקופה המסתיימת בתום האסיפה 
הכללית השנתית הבאה של בעלי המניות של החברה, ולהסמיך את הדירקטוריון לאשר, לאחר אישור 

ועדת הביקורת, את תגמול רואי החשבון של החברה, בהתאם להיקף ואופי שירותיהם;

נושא 4 על סדר היום -  להעמיד לבחירה חמישה (5) דירקטורים מבין שבעה (7) המועמדים הבאים 
לכהן כדירקטורים בדירקטוריון החברה עד לתום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה: מר גדעון קדוסי, 
מר שלמה רודב, מר יהודה סבן, גב' ענת כהן-שפכט, מר דורון שטיגר, מר אורי ירון ומר שלמה זוהר 

(להלן: "המועמדים לכהונה כדירקטורים"); 

חמשת הדירקטורים שימונו לדירקטוריון החברה, לפי הענין, יהיו המועמדים לכהונה כדירקטורים 
אשר יזכו למספר הגבוה ביותר של קולות בעד באסיפה השנתית, ובכפוף לכך שעצם מינויים יזכה 

לרוב כנדרש על פי החוק.  
בעל מניות המשתתף בהצבעה בנושא 4 על סדר היום רשאי להצביע בכתב ההצבעה על עמדתו 

ביחס למינוי של כל אחד מהמועמדים לכהונה כדירקטורים באופן נפרד. 

על-פי חוק החברות, הדירקטורים (למעט דירקטורים חיצוניים (דח"צים) שבאופן כללי מכהנים 
בתפקיד במשך תקופות של שלוש שנים), ימונו באסיפה השנתית, אלא אם נקבע אחרת בתקנון 
החברה, ויכהנו בתפקידם עד תום האסיפה השנתית הבאה, אלא אם יסתיים תפקידם מוקדם יותר 

בהתאם לאמור בחוק החברות ובתקנון החברה. 

המועמדים לכהונה כדירקטורים יסיימו את תפקידם כדירקטורים בחברה בתום האסיפה השנתית. 
דירקטוריון החברה החליט להמליץ לאסיפה השנתית להעמיד לבחירה חמישה דירקטורים מבין שבעה 
מועמדים לכהן כדירקטורים בדירקטוריון החברה עד לתום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה: מר 
גדעון קדוסי, מר שלמה רודב, מר יהודה סבן, גב' ענת כהן-שפכט, מר דורון שטיגר, מר אורי ירון ומר 
שלמה זוהר. חמשת הדירקטורים שימונו לדירקטוריון החברה, לפי הענין, יהיו הדירקטורים אשר יזכו 
למספר הגבוה ביותר של קולות בעד באסיפה השנתית, ובכפוף לכך שעצם מינויים יזכה לרוב כנדרש 
על פי החוק. לא חל שינוי בכהונתם של ד"ר יונתן קולודני, גב' מיכל מרום-בריקמן, וגב' רולי קלינגר 

כדירקטורים חיצוניים (דח"צים).

דירקטוריון החברה קבע כי על הרכב הדירקטוריון לכלול לפחות שלושה דירקטורים שהנם בעלי 
מומחיות חשבונאית ופיננסית על-פי חוק החברות והתקנות שהותקנו על פיו. דירקטוריון החברה קבע 
כי מר שלמה זוהר, גב' מיכל מרום-בריקמן, מר יהודה סבן, דר יונתן קולודני, מר שלמה רודב, מר דורון 
שטיגר, וגב' ענת כהן-שפכט הנם בעלי מומחיות חשבונאית ופיננסית על-פי חוק החברות והתקנות 
שהותקנו על פיו. גב' מרום-בריקמן , מר זוהר, ד"ר קולודני, מר קדוסי, גב' קלינגר וגב' כהן-שפכט הנם 
דירקטורים בלתי תלויים על פי חוק החברות והתקנות שהותקנו על פיו והנם גם דירקטורים בלתי 
תלויים לפי הדין האמריקאי. על פי הדין האמריקאי על כל חברי ועדת הביקורת וועדת התגמול להיות 

בלתי תלויים. יצויין, כי מר בארי בן זאב חדל לכהן כדירקטור בחברה ביום 31 באוקטובר 2021. 

בהתאם לחוק החברות ותקנון החברה, האסיפה הכללית המיוחדת של בעלי המניות שהתקיימה ב-
18 במרץ 2020 ("EGM 2020"), אישרה את תנאי התגמול לדירקטורים המכהנים בדירקטוריון 
החברה ואלו שיכהנו מעת לעת, לרבות דירקטורים חיצוניים ודירקטורים בלתי תלויים (למעט יו"ר 
הדירקטוריון ככל שתנאי תגמול נפרדים ייקבעו לגביו) הכוללים סכום שנתי, סכום השתתפות 
בישיבות, החזר הוצאות סבירות, הטבה מפוליסת ביטוח נושאי משרה וכתב שיפוי ופטור ("תנאי 
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התגמול"). למידע נוסף אודות EGM 2020 ראו: 
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk202

https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf-4174 ו.htm

EGM  -תנאי התגמול של המועמדים לכהונה כדירקטורים הינם בהתאם לתנאים שאושרו על ידי ה
.2020

להלן קורות החיים של שבעת המועמדים המוצעים לכהן כדירקטורים בדירקטוריון החברה (שמתוכם 
כאמור יבחרו חמשת המועמדים אשר יזכו למספר הגבוה ביותר של קולות בעד באסיפה השנתית):

מר גדעון קדוסי - מונה לדירקטוריון פרטנר באפריל 2022. מר קדוסי הינו בעל חברת ייעוץ  א.

לבעלים ומנכ"לים של חברות פרטיות בסדר גודל בינוני משנת 2015. לפני כן הוא כיהן משנת 
2014 עד 2015 כמשנה למנכ"ל של חברת מדטון-הדים בע"מ ולפני כן כיהן כסמנכ"ל 
באפריקה ישראל להשקעות ובזק וכדירקטור בחברות הבת של בזק. מר קדוסי הינו בעל תואר 
ראשון בהנדסת חשמל ואלקטרוניקה ותואר שני במינהל עסקים, שניהם מאוניברסיטת תל-
אביב. למיטב ידיעת החברה והדירקטורים, מר גדעון קדוסי אינו "בן משפחה" של "בעל ענין" 
(כהגדרת מונחים אלו בחוק ניירות ערך) אחר בחברה. מר גדעון קדוסי נולד בתאריך 
14.1.1962; בעל תעודת זהות שמספרה 057362584; בעל אזרחות ישראלית; מתגורר ברחוב 

דרך אילות 10, גני תקווה. 

מר שלמה רודב- מונה לדירקטוריון פרטנר באפריל 2022. מר רודב כיהן בשנים 2020 עד 2021  ב.

כיו"ר דירקטוריון יינות ביתן בע"מ. לפני כן הוא כיהן משנת 2018 עד 2020 כיו"ר בזק חברת 
התקשורת לישראל בע"מ וקודם לכן כיו"ר ודירקטור בחברות ציבוריות שונות כולל תנובה 
בע"מ, גילת תקשורת לווינים בע"מ וכיו"ר פרטנר בשנת 2013. מר רודב בעל תואר ראשון 
בכלכלה מאוניברסיטת תל-אביב ותואר שני במינהל עסקים מאוניברסיטת קולומביה. למיטב 
ידיעת החברה והדירקטורים, מר שלמה רודב אינו "בן משפחה" של "בעל ענין" (כהגדרת 
מונחים אלו בחוק ניירות ערך) אחר בחברה. מר שלמה רודב נולד בתאריך 27.10.49; בעל 
תעודת זהות שמספרה 030596860; בעל אזרחות ישראלית; מתגורר ברחוב כרם הזיתים 5, 

סביון.

מר יהודה סבן - מונה לדירקטוריון פרטנר באפריל 2015. מר סבן כיהן כסמנכ"ל כלכלה  ג.

ורגולציה ומנהל תחום ה- FLNG (גז נוזלי טבעי) בדלק קידוחים ואבנר חיפושי נפט. לפני כן, מר 
סבן כיהן מעל 6 שנים בתפקידים שונים באגף התקציבים במשרד האוצר כמנהל תחום 
התקשורת והתיירות, מנהל תחום תקציב ומאקרו ורפרנט תחום האנרגיה. בשנים אלו מר סבן 
היה שותף פעיל במספר וועדות ורשויות בתחומי האנרגיה, התקשורת והתשתיות. מר סבן 
מכהן בדירקטוריון של הזדמנות ישראלית מקורות אנרגיה, שותפות מוגבלת ויו"ר ועדת תגמול 
וביקורת בה החל מיוני 2015. מר סבן מכהן כמנהל הפעילות הישראלית וסמנכ"ל בכיר לפיתוח 
עסקי בחברת אלומיי קפיטל בע"מ. למר סבן תואר ראשון בכלכלה ובמנהל עסקים אותו סיים 
בהצטיינות יתרה, ותואר שני במנהל עסקים עם התמחות במימון, שניהם מהאוניברסיטה 
העברית בירושלים. למיטב ידיעת החברה והדירקטורים, מר יהודה סבן אינו "בן משפחה" של 
"בעל ענין" (כהגדרת מונחים אלו בחוק ניירות ערך) אחר בחברה. מר יהודה סבן נולד בתאריך 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
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9.9.1978; בעל תעודת זהות שמספרה 035733443; בעל אזרחות ישראלית; מתגורר ברחוב 
הס 11, תל אביב.

גב' ענת כהן-שפכט – מונתה לדירקטוריון פרטנר באפריל 2022. גב' כהן-שפכט מכהנת  ד.

כדח"צית בדירקטוריון רשות שדות התעופה והינה שותפה מנהלת באורבניפרו, חברת גלובלית 
להשקעות נדל"ן. קודם לכן, היא כיהנה משנת 2015 עד 2017 כמנכל"ית סאני תקשורת 
סלולרית בע"מ. בין השנים 2008-2015, היא כיהנה בתפקידים בכירים שונים בחברות 
תקשורת פרטיות. גב' כהן-שפכט היא בעלת תואר ראשון במדעי הרוח ותולדות האומנות ותואר 
שני במינהל עסקים, שניהם מאוניברסיטת תל-אביב. גב' ענת כהן-שפכט איננה "בת משפחה" 
של "בעל ענין" (כהגדרת מונחים אלו בחוק ניירות ערך) אחר בחברה. גב' ענת כהן-שפכט 
נולדה בתאריך 14.5.1967; בעלת תעודת זהות שמספרה 023013048; בעלת אזרחות 

ישראלית; מתגוררת ברחוב ויצמן 7, תל-אביב.

מר דורון שטיגר - מונה לדירקטוריון פרטנר באפריל 2022. מר שטיגר מכהן כיו"ר פעיל ויועץ  ה.

לקיבוץ רביבים ומנכ"ל בקירור אחזקות בע"מ. הוא מכהן כדירקטור בשורה של חברות ציבוריות 
ופרטיות כולל נובולוג בע"מ, יפ-אורה תבורי בע"מ, יפאורה בע"מ, אשדר חברה לבנין בע"מ 
ותעשיות תפוגן בע"מ. בין השנים 2010-2021 מר שטיגר נתן שירותי ייעוץ פיננסי ופיתוח 
עסקי לחברות פרטיות. מר שטיגר הוא בעל תואר ראשון בכלכלה ותואר שני במינהל עסקים, 
שניהם מאוניברסיטת תל-אביב. מר דורון שטיגר אינו "בן משפחה" של "בעל ענין" (כהגדרת 
מונחים אלו בחוק ניירות ערך) אחר בחברה. מר דורון שטיגר נולד בתאריך 9.1.1958; בעל 
תעודת זהות שמספרה 55009526; בעל אזרחות ישראלית; מתגורר ברחוב ליסין 29, תל-אביב.

מר אורי ירון (עו"ד) - מונה לדירקטוריון פרטנר במאי 2014. מר ירון עובד כעורך דין פעיל ומנהל  ו.

את משרד עו"ד אילן ירון המתמחה בתחום הביטוח והנזיקין. מר ירון כיהן כדירקטור במכון 
הגיאופיסי משנת 2010 עד 2016 ומשנת 2006 ועד שנת 2007 כיהן כדירקטור בחברת 
מקורות ייזום ופיתוח ומשנת 2011 ועד שנת 2014 כיהן כדירקטור בחברת כביש חוצה ישראל 
בע"מ. למר ירון תואר ראשון בכלכלה ותואר ראשון במשפטים, שניהם מאוניברסיטת תל-אביב 
והינו חבר בלשכת עו"ד בישראל. למיטב ידיעת החברה והדירקטורים, מר אורי ירון אינו "בן 
משפחה" של "בעל ענין" (כהגדרת מונחים אלו בחוק ניירות ערך) אחר בחברה. מר אורי ירון 
נולד בתאריך 2.11.1965; בעל תעודת זהות שמספרה 022150213; בעל אזרחות ישראלית; 

מתגורר ברחוב ברוך אגדתי 17א', תל אביב. 

שלמה זוהר- מונה לדירקטוריון פרטנר באוקטובר 2020. הוא מכהן, בין השאר, כדירקטור ב  ז.

.Delek USA Energy, Inc ,המ-לט (ישראל-קנדה) בע"מ וישרס חברה להשקעות בע"מ. בין 
ינואר 2006 ודצמבר 2009, מר זוהר כיהן כחבר דירקטוריון ויו"ר דירקטוריון בדירקטוריונים של 
בנק דיסקונט בע"מ, בנק מרכנתיל דיסקונט בע"מ, דיסקונט ישראל שוקי הון והשקעות בע"מ 
וכרטיסי אשראי לישראל בע"מ. באותה עת, גם כיהן מר זוהר כחבר דירקטוריון וסגן יו"ר 
דירקטוריון בדירקטוריון של Israel Discount Bank of New York וכחבר דירקטוריון ב-
.Discount Bancorp, Inc. מר זוהר כיהן כמנכ"ל איי.די.או גרופ בע"מ מיולי 2011 ועד דצמבר 
2018 וכן כיהן כסגן יו"ר בכיר בדירקטוריון של ADO Properties SA ומיוני 2018 מכהן כיו"ר 
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ועדת הקבע באוניברסיטת בר אילן. משנת 1980 ועד דצמבר 2005 הוא היה שותף במשרד 
רו"ח זוהר, זוהר ושות. מר זוהר הינו רו"ח מוסמך בישראל בעל תואר ראשון בכלכלה וראיית 
חשבון מאוניברסיטת בר אילן ותואר שני במנהל עסקים מאוניברסיטת מקגיל. למיטב ידיעת 
החברה והדירקטורים, מר שלמה זוהר אינו "בן משפחה" של "בעל ענין" (כהגדרת מונחים אלו 
בחוק ניירות ערך) אחר בחברה. מר שלמה זוהר נולד בתאריך 30.9.1951; בעל תעודת זהות 

שמספרה 050884774; בעל אזרחות ישראלית; מתגורר ברחוב ויצמן 40, פתח תקוה. 

חמשת הדירקטורים שימונו לדירקטוריון החברה, לפי הענין, יהיו המועמדים לכהונה 
כדירקטורים אשר יזכו למספר הגבוה ביותר של קולות בעד באסיפה השנתית, ובכפוף לכך 

שעצם מינויים יזכה לרוב כנדרש על פי החוק.  

בעל מניות המשתתף בהצבעה בנושא 4 על סדר היום רשאי להצביע בכתב ההצבעה על 
עמדתו ביחס למינוי של כל אחד מהמועמדים לכהונה כדירקטורים באופן נפרד. יובהר, כי 
הצבעתו זו יכולה שתעשה ביחס לכל אחד ואחד מהמועמדים לכהונה כדירקטורים והוא אינו 

מוגבל להצבעה ביחס לחמישה מתוך המועמדים לכהונה כדירקטורים.

מוצע כי האסיפה השנתית תאמץ את ההחלטות הבאות: 

"הוחלט: לאשר את מינויים של חמישה (5) דירקטורים משבעת (7) המועמדים שלהלן 
לכהן כדירקטורים בחברה לתקופה שתסתיים בתום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה, 
אלא אם תפקידם יסתיים קודם-לכן בהתאם להוראות חוק החברות ותקנון החברה: מר 
גדעון קדוסי, מר שלמה רודב, מר יהודה סבן, גב' ענת כהן-שפכט, מר דורון שטיגר, מר 

אורי ירון ומר שלמה זוהר.

הוחלט: החלטה זאת הנה לטובת החברה."

נושא 5 על סדר היום - אישור תנאי התגמול של מר שלמה רודב ומר דורון שטיגר והענקת כתבי 
שיפוי ופטור

בהתאם לחוק החברות ותקנון החברה, ה-EGM 2020 אישרה את תנאי התגמול לדירקטורים 
המכהנים ואלו שיכהנו מעת לעת, לרבות דירקטורים חיצוניים ודירקטורים בלתי תלויים (למעט יו"ר 
הדירקטוריון, ככל שתנאי תגמול נפרדים ייקבעו לגביו) הכוללים גמול שנתי, סכום השתתפות 
בישיבות, החזר הוצאות סבירות, הטבה מפוליסת ביטוח נושאי משרה וכתב שיפוי ופטור ("תנאי 
התגמול"). ה-EGM 2020 קבע כי ביחס לדירקטורים שימונו בעתיד, ככל שימונו, שהם בעלי שליטה 
או קרוביהם או שיש לבעל שליטה אינטרס במינוים, יתכן ויהיה צורך לאמץ החלטות נוספות בהתאם 
לחוק. למידע נוסף אודות תגמול הדירקטורים שלנו ראו: 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk202
https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf 4174 או.htm 

ביום 4 באפריל 2022, רכשה אמפיסה אחזקות שותפות מוגבלת ("אמפיסה") 49,862,800 מניות 
החברה המהוים כ-27% מההון המונפק והנפרע של החברה. על כן, נחשבת אמפיסה לבעלת שליטה 
לפי סעיף 268 לחוק החברות. למיטב ידיעתה של החברה, אחד משני השותפים הכללים באמפיסה 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
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הינה חברה ישראלית לספנות ואספקה בע"מ ("ספנות ואספקה") המוחזקת 50% בבעלות מר 
שלמה רודב.

מר דורון שטיגר מכהן כמנכ"ל של קרור אחזקות ("קרור"), המוחזקת 63% על ידי ספנות ואספקה.

מר שלמה רודב ומר דורון שטיגר מונו לדירקטוריון החברה ביום 7 באפריל 2022. על כן, בעקבות 
אישור ועדת התגמול והדירקטוריון, מוצע לאשר את תנאי התגמול של מר רודב ומר שטיגר 
כדירקטורים, כולל הענקת כתבי שיפוי ופטור, החל מיום מינוים ב-7 באפריל 2022, הזהים לתנאי 
התגמול שאושרו על ידי ה-EGM 2020 בקשר עם הדירקטורים המכהנים ואלו שיכהנו מעת לעת, 
לרבות דירקטורים חיצוניים ודירקטורים בלתי תלויים כמפורט לעיל ("תנאי התגמול"). תנאי התגמול 
הינם בהתאם למדיניות התגמול של החברה לנושאי משרה שאושרה על ידי האסיפה השנתית ביום 
29 באוקטובר 2019 ("מדיניות התגמול") . לתנאי מדיניות התגמול ראו נספח "D" לדיווח החברה על 

גבי טופס K-6 מיום 28 באוגוסט 2019 (נכלל על דרך ההפניה):

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891319002275/zk192
.https://maya.tase.co.il/reports/details/1250374/2/0.-3445 ו.htm

מר רודב ומר שטיגר מכוסים גם על ידי פוליסת הביטוח הנוכחית לנושאי משרה, אשר כיסוים אושר 
על ידי ועדת התגמול בהתאם לתקנה 1ב1 לתקנות החברות (הקלות לעסקאות עם בעלי ענין) 

התשס"א-2000.

יצוין כי ועדת התגמול והדירקטוריון החליטו כי סכום השיפוי המרבי בכתב שיפוי ופטור הינו סביר 
בהתחשב בנסיבות ושאירועי השיפוי המפורטים בנספח I לכתב השיפוי והפטור הינם צפויים לאור 

."C" פעילויות החברה הנוכחיות. כתב השיפוי ופטור מצורף כנספח

מוצע כי האסיפה השנתית תאמץ את ההחלטות הבאות: 

"הוחלט: לאשר את תנאי התגמול של מר שלמה רודב ומר דורון שטיגר כדירקטורים 
החל מיום מינוים ב-7 באפריל 2022;ו -

הוחלט: החלטה זאת הנה לטובת החברה."

נושא 6 על סדר היום - אישור תנאי כהונתו והעסקתו של מנכ"ל החברה, מר אבי גבאי, לרבות 
מענק מיוחד לשנת 2022 והענקת כתב שיפוי ופטור, אך למעט מענק שנתי ותגמול הוני.

ביום 23 במאי 2022, בהתאם להמלצת ועדת איתור של החברה, הודיע דירקטוריון החברה על 
מינויו של מר אבי גבאי, למנכ"ל החברה, וזאת החל מיום 1 ביוני 2022.

בהתאם לאמור, מובאים בזאת לאישור תנאי הכהונה והעסקה של המנכ"ל.

נכון לדוח זה, תנאי כהונתו והעסקתו של המנכ"ל אינם כוללים את הבונוס השנתי לשנת 2023 
ואילך (אך כוללים תנאים לבונוס מיוחד לשנת 2022) ותגמול הוני. רכיבים אלו יובאו לאישור ועדת 
התגמול, הדירקטוריון והאסיפה הכללית של בעלי המניות לאחר גיבוש מדיניות תגמול חדשה 

לנושאי המשרה בחברה.

הסיכום להלן של נושא זה על סדר היום כפוף לתיאור המלא בדוח זימון האסיפה השנתית. 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891319002275/zk1923445.htm
https://maya.tase.co.il/reports/details/1250374/2/0
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891319002275/zk1923445.htm
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בהתאם לסעיף 272 (ג1)(1) לחוק החברות, התקשרות של החברה עם מנהלה הכללי של 
החברה, באשר לתנאי כהונתו והעסקתו, שהנה בהתאם למדיניות התגמול, טעונה אישור ועדת 
התגמול, הדירקטוריון והאסיפה הכללית של בעלי המניות ברוב במיוחד הקבוע בסעיף 267א 

לחוק החברות. 

בנוסף, למיטב ידיעת החברה, אחד משני השותפים הכללים באמפיסה הינו זלה אחזקות בע"מ, 
חברה בבעלות מלאה של מר גבאי. לפיכך, יש לאשר את תנאי כהונתו והעסקתו כעסקה עם בעל 

שליטה בהתאם לסעיף 270(4) וסעיף 272 לחוק החברות.

לאור המלצת ועדת האיתור שמונתה על ידי דירקטוריון החברה על מנת למנות מנכ"ל לחברה, 
ובתום הליך האיתור המקיף והסדור אשר התנהל על ידה, החליט דירקטוריון החברה כי מר אבי 
גבאי הינו המועמד המתאים ביותר לכהן כמנכ"ל החברה ולהוביל את פרטנר בהמשך פעילותה 

העסקית בשנים הקרובות.

כמפורט לעיל, ועדת הביקורת של החברה דנה בתנאי כהונתו והעסקתו של מנכ"ל החברה 
המובאים לאישור האסיפה השנתית ולאחר מכן דירקטוריון החברה דן בנושא. הדירקטורים קבעו 
כי הרכיבים הנוכחים של תנאי הכהונה והעסקה של מר גבאי הם בהתאם למדיניות התגמול של 

החברה.

בפני ועדת התגמול ודירקטוריון החברה הוצגו טרם הישיבות במסגרתן אישרו את תנאי הכהונה 
וההעסקה של מר גבאי, המובאים לאישור האסיפה השנתית, נתונים בדבר: מכלול תנאי כהונתו 
והעסקתו של המנכ"ל, מדיניות התגמול והשלכותיה על עלות העסקתו בחברה, נתוני מחקר 
השוואתי שערך פרופ' משה צבירן, בנוגע לתנאי כהונה והעסקה של מנכ"ל החברה בחברות 
השוואה, השכלתו, מומחיותו וניסיונו של מר גבאי והישגיו המקצועיים וכן רמת האחריות 
הנדרשת לתפקיד מנכ"ל והאתגרים העומדים בפניו ונתונים בנוגע ליחס שבין התגמול המוצע 
לעלות השכר של שאר עובדי החברה ובפרט היחס לעלות השכר הממוצע ועלות השכר החציוני 

של עובדים כאמור והשפעת הפערים ביניהם על יחסי העבודה בחברה.

נימוקי ועדת התגמול והדירקטוריון לאישור תנאי הכהונה והעסקה של מנכ"ל החברה מפורטים 
בדוח זימון האסיפה השנתית. 

בהתחשב במכלול הפרמטרים והשיקולים ולאור הנימוקים המפורטים בדוח זימון האסיפה 
השנתית, ובהתחשב בין היתר בגודל החברה, היקפה, מורכבותה ואופי פעילותה; מורכבות 
התפקיד והיקף האחריות המוטל על מר אבי גבאי, קבעו ועדת התגמול ודירקטוריון החברה כי 
תנאי העסקתו של מנכ"ל החברה, מר אבי גבאי, הינם הוגנים, סבירים ומקובלים בנסיבות העניין 
ולפיכך החליטו להמליץ לאסיפה השנתית, לאשר את תנאי הכהונה וההעסקה של מר אבי גבאי.  

בהתאם לחוק החברות, היה ובעלי המניות יתנגדו לאישור תנאי הכהונה והעסקה כאמור, 
ב"מקרים מיוחדים" יוכלו ועדת התגמול והדירקטוריון לאשר את התכנית חרף התנגדות האסיפה, 
וזאת לאחר קיום דיון חוזר בתנאי הכהונה והעסקה ועל יסוד נימוקים מפורטים, תוך בחינת נימוקי 

התנגדות האסיפה השנתית וקביעה כי ההחלטה כאמור היא לטובת החברה.

מוצע כי באסיפה השנתית תאומצנה ההחלטות הבאות:

"הוחלט: לאשר את תנאי הכהונה וההעסקה של המנכ"ל הנכנס, מר אבי  (i)
גבאי, לרבות, הענקת כתב שיפוי ופטור החל מיום מינויו ביום 1 ביוני 

,2022
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הוחלט: החלטה זאת הנה לטובת החברה." (ii)

לפרטים נוספים בדבר הנושאים על סדר יום האסיפה השנתית ונוסחן המלא של ההחלטות 
המוצעות, ראו דוח זימון האסיפה השנתית (Proxy Statement) מיום 22 ביוני 2022 המופץ 

במקביל לכתב הצבעה זה. 

המקום והשעות שניתן לעיין בהם בנוסח המלא של ההחלטות המוצעות 

דוח זימון האסיפה השנתית - Proxy Statement (בשפה האנגלית), המופץ במקביל לכתב הצבעה 
זה, כולל את הנוסח המלא של ההחלטות המוצעות ויעמוד לעיון במשרדי החברה ברחוב העמל 8, 
ראש העין, ישראל, בימים א'-ה' בין השעות 9:00-17:00 (שעון ישראל), לאחר תיאום מראש בטלפון 
054-7814191, וזאת עד מועד כינוס האסיפה השנתית לאישור ההחלטות על סדר היום. בנוסף, דוח 
זימון האסיפה השנתית - Proxy Statement מפורסם באתר ההפצה של 
המגנא www.magna.isa.gov.il, באתר הבורסה www.maya.tase.co.il ובמערכת התיוק 
האלקטרוני EDGAR של הרשות לניירות ערך בארה"ב http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml. דוח 
זימון האסיפה השנתית - Proxy Statement כולל מידע נוסף על תוכן כתב הצבעה זה וחשוב שבעלי 

המניות יעיינו גם בו. 

הרוב הדרוש לקבלת החלטה בכל אחד מן הנושאים על סדר היום 

הרוב הנדרש לקבלת ההחלטות בנושא 1 על סדר היום,  ובנושא 4 על סדר היום, הכפוף להליכי 
הצבעה בכתב, הינו רוב קולות בעלי המניות הרגילות, ע.נ. 0.01 ₪ למניה, של החברה ("המניות 

הרגילות"), המשתתפים באסיפה השנתית והמצביעים בה. בנושא 4 על סדר היום, חמשת  
הדירקטורים שימונו לדירקטוריון החברה, לפי הענין, יהיו הדירקטורים אשר יזכו למספר הגבוה ביותר 
של קולות בעד באסיפה השנתית , ובכפוף לכך שעצם מינויים יזכה לרוב כנדרש על פי החוק. לא 
נדרשת הצבעה בקשר עם הדיון בנושאים 2-3 על סדר היום. הרב הנדרש לקבלת ההחלטות בנושאים 
5-6 על סדר היום הכפופים להליכי הצבעה בכתב, הוא רוב קולות בעלי המניות הרגילות, המשתתפים 
באסיפה השנתית והמצביעים בה, ובלבד שיתקיים אחד מאלה:(i) במניין קולות הרוב ייכלל רוב מכלל 
קולות בעלי המניות שאינם בעלי שליטה בחברה (כמצוין בחוק החברות, לרבות סעיף 268 לחוק 
החברות, "בעל שליטה") או בעלי ענין אישי (כמוגדר בחוק החברות, "בעל ענין אישי") באישור 
נושאים אלה, המשתתפים בהצבעה; במניין כלל הקולות של בעלי המניות האמורים לא יובאו בחשבון 
קולות הנמנעים; או (ii) סך קולות המתנגדים מקרב בעלי המניות האמורים בפסקת משנה (i) לא עלה 

על שיעור של 2% מכלל זכויות ההצבעה בחברה.

הערה בדבר גילוי זיקה ומגבלות על-פי רישיון החברה

בחלק השני של כתב הצבעה זה מוקצה מקום לסימון ולפירוט האם בעל מניות הוא בעל ענין אישי 
בהחלטה, הוא בעל שליטה בחברה, הוא נושא משרה בכירה או הוא משקיע מוסדי (לפי המקרה), 
כקבוע בחוק החברות ובתקנות כתבי הצבעה. הצבעת בעל מניות שלא יסמן או יפרט כאמור, לא 

תובא במניין הקולות ביחס להחלטות בנושאים 5-6 על סדר היום.

כל בעל מניות נדרש לציין גם האם נדרשת הסכמת משרד התקשורת להחזקת המניות על ידו או 
להצבעתו, בהתאם לרישיונות פרטנר. הצבעת בעל מניות שלא יסמן כאמור, לא תובא במניין הקולות. 

http://www.maya.tase.co.il/
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תוקף כתב ההצבעה

לכתב הצבעה של בעל מניות שמניותיו רשומות אצל חבר הבורסה לניירות ערך בתל אביב בע"מ 
("הבורסה"), יהיה תוקף רק אם צורף לו אישור בעלות מאת חבר הבורסה נכון למועד הקובע. מסר 
אלקטרוני מאושר לפי סעיף 44יא5 לחוק ניירות ערך, שעניינו נתוני המשתמשים במערכת ההצבעה 
האלקטרונית – דינו כדין אישור בעלות לגבי כל בעל מניות הנכלל בו. לכתב הצבעה של בעל מניות 
הרשום במרשם בעלי המניות של החברה, יהיה תוקף רק אם צורף לו צילום תעודת זהות, דרכון או 

תעודת התאגדות. 

יש למסור את כתב ההצבעה לחברה או לשולחו בדואר רשום כך שיגיע למשרדי החברה עד ארבע 
(4) שעות לפני מועד האסיפה השנתית. ההצבעה באמצעות מערכת ההצבעה האלקטרונית 
תסתיים שש (6) שעות לפני מועד האסיפה (היינו ביום 28 ביולי 2022 בשעה 08:00 בבוקר שעון 
ישראל). בעלי המניות נדרשים להצביע או באמצעות שליחת כתב הצבעה (בשפה העברית או 
האנגלית אך לא לשלוח בשתי השפות) או באמצעות הצבעה אלקטרונית. ככל שבעל מניות יצביע 

באמצעות שתי הדרכים, לא תבוא הצבעת בעל המניות במניין. 

מען החברה למסירת כתבי ההצבעה והודעות העמדה

עו"ד שרית הכט, מזכירת החברה, או עו"ד הלית מגידו או עו"ד תמי לוי, חברת פרטנר תקשורת בע"מ, 
רחוב העמל 8, ראש העין, 4810302, ישראל (נא לסמן בבירור "כתב הצבעה" או "הודעת עמדה" על 

המעטפה).

המועד האחרון להמצאת הודעות עמדה לחברה והמועד האחרון להמצאת תגובת הדירקטוריון 
להודעות העמדה

המועד האחרון להמצאת הודעות עמדה של בעלי מניות לחברה לגבי נושאים 1, 4-6, על סדר היום 
הינו 19 ביולי 2022. 

המועד האחרון להמצאת תגובת הדירקטוריון להודעות עמדה (ככל שתהיינה) הינו 24 ביולי 2022.

שינויים בסדר היום ופרסום הודעות עמדה 

לאחר פרסום כתב ההצבעה, ייתכן שיחולו שינויים בסדר היום של האסיפה השנתית, לרבות בדרך 
של הוספת נושא לסדר היום, וזאת בעקבות בקשה של בעל מניות על פי סעיף 66(ב) לחוק החברות, 
שתוגש לחברה לא יאוחר מיום 29 ביוני 2022 (7 ימים לאחר מועד פרסום הזימון). במקרה כזה, 
החברה תפרסם סדר יום מתוקן וכתב הצבעה מתוקן, לא יאוחר מיום 6 ביולי 2022. אין בפרסום סדר 
היום המעודכן כדי לשנות את המועד הקובע כפי שנקבע בדוח זימון האסיפה השנתית. בנוסף, ייתכן 

שתפורסמנה הודעות עמדה, כאמור לעיל.

כתובות אתר ההפצה ואתר האינטרנט של הבורסה שמצויים בהם כתבי ההצבעה (או כתבי 
ההצבעה המתוקנים, ככל שיהיו) והודעות העמדה (ככל שתהיינה)

http://www.magna.isa.gov.il :כתובת אתר ההפצה של רשות ניירות ערך

http://www.maya.tase.co.il :כתובת אתר האינטרנט של הבורסה

כתובת מערכת התיוק האלקטרוני EDGAR של הרשות לניירות ערך בארה"ב (תרגום נוחות לאנגלית 
http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml :(בלבד

http://www.magna.isa.gov.il/
http://www.maya.tase.co.il/
http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml
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קבלת אישורי בעלות, כתבי הצבעה והודעות עמדה

בעל מניות שמניותיו רשומות אצל חבר הבורסה, זכאי לקבל את אישור הבעלות מחבר הבורסה בסניף 
של חבר הבורסה או במשלוח בדואר, אם ביקש זאת. בקשה לענין זה תינתן מראש לחשבון ניירות 

ערך מסוים. 

בעל מניות שמניותיו רשומות אצל חבר הבורסה זכאי לקבל בדואר אלקטרוני בלא תמורה קישורית 
לנוסח כתב ההצבעה והודעות העמדה באתר ההפצה, מאת חבר הבורסה שבאמצעותו הוא מחזיק 
במניותיו, אלא אם הודיע לחבר הבורסה כי אין הוא מעונין לקבל קישורית כאמור או שהוא מעונין 
לקבל כתבי הצבעה בדואר תמורת תשלום. הודעתו לענין כתבי הצבעה תחול גם לענין קבלת הודעות 

עמדה.

בעלי מניות רשאים להצביע ביחס לנושאים 1 ו-4-6 על סדר היום כמפורט לעיל, באמצעות כתב 
הצבעה שיועבר במערכת ההצבעה האלקטרונית, כהגדרתה בתקנות ההצבעה.

חבר בורסה יזין למערכת ההצבעה האלקטרונית רשימה ובה הפרטים הנדרשים לפי סעיף 
44יא4(א)(3) לחוק ניירות ערך לגבי כל אחד מבעלי המניות הלא רשומים המחזיקים ניירות ערך 
באמצעותו במועד הקובע ("רשימת הזכאים להצביע במערכת"). ואולם חבר בורסה לא יכלול 
ברשימת הזכאים להצביע במערכת בעל מניות שהעביר לו עד השעה 12:00 בצהריים של המועד 
הקובע הודעה כי אינו מעוניין להיכלל ברשימת הזכאים להצביע במערכת ההצבעה האלקטרונית לפי 

תקנה 13(ד) לתקנות ההצבעה.

חבר בורסה יעביר, סמוך ככל האפשר לאחר קבלת אישור מאת מערכת ההצבעה האלקטרונית על 
קבלה תקינה של רשימת הזכאים להצביע במערכת ואשר מקבלים מחבר הבורסה הודעות באמצעים 
אלקטרוניים או באמצעות מערכות התקשורת המקושרת למחשב חבר הבורסה, את הפרטים 

הנדרשים לשם הצבעה במערכת ההצבעה האלקטרונית.

בעל מניות המופיע ברשימת הזכאים להצביע במערכת ההצבעה האלקטרונית רשאי לציין את אופן 
הצבעתו ולהעביר אותה לחברה באמצעות מערכת ההצבעה האלקטרונית. 

כתב ההצבעה האלקטרוני נפתח להצבעה בתום המועד הקובע. ההצבעה באמצעות מערכת 
ההצבעה האלקטרונית תסתיים שש (6) שעות לפני מועד האסיפה (ביום 28 ביולי 2022 בשעה 

08:00 בבוקר שעון ישראל), אז תיסגר מערכת ההצבעה האלקטרונית. 

בעל מניה המצביע באמצעות כתב הצבעה אלקטרוני אינו נדרש להמציא לחברה אישור בעלות באופן 
המפורט לעיל ביחס לבעל מניה המצביע בכתב הצבעה שאינו אלקטרוני. 

בעל מניות אחד או יותר המחזיק מניות בשיעור המהווה חמישה אחוזים או יותר מסך כל זכויות 
ההצבעה בחברה, וכן מי שמחזיק בשיעור כאמור מתוך סך כל זכויות ההצבעה שאינן מוחזקות בידי 
בעל שליטה בחברה (כקבוע בסעיף 268 לחוק החברות), זכאי לעיין בכתבי הצבעה כמפורט בתקנה 

10 לתקנות כתבי הצבעה.

כמות המניות המהוות 5% מסך כל זכויות ההצבעה בחברה (ללא מניות אוצר) הנה 9,253,771.20 
מניות רגילות, נכון ליום 20 ביוני 2022.

כמות המניות המהוות 5% מסך כל זכויות ההצבעה בחברה (ללא מניות אוצר) שאינן מוחזקות בידי 
בעל שליטה (כקבוע בסעיף 268 לחוק החברות) הנה 6,760,631.20 מניות רגילות, נכון ליום 20 ביוני 

.2022

ציון אופן ההצבעה בכתב ההצבעה
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בעל מניות יציין את אופן הצבעתו לגבי נושאים 1, 4-6 שעל סדר היום הכפופים להליכי הצבעה 
בכתב, בחלקו השני של כתב ההצבעה. כאשר לגבי נושא 4 על סדר היום, בעל מניות רשאי להצביע 
על עמדתו ביחס למינוי של כל אחד מהמועמדים לכהונה כדירקטורים באופן נפרד. לא נדרשת 

הצבעה בקשר עם הדיון בנושאים 2-3 על סדר היום.
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חברת פרטנר תקשורת בע"מ 
תאריך: 22 ביוני, 2022

תוספת

(תקנה 5 (א))

כתב הצבעה - חלק שני

תקנות החברות (הצבעה בכתב והודעות עמדה), התשס"ו-2005 (להלן - התקנות)

שם החברה: חברת פרטנר תקשורת בע"מ ("החברה")

מען החברה (למסירה ומשלוח כתבי הצבעה והודעות עמדה): עו"ד שרית הכט, מזכירת החברה, או 
עו"ד הלית מגידו או עו"ד תמי לוי, חברת פרטנר תקשורת בע"מ, רחוב העמל 8, ראש העין, 4810302 

ישראל (נא לסמן בבירור "כתב הצבעה" או "הודעת עמדה" על המעטפה)

מס' החברה: 520044314

מועד האסיפה: יום חמישי, 28 ביולי 2022, בשעה 14:00 שעון ישראל.

סוג האסיפה: שנתית

המועד הקובע: 28 ביוני 2022.

הערה - במקביל לכתב הצבעה זה מופץ לבעלי המניות תרגום של כתב ההצבעה לשפה האנגלית 
Deed of -בעלי המניות מתבקשים לשלוח רק כתב הצבעה זה (בעברית) או את ה .(Deed of Vote)

Vote (באנגלית) ולא לשלוח במקביל את שניהם. אם יישלחו שניהם במקביל הרי שבמקרה של 
סתירה ביניהם (כפי שייקבע על-ידי מזכירת החברה), לא תבוא הצבעת בעלי המניות במניין. 

פרטי בעל המניות:

שם בעל המניות 
______________________________________________________________________

מספר זהות 
______________________________________________________________________

אם אין לבעל המניות תעודת זהות ישראלית-

מספר דרכון __________________________________________________________
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המדינה שבה הוצא _____________________________________________________

בתוקף עד ___________________________________________________________

אם בעל המניות הוא תאגיד-

מספר תאגיד __________________________________________________________

מדינת ההתאגדות ______________________________________________________



- 14 -

אופן ההצבעה:

לעניין אישור עסקה לפי סעיפים 
255, ו-272 עד 275 לחוק 
החברות (שהרוב הנדרש 

לאישורה אינו רוב רגיל), האם 
אתה בעל "ענין אישי" בהחלטה, 

"בעל שליטה" בחברה, "נושא 
משרה בכירה" או "משקיע 

מוסדי"1?

אופן ההצבעה2 הנושא על סדר היום

לא כן3 נמנע נגד בעד

נושא 1 על סדר היום - אישור מינויים מחדש של קסלמן 
PricewaterhouseCoopers International וקסלמן, חברי

Limited Group, כרואי החשבון של החברה לתקופה 
המסתיימת בתום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה של בעלי 
המניות של החברה ולהסמיך את הדירקטוריון לאשר, לאחר 
אישור ועדת הביקורת, את תגמול רואי החשבון של החברה, 

בהתאם להיקף ואופי שירותיהם.

נושא 2 על סדר היום - דיון בדוחות הכספיים המבוקרים של 
החברה לשנה שהסתיימה ביום 31 בדצמבר 2021.

נושא זה אינו כפוף להליכי הצבעה בכתב.

נושא 3 על סדר היום - דיון בשכרם של רואי החשבון לשנה 
שהסתיימה ביום 31 בדצמבר 2021, כפי שנקבע על ידי ועדת 
הביקורת והדירקטוריון, ובדו"ח הדירקטוריון לגבי השכר 
המשולם לרואי החשבון ולחברות קשורות להם לשנה 

שהסתיימה ביום 31 בדצמבר 2021.

נושא זה אינו כפוף להליכי הצבעה בכתב.

נושא 4 על סדר היום – א. בחירה ומינוי של מר גדעון קדוסי 
כדירקטור בחברה עד תום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה.

1 אנא פרט את מהות ה"ענין האישי" בהחלטה, מדוע הנך מהווה "בעל שליטה" בחברה, האם אתה "נושא משרה בכירה" או "משקיע 
מוסדי" (לפי המקרה) במקום המיועד לכך לאחר הטבלה. פירוט ענין אישי באישור המינוי, שאינו כתוצאה מקשר עם בעל השליטה, אינו 
נדרש. "ענין אישי" מוגדר בסעיף 1 לחוק החברות, תשנ"ט-1999 ("חוק החברות") כעניין אישי של אדם בפעולה או בעסקה של חברה, 
לרבות ענין אישי של קרובו ושל תאגיד אחר שהוא או קרובו הם בעלי ענין בו, ולמעט ענין אישי הנובע מעצם החזקת מניות בחברה, 
לרבות ענין אישי של אדם המצביע על-פי ייפוי כוח שניתן לו מאת אדם אחר אף אם אין לאחר ענין אישי, וכן יראו הצבעה של מי שקיבל 
ייפוי כוח להצביע בשם מי שיש לו ענין אישי כהצבעה של בעל העניין אישי, והכל בין אם שיקול הדעת בהצבעה הוא בידי המצביע ובין 
אם לאו. חוק החברות מפנה להגדרה של "שליטה" על-פי סעיף 1 לחוק ניירות ערך, תשכ"ח-1968 ("חוק ניירות ערך") המגדיר 
"שליטה" כיכולת לכוון את פעילותו של תאגיד, למעט יכולת הנובעת רק ממילוי תפקיד של דירקטור או משרה אחרת בתאגיד, וחזקה על 
אדם שהוא שולט בתאגיד אם הוא מחזיק לפחות מחצית מ-(i) זכות ההצבעה באסיפה הכללית; או (ii) הזכות למנות דירקטורים או את 
המנהל הכללי של החברה. לעניין אישור ההחלטות בנושאים המפורטים, ייחשב בעל שליטה גם מי שמחזיק ב25% או יותר מזכויות 
ההצבעה באסיפה הכללית של החברה; לעניין החזקה, יראו שניים או יותר, המחזיקים בזכויות הצבעה בחברה ואשר לכל אחד מהם יש 
ענין אישי באישור אותה עסקה המובאת לאישור, כמחזיקים יחד. על-פי סעיף 37(ד) לחוק ניירות ערך, "נושא משרה בכירה" הנו, ככלל, 
מנהל כללי, מנהל עסקים ראשי, משנה למנהל כללי, סגן מנהל כללי, כל ממלא תפקיד כאמור בחברה אף אם תוארו שונה, דירקטור, או 
מנהל הכפוף במישרין למנהל הכללי; וכן יושב ראש דירקטוריון, דירקטור חליף, יחיד שמונה לפי סעיף 236 לחוק החברות מטעם תאגיד 
המכהן כדירקטור, חשב, מבקר פנימי, מורשה חתימה עצמאי, וכל ממלא תפקיד כאמור גם אם תואר משרתו שונה, וכן נושא משרה 
בכירה בתאגיד בשליטת התאגיד, אשר יש לו השפעה מהותית על התאגיד וכל יחיד המועסק בתאגיד בתפקיד אחר, המחזיק חמישה 
אחוזים או יותר מן הערך הנקוב של הון המניות המוצא או מכוח ההצבעה. "משקיע מוסדי" - כהגדרתו בתקנה 1 לתקנות הפיקוח על 
שירותים פיננסיים (קופות גמל) (השתתפות חברה מנהלת באסיפה כללית), התשס"ט-2009, וכן מנהל קרן להשקעות משותפות 

בנאמנות כמשמעותו בחוק השקעות משותפות בנאמנות, התשנ"ד-1994.
2 אי-סימון בטור כלשהו ייחשב הימנעות מהצבעה באותו נושא. סימון ביותר מטור אחד יפסול את ההצבעה.

3 אי סימון בטור כלשהו או סימון בטור "כן" ללא מתן פירוט לגבי מהות הענין האישי או היות בעל המניות בעל שליטה בחברה (לפי 

המקרה), או סימון בשני הטורים, יפסול את ההצבעה.
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לעניין אישור עסקה לפי סעיפים 
255, ו-272 עד 275 לחוק 
החברות (שהרוב הנדרש 

לאישורה אינו רוב רגיל), האם 
אתה בעל "ענין אישי" בהחלטה, 

"בעל שליטה" בחברה, "נושא 
משרה בכירה" או "משקיע 

מוסדי"1?

אופן ההצבעה2 הנושא על סדר היום

לא כן3 נמנע נגד בעד

נושא 4 על סדר היום – ב. בחירה ומינוי של מר שלמה רודב 
כדירקטור בחברה עד תום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה.

נושא 4 על סדר היום – ג. בחירה ומינוי של מר יהודה סבן 
כדירקטור בחברה עד תום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה.

נושא 4 על סדר היום – ד. בחירה ומינוי של גב' ענת כהן-שפכט 
כדירקטורית בחברה עד תום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה.

נושא 4 על סדר היום – ה. בחירה ומינוי של מר דורון שטיגר 
כדירקטור בחברה עד תום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה.

נושא 4 על סדר היום – ו. בחירה ומינוי של מר אורי ירון 
כדירקטור בחברה עד תום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה.

נושא 4 על סדר היום – ז. בחירה ומינוי של מר שלמה זוהר 
כדירקטור בחברה עד תום האסיפה הכללית השנתית הבאה.

נושא 5 על סדר היום –  אישור תנאי התגמול של מר שלמה 
רודב ומר דורון שטיגר והענקת כתבי שיפוי ופטור.

נושא 6 על סדר היום –  אישור תנאי כהונתו והעסקתו של 
מנכ"ל החברה, מר אבי גבאי, לרבות מענק מיוחד לשנת 2022 

והענקת כתב שיפוי ופטור, אך למעט מענק שנתי ותגמול הוני.

לגבי נושאים  5 ו-6 על סדר היום, נא לפרט מדוע יש לך "ענין אישי" בהחלטה, מדוע אתה מהווה 
"בעל שליטה" בחברה, האם אתה "נושא משרה בכירה" או "משקיע מוסדי":

* * *
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לבעלי מניות המחזיקים במניות באמצעות חבר בורסה (לפי סעיף 177(1) לחוק החברות) - כתב 
הצבעה זה תקף רק בצירוף אישור בעלות. 

לבעלי מניות הרשומים במרשם בעלי המניות של החברה - כתב הצבעה זה תקף בצירוף צילום 
תעודת זהות/דרכון/תעודת התאגדות. 

 X בשתי האפשרויות, או יסומן X או יסומן ,X עליך לסמן אחת משתי האפשרויות להלן (אם לא יסומן
באפשרות השנייה (השלילית) ולא צוין מספר מניות, ההצבעה תיפסל):1

כן. אני מאשר/ת את ההצהרה להלן.  �

אני הח"מ מצהיר(ה) בזאת כי החזקותיי בחברה והצבעתי אינן דורשות הסכמת שר 
התקשורת, בהתאם (i) לסעיפים 21 (העברת אמצעי שליטה) או 23 (איסור בעלות צולבת) 
לרישיון הכללי של החברה למתן שירותי רדיו טלפון נייד בשיטה התאית (רט"ן) משנת 1998 

(כפי שתוקן, ה"רשיון"); או (ii) לרישיונות אחרים שהוענקו לפרטנר2. 

לא. אני איני מאשר/ת את ההצהרה לעיל. אני מחזיק/ה, יחד עם אחרים, ________ מניות  �
רגילות של פרטנר ואחזקותיי דורשות את הסכמת שר התקשורת כאמור לעיל.

_______________   _______________

 תאריך                חתימה

שם (באותיות דפוס): _______________

               
תפקיד: ______________________

במקרה שבעל מניות הינו "בעל ענין", כפי שמוגדר ברישיון, המצביע באופן שונה לגבי כל חלק ממניותיו הרגילות, יש להגיש כתב   1
הצבעה נפרד לגבי כל כמות של מניות רגילות לגביה הוא מתכוון להצביע באופן שונה.

במסגרת רישיונות שהוענקו, במישרין או בעקיפין לפרטנר, נדרש אישור של משרד התקשורת, או דווח אליו, להחזקה של 5%   2
ומעלה באמצעי שליטה של פרטנר.



[THIS DEED OF VOTE IS A CONVENIENCE TRANSLATION OF THE BINDING 
HEBREW VERSION OF THE DEED OF VOTE (KTAV HATZBA'A) REQUIRED BY 

ISRAELI LAW]

Date: June 22, 2022

Partner Communications Company Ltd.

Deed of Vote - Part I

In accordance with the Companies Regulations (Deeds of Vote and Position Notices)  
(2005) 

Name of the Company
Partner Communications Company Ltd. (the “Company”). 

Type, date and place of general meeting
Annual General Meeting (the “AGM”) will be held on Thursday, July 28, 2022 at 14:00 
(Israel time), at the Company's offices, 8 Ha’amal Street, Rosh Ha’ayin, Israel or at any 
adjournment thereof. The telephone number for inquiries is +972-54-7814191.

Pursuant to the Israeli Companies Law (1999), as amended (the “Israeli Companies 
Law”) and the Israeli Companies Regulations (Deeds of Vote and Position Notices) 
(2005), as amended (the “Deed of Vote Regulations”), shareholders who will not 
attend the meeting in person may vote with respect to items 1, 4-6 on the agenda by a 
Hebrew form of deed of vote (ktav hatzba'a) and these items are subject to provisions 
set forth in the Israeli Companies Law and the Deed of Vote Regulations (the 
“Regulations Procedure”). For the shareholder’s convenience, items 2-3 on the agenda 
are also included in this document although said items are not subject to the Regulations 
Procedure.

For the shareholders’ convenience, items 2-3  on the agenda, which are not subject 
to the Regulations Procedure, are set forth below:

Item 2 on the agenda- Discussion of the auditor’s remuneration for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, as determined by the Audit Committee and by the Board of 
Directors of the Company, and the report of the Board of Directors with respect to the 
remuneration paid to the auditor and its affiliates for the year ended December 31, 2021; 
and 

Item 3 on the agenda- Discussion of the Company’s audited financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2021 and the report of the Board of 
Directors for such period.
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Items 1, 4-6 on the agenda, which are subject to the Regulations Procedure, are set 
forth below:

Item 1 on the agenda- Approval of the re-appointment of Kesselman & Kesselman, 
independent certified public accountants in Israel and a member of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers International Limited group, as the Company's auditor 
for the period ending at the close of the next annual general meeting, and to 
authorize the Board of Directors to approve, after approval by the Audit 
Committee, the remuneration of the Company's auditor, in accordance with the 
scope and nature of their services.

Item 4 on the agenda - to elect and appoint five (5) directors from the following 
seven (7) candidates to serve as directors on the Company’s Board of Directors 
until the close of the next annual general meeting: Mr. Gideon Kadusi, Mr. Shlomo 
Rodav, Mr. Yehuda Saban, Ms. Anat-Cohen-Specht, Mr. Doron Steiger, Mr. Ori 
Yaron and Mr. Shlomo Zohar (the "Candidates to Serve as Directors").

The five directors that will be appointed to the Board of Directors, as the 
case may be, will be the Candidates to Serve as Directors that receive the most 
votes in favor of their appointment by the AGM, subject to their appointment 
receiving the required legal majority.

A shareholder participating in the vote on item 4 on the agenda may vote 
his position on the Deed of Vote with respect to the appointment of each of the 
Candidates to Serve as Directors separately.

Under the Israeli Companies Law, the directors of the Company (other than the 
external directors (Dahatzim) who generally serve for three year terms) shall be 
appointed at the AGM, unless otherwise provided in the Company’s Articles of 
Association, and shall serve in office until the close of the next annual general meeting, 
unless their office becomes vacant earlier in accordance with the provisions of the 
Israeli Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of Association. 

The Candidates to Serve as Directors will terminate their office as directors of 
the Company as of the end of the AGM. The Company's Board of Directors has 
resolved to recommend to the AGM to elect and appoint five directors from the 
following seven candidates to serve as directors on the Company’s Board of Directors 
until the close of the next annual general meeting: Mr. Gideon Kadusi, Mr. Shlomo 
Rodav, Mr. Yehuda Saban, Ms. Anat Cohen-Specht, Mr. Doron Steiger, Mr. Ori Yaron 
and Mr. Shlomo Zohar. The five directors that will be appointed will be those directors 
that receive the most votes in favor of their appointment by the AGM, subject to their 
appointment receiving the required legal majority. No change is hereby made to the 
services of Dr. Jonathan Kolodny, Ms. Michal Marom-Brikman and Ms. Roly Klinger 
as external directors (Dahatzim) of the Company.

The Company's Board of Directors has determined that the board should include 
at least three directors who are “accounting and financial experts” under the Israeli 
Companies Law and regulations promulgated thereunder. Ms. Michal Marom-Brikman,  
Dr. Jonathan Kolodny, Mr. Shlomo Rodav, Mr. Yehuda Saban, Ms. Anat Cohen-
Specht, Mr. Doron Steiger and Mr. Shlomo Zohar were determined by the Board of 
Directors to be “accounting and financial experts” under the Israeli Companies Law and 
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regulations promulgated thereunder. Ms. Marom-Brikman, Mr. Kadusi, Ms. Roly 
Klinger, Dr. Kolodny, Ms. Cohen-Specht and Mr. Zohar qualify as independent 
directors under the Israeli Companies Law and regulations promulgated thereunder 
(bilty taluy) and also qualify as independent directors according to U.S. law. U.S law 
requires that all the members of the Audit Committee and the Compensation Committee 
be independent directors. It should be noted that Mr. Barry Ben Zeev ceased to serve as 
a director in the Company on October 31, 2021.

In compliance with the Israeli Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of 
Association, the Extraordinary General Meeting of shareholders  held on March 18, 
2020 (the “2020 EGM”), approved the compensation terms for the current directors and 
those that will serve from time to time, including external directors and independent 
directors (excluding the Chairman of the Board of Directors, insofar as separate 
compensation terms will be determined with respect to the Chairman), which includes 
an annual fee, an attendance fee, reimbursement of Reasonable Expenses, benefit from 
the D&O insurance policy, and Indemnification and Release Letter  (the 
"Compensation Terms"). For further information regarding the  2020 EGM see 
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk202417
4.htm and https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf

The Compensation Terms of the Candidates to Serve as Directors are in 
accordance with those that were approved by the 2020 EGM.

Following is a list and brief biography of the seven candidates proposed to serve as a 
director on the Company's Board of Directors (from which, as stated, the five candidates 
who will receive the highest number of votes in favor at the AGM will be selected):

a. Mr. Gideon Kadusi - was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in 
April 2022. Mr. Kadusi has a consulting firm that provides business consulting 
services to owners and CEOs of mid-size private companies since 2015. Prior to 
that he served from 2014-2015 as the Acting CEO of Medton-Hedim Ltd. and 
former VP at Africa Israel Investments and Bezeq and as a board member at 
Bezeq’s Subsidiaries. Mr. Kadusi holds a B.Sc.T.E in Electrical and Electronics 
Engineering and an Executive M.B.A, both from Tel-Aviv University. To the 
best knowledge of the Company and the Company's Directors, Mr. Kadusi is not 
a Family Member of another Interested Party (as both terms are defined in the 
Israeli Securities Law) in the Company.

b. Mr. Shlomo Rodav - was appointed to the Board of Directors in April 2022. 
Mr. Rodav served from 2020-2021 as the chairman of the Board of Directors of 
Yeinot Bitan Ltd. Prior to that he served from 2018-2020 as chairman of the 
Board of Directors of Bezek-the Israel Telecommunication Corp. Ltd. and prior 
to that he served as chairman and a board member of various public companies 
including Tnuva Ltd., Gilat Satellite Telecommunication Ltd. and as chairman 
of the Board of Directors of Partner in 2013. Mr. Rodav is an accounting and 
financial expert, and holds a BA in Economics from Tel-Aviv University and an 
MBA degree from Columbia University. To the best knowledge of the Company 
and the Company's Directors, Mr. Rodav is not a Family Member of another 
Interested Party (as both terms are defined in the Israeli Securities Law) in the 
Company.

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf
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c. Mr. Yehuda Saban - was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in 
April 2015. Mr. Saban served between 2011- mid 2015 as Vice President 
Economics & Regulation and FLNG (Floating Liquefied Natural Gas) manager 
at Delek Drilling & Avner Oil Exploration. Previously, Mr. Saban served over 6 
years in various capacities with the budget department of the Ministry of 
Finance as Manager of the Telecommunications and Tourism Unit, Manager of 
the Budget and Macroeconomics unit and as an economist in the Energy unit. 
During those years, Mr. Saban was also an active partner in a number of 
committees and authorities in the energy, telecommunications and infrastructure 
fields. Mr. Saban serves on the Board of Directors of Israel Opportunity Energy 
Resources LP and as Chairman of its Compensation and Audit Committee as of 
June 2015. Mr. Saban also serves as director of operations for Israel and VP of 
Business Development at Ellomay Capital Ltd. Mr. Saban holds a B.A. in 
Economics & Business Management (graduated with honors) and an M.B.A 
specializing in Financing, both from the Hebrew University in Jerusalem. To the 
best knowledge of the Company and the Company's Directors, Mr. Saban is not 
a Family Member of another Interested Party (as both terms are defined in the 
Israeli Securities Law) in the Company.

d. Ms. Anat Cohen-Specht - was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in 
April 2022. Ms. Cohen Specht serves as an external director on the Board of 
Directors of the Israel Airports Authority and is managing partner at UrbaniPro, 
a global real estate investment company. Previously, she served from 2015-2017 
as the CEO of Suny Cellular Communications Ltd. During the years 2008-2015 
she served in various senior positions in private telecommunication companies. 
Ms. Cohen-Specht holds a B.A in Humanities and the History of Art and an 
Executive M.B.A, both from Tel-Aviv University. To the best knowledge of the 
Company and the Company's Directors, Ms. Cohen-Specht is not a Family 
Member of another Interested Party (as both terms are defined in the Israeli 
Securities Law) in the Company.

e. Mr. Doron Steiger - was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in April 
2022. Mr. Steiger serves as active chairman and advisor for Kibbutz Revivim 
and CEO of Kerur Holdings Ltd. Mr. Steiger is a board member of public and 
private companies including Novolog Ltd., Jafora Tabori Ltd., Jafora Ltd., 
Ashdar Building Company Ltd., and Tapugan Industries Ltd. Between 2010-
2021 Mr. Steiger provided financial and business development consulting 
services to private companies. Mr. Steiger is an accounting and financial expert, 
and holds a B.A in Economics and an M.B.A-Financing, both from Tel-Aviv 
University. To the best knowledge of the Company and the Company's 
Directors, Mr. Steiger is not a Family Member of another Interested Party (as 
both terms are defined in the Israeli Securities Law) in the Company.
 

f. Mr. (Adv.) Ori Yaron - was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in 
May 2014. Mr. Yaron practices law and manages Ilan Yaron Law Offices that 
specializes in the areas of insurance and torts. Mr. Yaron served from 2010 until 
2016 as a member of the Board of Directors of the Geophysics Institute and 
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served from 2006 until 2007 as a member of the Board of Directors of Mekorot 
Development & Enterprise and from 2011 until 2014 as a member of the Board 
of Directors of Hozei Israel Ltd. Mr. Yaron holds a B.A. in economics and an 
LL.B. both from Tel-Aviv University and is a member of the Israeli Bar 
Association. To the best knowledge of the Company and the Company's 
Directors, Mr. Yaron is not a Family Member of another Interested Party (as 
both terms are defined in the Israeli Securities Law) in the Company.

g. Mr. Shlomo Zohar was appointed to the Board of Directors of Partner in 
October 2020. He serves, among others, as a director at Delek USA Energy, 
Inc., Ham-Let (Israel –Canada) Ltd. and Isras Investment Company Ltd. 
Between January 2006 and December 2009, Mr. Zohar served as a member and 
chairman of the boards of directors of Israel Discount Bank Ltd., Mercantile 
Discount Bank Ltd., Israel Discount Capital Markets & Investments Ltd. and 
Israel Credit Cards, Ltd. During this time, Mr. Zohar also served as a member 
and vice chairman of the board of directors of Israel Discount Bank of New 
York and as a member of the board of directors of Discount Bancorp, Inc. Mr. 
Zohar served as Chief Executive Officer of A.D.O. Group Ltd. from July 2011 
until December 2018 and served as an executive vice chairman of the Board of 
ADO Properties SA and since June 2018 he serves as chairman of the executive 
committee at Bar Ilan University. From 1980 to December 2005, he was a 
partner in the accounting firm of Zohar, Zohar & Co., CPA (Isr). Mr. Zohar is a 
certified public accountant in Israel. He holds a B.A. in Economics and 
Accounting from Bar-Ilan University and an MBA degree from McGill 
University. To the best knowledge of the Company and the Company's 
Directors, Mr. Zohar is not a Family Member of another Interested Party (as 
both terms are defined in the Israeli Securities Law) in the Company.

The five directors that will be appointed to the Board of Directors, as the case 
may be, will be the Candidates to Serve as Directors that receive the most votes 
in favor of their appointment by the AGM, subject to their appointment 
receiving the required legal majority.

A shareholder participating in the vote on item 4 on the agenda may vote 
his position on the Deed of Vote with respect to the appointment of each of the 
Candidates to Serve as Directors separately. It should be clarified that this vote 
may be done with respect to each and every one of the Candidates to Serve as 
Directors and the shareholder is not limited to vote with repect to five of the 
Candidates to Serve as Directors.

It is proposed that at the AGM the following resolutions be adopted:

“RESOLVED: to elect and appoint five (5) directors from the 
following seven (7) candidates to serve as directors on the 
Company’s Board of Directors until the close of the next annual 
general meeting: Mr. Gideon Kadusi, Mr. Shlomo Rodav, Mr. 
Yehuda Saban, Ms. Anat Cohen-Specht, Mr. Doron Steiger, Mr. 
Ori Yaron and Mr. Shlomo Zohar to serve as directors of the 
Company until the close of the next annual general meeting, 
unless their office becomes vacant earlier in accordance with the 
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provisions of the Israeli Companies Law and the Company’s 
Articles of Association;

RESOLVED: this resolution is in the best interest of the 
Company.”

Item 5 on the agenda-to approve the compensation terms of Mr. Shlomo Rodav 
and Mr. Doron Steiger as directors, including the grant of Indemnification and 
Release Letters.

In compliance with the Israeli Companies Law and the Company’s Articles of 
Association, the 2020 EGM approved the compensation terms for the current directors 
and those that will serve from time to time, including external directors and independent 
directors (excluding the Chairman of the Board of Directors, insofar as separate 
compensation terms will be determined with respect to the Chairman), which includes 
an annual fee, an attendance fee, reimbursement of of Reasonable Expenses, benefit 
from the D&O insurance policy, and Indemnification and Release Letter (the 
"Compensation Terms"). The 2020 EGM noted that regarding directors that will be 
appointed in the future, insofar as they will be appointed, that are controlling parties or 
their relatives or that a controlling shareholder has an interest in their appointment, 
additional resolutions may need to be adopted in accordance with the law.

 For further information regarding the compensation of our directors see 
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk202417
4.htm and https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf

On April 4, 2022, Amphissa Holding Limited Partnership (“Amphissa”) 
purchased 49,862,800 of the Company’s Ordinary Shares which constitute 
approximately 27% of the Company’s issued and outstanding share capital. Therefore 
Amphissa is considered as a Controlling Party according to section 268 to the Israeli 
Companies Law. To the best knowledge of the Company, one of two general partners of 
Amphissa is Israel Lighterage and Supply Co. Ltd. (“Lighterage and Supply”) which 
is 50% owned by Mr. Shlomo Rodav. 

Mr Doron Steiger serves as CEO of Kerur Holding Ltd. ("Kerur"), 63% owned 
by Lighterage and Supply. 

Mr. Shlomo Rodav and Mr. Doron Steiger were appointed to the Company's 
Board of Directors on April 7, 2022. Therefore, following the approval of the 
Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors, it is proposed to approve the 
compensation terms of Mr. Shlomo Rodav and Mr. Doron Steiger as directors, 
including the grant of Indemnification and Release letters, effective from their 
appointment date on April 7, 2022,  which are identical to the compensation terms that 
were approved by the 2020 EGM with respect to current directors and those that will 
serve from time to time, including external directors and independent directors as 
mentioned above (the “Compensation Terms”). The Compensation Terms are in 
accordance with the Company's Compensation Policy for Office Holders which was 
approved by the shareholders at the AGM dated October 29, 2019 (the “Compensation 
Policy”). For the terms of the Compensation Policy, see Annex "D" from the 
Company’s Report on Form 6-K filed on August 28, 2019 (incorporated herein by 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891320000846/zk2024174.htm
https://mayafiles.tase.co.il/rpdf/1284001-1285000/P1284244-00.pdf
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reference) at:  
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891319002275/zk192344
5.htm and https://maya.tase.co.il/reports/details/1250374/2/0.

Mr. Shlomo Rodav and Mr. Doron Steiger are also covered under the current 
D&O insurance policy, which their coverage was approved by the Compensation 
Committte according to regulation 1B1 in accordance with the Companies Regulations 
(Relief for Transactions with Interested Parties), 5760-2000.

It should be noted that Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors have 
resolved that the Maximum Indemnity Amount in the Indemnification and Release 
Letter is reasonable given the circumstances and that the indemnification events listed in 
Schedule I of the Indemnification and Release Letter are anticipated in light of Partner's 
current activities. The Indemnification and Release Letter is attached as Annex "C". 

It is proposed that at the AGM the following resolutions be adopted:

(i) RESOLVED: to approve the Compensation Terms of Mr. Shlomo 
Rodav and Mr. Doron Steiger as directors effective from their 
appointment date on April 7, 2022; 

(ii) RESOLVED: this resolution is in the best interest of the Company.”

Item 6 on the agenda- to approve the terms of office and employment of the CEO 
of the Company, Mr. Avi Gabbay including a special bonus for the year 2022 and 
the grant of an Indemnification and Release Letter, but excluding the annual cash 
bonus and equity incentive.

On May 23, 2022, in accordance with the recommendation of the Company's 
Nominating Committee, the Board of Directors of the Company announced the 
appointment of Mr. Avi Gabbay, to the office of CEO of the Company, effective June 1, 
2022. 

According to that stated, presented herewith for approval are the terms of office 
and employment of the CEO.

As of the dates of the Proxy Statement, the terms of office and employment of 
the CEO do not include an annual cash bonus for the year 2023 and henceforth 
(but include terms for a special bonus for the year 2022) and equity incentive. 
These components will be brought separately for the approval of the 
Compensation Committee, the Board of Directors and the General Meeting of 
Shareholders after formulation of a new Compensation Policy for the Company's 
office holders.

This summary is qualified in its entirety by reference to the description in the 
Proxy Statement.

Pursuant to section 272 (C.1.)(1) of the Israeli Companies Law, a company’s 
engagement with the company’s general manager in relation to his terms of office and 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1096691/000117891316006282/zk1618897.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891319002275/zk1923445.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/0001096691/000117891319002275/zk1923445.htm
https://maya.tase.co.il/reports/details/1250374/2/0


- 8 -

employment that conforms to the compensation policy, must be approved by the 
compensation committee, the board of directors and the general meeting of the 
shareholders by a special majority set forth in section 267A of the Israeli Companies 
Law.

In addition, to the best knowledge of the Company, one of two general partners 
of Amphissa is Zela Holdings Ltd., a company wholly owned by Mr. Gabbay. Therefore 
his terms of office and employment must also be approved as a transaction with a 
controlling shareholder according to sections 270(4) and 272 of the Israeli Companies 
Law. 

In light of the recommendation of the nominating committee appointed by the 
Board of Directors to appoint a CEO, upon conclusion of the comprehensive and 
orderly process that it conducted, the Board of Directors determined that Mr. Avi 
Gabbay is the most suitable candidate to serve as CEO and lead Partner in its continued 
business activity for the coming years. 

As stated above, the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors of the 
Company resolved that the terms of office and employment for Mr. Gabbay would be 
approved in two tranches and that the annual bonus arrangements applicable as of 2023 
and the equity compensation component will be brought separately for approval to the 
Compensation Committee, the Board of Directors and the General Meeting of 
Shareholders after formulation of a new Compensation Policy for office holders. 

The Compensation Committee of the Company discussed the terms of office and 
employment of the Company’s CEO that are brought for the approval of this AGM after 
which the Company’s Board of Directors discussed the matter. The directors 
determined that the current components of Mr. Gabbay’s terms of office and 
employment are in accordance with the Company’s Compensation Policy.

The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors considered the 
provisions of the Compensation Policy, which include, inter alia, the requirement that 
compensation be linked to performance and that a correlation must be made between the 
interests of the Company’s CEO and the interests of the Company and its shareholders, 
while examining criteria and relevant benchmarks in the market.

Prior to the meetings that approved Mr. Gabbay’s terms of office and employment 
that are brought for the approval of this AGM, data was presented to the Compensation 
Committee and to the Board of Directors of the Company with regard to: the CEO’s 
package of terms of office and employment; with regard to the Compensation Policy 
and its implications in terms of the cost of employing him at the Company; with regard 
to the comparative analysis conducted by Professor Moshe Zviran Ltd. of the terms of 
office and employment of CEOs at companies comparable to the Company; with regard 
to Mr. Gabbay's education, expertise, professional experience and achievements and the 
degree of responsibility required for the position of CEO and the challenges he faces 
and data regarding the ratio between the proposed compensation and the Salary Cost of 
the rest of the Company’s employees and, particularly, the ratio to the average Salary 
Cost and the median Salary Cost of such employees and the impact of the gaps between 
them on labor relations in the Company.
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The rationale of the Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors for 
approving the terms of office and employment of the Company’s CEO are set forth in 
the Proxy Statement.

Considering the set of parameters and considerations, as well as the arguments 
specified in the Proxy Statement, and considering, inter alia, the size of the Company, 
and the scope, complexity and nature of its operations, considering the complexity of 
the office and the degree of responsibility being imposed on Mr. Avi Gabbay, the 
Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors determined that the terms of 
employment of the CEO, Mr. Avi Gabbay, are fair, reasonable and customary, under the 
circumstances. The Compensation Committee and Board of Directors have resolved to 
recommend to the AGM, to approve the terms of office and employment of the CEO, 
Mr. Avi Gabbay.

In accordance with the Israeli Companies Law, if the shareholders oppose the 
approval of the said terms of office and employment, the Compensation Committee and 
Board of Directors may approve said plan, in “special cases”, notwithstanding 
shareholders’ opposition, after having held another discussion of the terms of office and 
employment, and on the basis of detailed reasoning that considered the rationale behind 
the AGM’ opposition and determined that this resolution is in the best interest of the 
Company.

It is proposed that at the AGM the following resolutions be adopted:

(i) “RESOLVED: to approve the terms of office and employment of 
the CEO, Mr. Avi Gabbay including the grant of an Indemnification 
and Release Letter effective from his appointment date on June 1, 
2022; 

(ii) RESOLVED: this resolution is in the best interest of the 
Company.”

For further details in respect of the items on the AGM agenda and the complete 
wording of the proposed resolutions, kindly see the Proxy Statement dated June 22, 
2022 distributed with this Deed of Vote.

Place and time for review of the full wording of the proposed resolutions:

The Proxy Statement, distributed with this Deed of Vote, contains the full text of the 
proposed resolutions and will be available for review at the Company offices, 8 
Ha’amal Street, Rosh Ha’ayin, Israel, Sunday-Thursday, from 9 a.m. to 5 p.m. (Israel 
time) following prior coordination at telephone number +972-54-7814191, until the 
time of the AGM, convened to approve the items on the agenda. In addition, the Proxy 
Statement is available on the websites: www.magna.isa.gov.il and www.maya.tase.co.il; 
and on the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s EDGAR System 
http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml. The Proxy Statement includes additional information 
on the content of this Deed of Vote and it is important that the shareholders will also 
review it.

The required majority for the approval of each of the items on the agenda:

http://www.magna.isa.gov.il/
http://www.maya.tase.co.il/


- 10 -

The required majority for the approval of item 1 on the agenda, and of item 4 on the 
agenda, which is subject to the Regulations Procedure, is the vote of the holders of a 
majority of the Company's Ordinary Shares, par value NIS 0.01 per share (the 
“Ordinary Shares”) participating in the AGM and voting on the matter. For item 4 on 
the agenda, the five directors that will be appointed to the Board of Directors of the 
Company, as the case may be, will be the directors who will receive the highest number 
of votes in favor at the AGM, subject to their appointment receiving the required legal 
majority.

No vote is required in connection with the discussion of items 2-3 on the agenda. The 
required majority for the approval of items 5-6 on the agenda, which is subject to the 
Regulations Procedure, is the vote of the holders of a majority of the Ordinary Shares 
participating in the AGM and voting on the matter; provided, that one of the following 
conditions is fulfilled: (i) the majority of votes in favor of the matter shall include at 
least a majority of the votes of shareholders not constituting Controlling Parties (as 
stated in the Israeli Companies Law, including section 268 of the Israeli Companies 
Law, “Controlling Party”) in the Company, or those having a Personal Interest (as 
defined in the Israeli Companies Law, a “Personal Interest”) in the approval of these 
items, participating in the vote; which votes shall not include abstaining votes; or (ii) the 
total number of objecting votes of the shareholders mentioned in clause (i) does not 
exceed 2% of the total voting rights in the Company. 

Notice of Disclosure of linkage (zika) and Restrictions under the License:

In the second part of this Deed of Vote there is a designated space for marking and 
detailing whether the shareholder has a Personal Interest in the resolution, the 
shareholder is a Controlling Party in the Company, is a Senior Office Holder or is an 
Institutional Investor (as the case may be), as set in the Israeli Companies Law and 
Deed of Vote Regulations. If a shareholder does not so mark or detail, the shareholder’s 
vote shall not be counted in respect of items 5-6 on the agenda.

Each shareholder is also required to indicate if any of the shareholder’s holdings in 
Partner or vote requires the consent of the Minister of Communications pursuant to 
Partner’s Licenses. If a shareholder does not so mark, the shareholder’s vote shall not be 
counted. 

Validity of the Deed of Vote:

A Deed of Vote submitted by shareholders who hold their shares through a member in 
the Tel-Aviv Stock Exchange (the “Exchange”) will be valid only if accompanied by an 
ownership certificate. A Deed of Vote submitted by registered shareholders shall be 
valid only if accompanied by a copy of I.D., passport or incorporation certificate. 

Following legislative changes, the Israeli Securities Authority has established an 
electronic voting system for shareholder meetings of publicly listed Israeli companies 
via its MAGNA system, following a registration process, no later than six hours before 
the time fixed for the AGM.
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The Deed of Vote shall be submitted to the Company or mailed by registered mail, 
so it arrives to the Company’s offices no later than 4 hours prior to the time of the 
AGM or voted electronically as set forth above. 

The Company’s address for submission of Deeds of Vote and Position Notices is:

Sarit Hecht, Adv., Company Secretary, or Helit Megido, Adv. or Tami Levy, Adv. 
Partner Communications Company Ltd., 8 Ha’amal Street, Rosh Ha’ayin, 4810302 
Israel (kindly mark clearly “deed of vote” or “position notice” on the envelope).

The deadline for submission of Position Notices and the Board’s response to such 
Notices are:

The deadline for submission of Position Notices by the shareholders in respect of items 
1, 4-6 on the agenda is: July 19, 2022.

The deadline for submission of the Board of Directors’ response to Position Notices (if 
any) is: July 24, 2022.

Changes to the agenda and publication of Position Notices

After filing the Deed of Vote, changes to the AGM agenda may be made, including by 
adding an item to the agenda following a shareholder request (in accordance with 
Section 66(b) to the Israeli Companies Law) submitted to the Company no later than 
June 29, 2022 (seven (7) days following the date of filing the attached Proxy 
Statement). In such case, the Company will file an amended agenda and an amended 
Deed of Vote no later than July 6, 2022. The filing of an amended agenda will not 
require the change of the Record Date as set forth above and in the attached Proxy 
Statement. Additionally, Position Notices may be published, as stated above. 

The Deed of Vote (or the amended Deed of Vote, if any) and Position Notices (if 
any) are available at the following websites: 

Israel Securities Authority website: www.magna.isa.gov.il
Tel Aviv Stock Exchange website: www.maya.tase.co.il
U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission’s EDGAR System (only a convenience 
translation into English): http://www.sec.gov/edgar.shtml

Receipt of ownership certificates, Deeds of Vote and Position Notices:

A shareholder, whose shares are being held through a stock exchange member, is 
entitled to receive the ownership certificate in the branch of that stock exchange 
member or by the mail, if the shareholder requested. Such request shall be made in 
advance for a particular securities account.

A shareholder, whose shares are being held through an Exchange member, is entitled to 
receive from the stock exchange member who holds the share in the shareholder’s 
behalf, by e-mail, with no charge, a link to the text of the Deed of Vote and to the 
Position Notices posted on the Israel Securities Authority website, unless the 
shareholder notified the Exchange member that he is not interested in receipt of such 

http://www.magna.isa.gov.il/
http://www.maya.tase.co.il/
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link or he is interested in receipt of Deeds of Vote by mail (for charge). Shareholder’s 
notice in respect of Deeds of Vote shall apply to Position Notices as well.

One or more shareholders holding shares conferring in the aggregate at least five 
percent of the Company’s voting rights and shareholders holding the same rate of the 
Company’s voting rights not held by the Company’s "Controlling Party" (as stated in 
Section 268 of the Israeli Companies Law), are entitled to review the Deeds of Votes as 
detailed in Regulation 10 of the Deeds of Vote Regulations.

As of June 20, 2022, the amount of shares equivalent to five percent of the Company’s 
voting rights (excluding treasury shares) is: 9,253,771.20 Ordinary Shares.

As of June 20, 2022, the amount of shares equivalent to five percent of the Company’s 
voting rights (excluding treasury shares) not held by the Company’s Controlling Party 
(as stated in Section 268 of the Israeli Companies Law) is: 6,760,631.20 Ordinary 
Shares. 

Marking of Vote in the Deed of Vote:

Shareholder shall mark the shareholder's vote regarding each item on the agenda which 
is subject to the Regulations Procedure (items 1,4-6), in the second part of this Deed of 
Vote. With respect to item 4 on the agenda, a shareholder may vote his position in 
relation to the appointment of each of the Candidates to Serve as Directors, separately. 
No vote is required in connection with the discussion of items 2-3 on the agenda.
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Partner Communications Company Ltd.

Date: June 22, 2022

Addendum

Deed of Vote - Part II

In accordance with Regulation 5(a) of the Companies Regulations (Deeds of Vote and 
Position Notices) 2005 

Name of the Company: Partner Communications Company Ltd. (the “Company”)

The Company’s address (for submitting and sending Deeds of Vote and Position 
Papers): Sarit Hecht, Adv., Company Secretary, or Helit Megido, Adv. or Tami 
Levy, Adv., Partner Communications Company Ltd., 8 Ha’amal Street, Rosh Ha’ayin, 
4810302 Israel (kindly mark clearly "deed of vote" or "position paper" on the envelope)

Company’s registration number: 520044314 

Time of the meeting: Thursday, July 28, 2022 at 14:00 Israel time.

Type of meeting: Annual General Meeting

The Record Date: June 28, 2022.

Note - In parallel to distribution of this Deed of Vote, a Hebrew version of a Deed 
of Vote (ktav hatzba'a) per Israeli requirements will be distributed among the 
shareholders. The shareholders are requested to send only one version of a Deed of 
Vote (an English version or a Hebrew version, but not both). If both versions will 
be sent by shareholders, in case of contradiction between the two versions (as 
determined by the Company’s secretary), the vote shall be disqualified.

Shareholder’s Details:
Name of shareholder: _______________________________________
I.D. number: ______________________________________________
In case the shareholder does not hold an Israeli I.D.:

Passport number: __________________________________________
The country issuing the passport: _________________
Valid until: ____________________________________________

In case the shareholder is an entity:
Entity registration number: _______________________________

    Country of organization: ___________________________________
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Subject of the 
Resolution

Votea In respect of a transaction’s 
approval pursuant to sections 
255, 267A and 272 to 275 (the 
majority required for which is 
not an ordinary majority), of 
the Israeli Companies Law) or 
in respect of an amendment to 
the Company's Compensation 
Policy for Office Holders 
(section 267A (b) of the Israeli 
Companies Law) - do you have 
a “Personal Interest” in the 
resolution, are you a 
“Controlling Party” in the 
Company, a “Senior Office 
Holder” or an “Institutional 
Investor”b? 

For Against Abstain Yesc No

Item 1 on the agenda- 
Approval of the re-
appointment of 
Kesselman & 

Irrelevant Irrelevant

a If an X is not marked in either column, or if an X is marked in the "Yes" column and the shareholder does not 
provide details regarding the nature of the "Personal Interest" or the "Controlling Party" Interest (as the case may be), 
or an X is marked in both columns, the vote shall be  disqualified.

b Kindly provide details regarding the nature of your “Personal Interest” in the resolution, why do you constitute a 
“Controlling Party” in the Company, you are a “Senior Office Holder” or an “Institutional Investor” (as the case may 
be), at the designated space below the table. “Personal Interest” is defined in Section 1 of the Israeli Companies Law 
as a person’s personal interest in an act or a transaction of a company, including, without limitation, the personal 
interest of a person's relative and the personal interest of an entity in which the person or the person's relative is an 
interested party. Holding shares in the applicable company does not give rise to a “Personal Interest”. “Personal 
Interest” includes, without limitation, a personal interest of a person voting by proxy which was given by another 
person, even if the other person does not have a personal interest, and a person voting on behalf of a person having a 
personal interest will be deemed as having a personal interest, whether the voting discretion is in the voter’s hands or 
not. The Israeli Companies Law refers to the definition of “Control” in Section 1 of the Israeli Securities Law (1968), 
as amended, defining "Control" as the ability to direct the activity of a company, except for ability stemming only 
from being a director or holding another position in that company, and it is presumed that a person is controlling a 
company if said person "holds" (as defined therein) at least half of (i) the right to vote in the shareholders general 
meeting; or (ii) the right to appoint the directors or the general manager of that company. For approval of the 
resolutions regarding the detailed items, any shareholders holding 25% or more of the voting rights in a company will 
be deemed a “Controlling Party”. Two or more persons holding voting rights in a company whereas each of them has 
a personal interest in approving a certain transaction would be deemed “holding together”. According to section 37 
(d) of the Securities Law, a “Senior Office Holder” is, generally, a general manager, chief executive officer, deputy 
managing director, deputy director general, all  fulfilling such a role in the company even if his title is different, a 
director, or manager directly subordinated to the general manager; as well as chairman of the board, an alternate 
director, an individual appointed under section 236 of the Israeli Companies Law on behalf of the corporation who is 
a director, controller, an internal auditor, independent authorized signatory, and anyone fulfilling such a role, even if 
his job title is different, and a Senior Office Holder of a corporation controlled by the corporation, which has a 
significant impact on the corporation and any individual employed by a corporation in another position, holding  five 
percent or more of the nominal value of the issued share capital or voting rights. “Institutional Investor” - shall have 
the meaning defined in section 1 of the Supervisory Regulations Control of Financial Services (Provident Funds) 
(Participation of a Managing Company at a General Meeting), 2009, and a managing company of a Joint Investment 
Trust Fund as defined in the Joint Investment Trust Law, 1994.  

c If an X is not marked in either column, or if an X is marked in the “Yes” column and the shareholder does not 
provide details regarding the nature of the “Personal Interest” or the “Controlling Party” Interest (as the case may be), 
or an X is marked in both columns, the vote shall be disqualified.
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Kesselman, independent 
certified public 
accountants in Israel and 
a member of 
PricewaterhouseCoopers 
International Limited 
group, as the Company's 
auditor for the period 
ending at the close of 
the next annual general 
meeting, and to 
authorize the Board of 
Directors to approve, 
after approval by the 
Audit Committee, the 
remuneration of the 
Company's auditor, in 
accordance with the 
scope and nature of their 
services. 

Item 2 on the agenda- 
Discussion of the 
auditor’s remuneration 
for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, as 
determined by the Audit 
Committee and by the 
Board of Directors, and 
the report of the Board 
of Directors with respect 
to the remuneration paid 
to the auditor and its 
affiliates for the year 
ended December 31, 
2021.

This item is not subject to the 
Regulations Procedure.

Irrelevant Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 3 on the agenda- 
Discussion of the 
Company’s audited 
financial statements for 
the year ended 
December 31, 2021 and 
the report of the Board 
of Directors for such 
period.

This item is not subject to the 
Regulations Procedure.

Irrelevant Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda-
 a. Election and 
appointment of Mr. 
Gideon Kadusi as a 

Irrelevant Irrelevant
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director on the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.
Item 4 on the agenda- 
b. Election and 
appointment of Mr. 
Shlomo Rodav as a 
director on the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda-
c. Election and 
appointment of Mr. 
Yehuda Saban as a 
director on the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda- 
d. Election and 
appointment of Ms. 
Anat Cohen-Specht as 
a director on the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda-
e. Election and 
appointment of Mr. 
Doron Steiger as a 
director on the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda- 
f.Election and 
appointment of Mr. Ori 
Yaron as a director on 
the Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda-  
g.Election and 
appointment of Mr. 
Shlomo Zohar as a 
director on the 

Irrelevant Irrelevant
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Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.
Item 5 on the agenda- 
Approval of the 
compensation terms of 
Mr. Shlomo Rodav and 
Mr. Doron Steiger as 
directors, including the 
grant of an 
Indemnification and 
Release Letter.
Item 6 on the agenda- 
Approval of  the terms 
of office and 
employment of the CEO 
of the Company, Mr. 
Avi Gabbay including 
the grant of an 
Indemnification and 
Release Letter, but 
excluding the annual 
cash bonus and equity 
incentive.

Regarding the resolutions on items 5 and 6 why do I have a “Personal Interest” in the 
resolutions, why do I constitute a “Controlling Party” in the Company, a “Senior Office 
Holder” or an “Institutional Investor”?

______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________
______________________________________________________________________

* * *

Deeds of Vote submitted by shareholders who hold their shares through an Exchange 
member (under section 177(1) of the Israeli Companies Law) will be valid only if 
accompanied by an ownership certificate.
Deeds of Vote submitted by shareholders registered in the Company’s Shareholders 
Register will be valid only if accompanied by a copy of I.D., passport or organization 
certificate.

You must mark one of the following two boxes (if an X is not marked in either box, or 
if an X is marked in both boxes, or if an X is marked in the NO box but no number of 
shares is provided, the vote shall be disqualified)d:

d In the event that the shareholder is an “Interested Party”, as defined in the License, voting in a different manner with respect to each part of the 
shareholder's Ordinary Shares, a separate Deed of Vote should be filed for each quantity of Ordinary Shares in respect of which the shareholder 
intends to vote differently.
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� Yes. I approve the declaration below. 

I declare that my holdings and my vote DO NOT require the consent of the 
Israeli Minister of Communications pursuant to (i) Sections 21 (Transfer of 
Means of Control) or 23 (Prohibition of Cross-Ownership) of the Company’s 
General License for the Provision of Mobile Radio Telephone Services using the 
Cellular Method in Israel dated April 7, 1998, as amended (the “License”); or 
(ii) any other license granted to Partner, directly or indirectlye.

� No. I do not approve the declaration above. I hold, together with others, 
________ Ordinary Shares of Partner and my holdings require the consent of 
the Israeli Minister of Communications as stated above.  

For your convenience, a translation of sections 21-24 to the License is attached as 
Annex “D” to the Proxy Statement distributed with this Deed of Vote. 

Signature
   Name (Print): ___________

Title: __________________
Date: __________________

e Under certain licenses granted, directly or indirectly, to Partner, approval of, or notice to, the Minister of Communications of the State of Israel may 
be required for holding of 5% or more of Partner's means of control.



DEED OF AUTHORIZATION

To: Partner Communications Company Ltd. (the “Company”)

Attn: Sarit Hecht, Adv., Company Secretary

Re: Annual General Meeting of Shareholders to be held on
          Thursday, July 28, 2022 (the “Meeting”)

I, the undersigned1, _________________________, (Identification No./Registration No. 
________________), of ____________________________________________, being a 
registered holder of ______________________2 Ordinary Shares, par value NIS 0.01 per 
share (the "Ordinary Shares") of the Company, hereby authorize _________________, 
Identification No. _______________3, to participate and vote in my stead and on my behalf 
at the Meeting and in any adjournment thereof, inter-alia, with respect to any adjournment of 
discussion or resolution of any of the issues detailed on the Meeting agenda, until I shall 
otherwise notify you.

I declare and detail in the designated space below, in connection with the resolutions in items 
5-6 whether I have a “Personal Interest” in the resolutions, or whether I am a “Controlling 
Party” in the Company, a “Senior Office Holder” or an “Institutional Investor”:4

1 Name of shareholder.

2 A shareholder is entitled to give several Deeds of Authorization, each of which refers to a different quantity of Ordinary Shares of the 
Company held by the shareholder, so long as the shareholder shall not give Deeds of Authorization with respect to an aggregate number 
of Ordinary Shares exceeding the total number of shares held by him.

3 In the event that the proxy does not hold an Israeli Identification number, indicate a passport number, if any, and the name of the 
country in which the passport was issued.

4 Kindly provide details regarding the nature of your “Personal Interest” in the resolution, why do you constitute a “Controlling Party” in 
the Company, you are a “Senior Office Holder” or an “Institutional Investor” (as the case may be), at the designated space below the 
table (on page 5). “Personal Interest” is defined in Section 1 of the Israeli Companies Law (1999), as amended (the “Israeli Companies 
Law”) as a person’s personal interest in an act or a transaction of a company, including, without limitation, the personal interest of a 
person's relative and the personal interest of an entity in which the person or the person's relative is an interested party. Holding shares 
in the applicable company does not give rise to a “Personal Interest”. “Personal Interest” includes, without limitation, a personal interest 
of a person voting by proxy which was given by another person, even if the other person does not have a personal interest, and a person 
voting on behalf of a person having a personal interest will be deemed as having a personal interest, whether the voting discretion is in 
the voter’s hands or not. The Israeli Companies Law refers to the definition of “Control” in Section 1 of the Israeli Securities Law 
(1968), as amended, defining "Control" as the ability to direct the activity of a company, except for ability stemming only from being a 
director or holding another position in that company, and it is presumed that a person is controlling a company if said person "holds" (as 
defined therein) at least half of (i) the right to vote in the shareholders general meeting; or (ii) the right to appoint the directors or the 
general manager of that company. For approval of the resolutions regarding the detailed items, any shareholders holding 25% or more 
of the voting rights in a company will be deemed a “Controlling Party”. Two or more persons holding voting rights in a company 
whereas each of them has a personal interest in approving a certain transaction would be deemed “holding together”. According to 
section 37 (d) of the Securities Law, a “Senior Office Holder” is, generally, a general manager, chief executive officer, deputy 
managing director, deputy director general, all  fulfilling such a role in the company even if his title is different, a director, or manager 
directly subordinated to the general manager; as well as chairman of the board, an alternate director, an individual appointed under 
section 236 of the Israeli Companies Law on behalf of the corporation who is a director, controller, an internal auditor, independent 
authorized signatory, and anyone fulfilling such a role, even if his job title is different, and a Senior Office Holder of a corporation 
controlled by the corporation, which has a significant impact on the corporation and any individual employed by a corporation in 
another position, holding  five percent or more of the nominal value of the issued share capital or voting rights. “Institutional Investor” - 
shall have the meaning defined in section 1 of the Supervisory Regulations Control of Financial Services (Provident Funds) 
(Participation of a Managing Company at a General Meeting), 2009, and a managing company of a Joint Investment Trust Fund as 
defined in the Joint Investment Trust Law, 1994.  



2

Subject of the 
Resolution

Vote5 In respect of a 
transaction’s approval 
pursuant to sections 255, 
267A and 272 to 275 (the 
majority required for 
which is not an ordinary 
majority), of the Israeli 
Companies Law) or in 
respect of an amendment 
to the Company's 
Compensation Policy for 
Office Holders (section 
267A (b) of the Israeli 
Companies Law) - do you 
have a “Personal Interest” 
in the resolution, are you a 
“Controlling Party” in the 
Company, a “Senior 
Office Holder” or an 

5 If an X is not marked in either column, or if an X is marked in the "Yes" column and the 
shareholder does not provide details regarding the nature of the "Personal Interest" or the 
"Controlling Party" Interest (as the case may be), or an X is marked in both columns, the vote 
shall be  disqualified.
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“Institutional Investor”6? 
For Against Abstain Yes7 No

6 Kindly provide details regarding the nature of your “Personal Interest” in the resolution, 
why do you constitute a “Controlling Party” in the Company, you are a “Senior Office 
Holder” or an “Institutional Investor” (as the case may be), at the designated space below the 
table. “Personal Interest” is defined in Section 1 of the Israeli Companies Law as a person’s 
personal interest in an act or a transaction of a company, including, without limitation, the 
personal interest of a person's relative and the personal interest of an entity in which the 
person or the person's relative is an interested party. Holding shares in the applicable 
company does not give rise to a “Personal Interest”. “Personal Interest” includes, without 
limitation, a personal interest of a person voting by proxy which was given by another 
person, even if the other person does not have a personal interest, and a person voting on 
behalf of a person having a personal interest will be deemed as having a personal interest, 
whether the voting discretion is in the voter’s hands or not. The Israeli Companies Law refers 
to the definition of “Control” in Section 1 of the Israeli Securities Law (1968), as amended, 
defining "Control" as the ability to direct the activity of a company, except for ability 
stemming only from being a director or holding another position in that company, and it is 
presumed that a person is controlling a company if said person "holds" (as defined therein) at 
least half of (i) the right to vote in the shareholders general meeting; or (ii) the right to 
appoint the directors or the general manager of that company. For approval of the resolutions 
regarding the detailed items, any shareholders holding 25% or more of the voting rights in a 
company will be deemed a “Controlling Party”. Two or more persons holding voting rights in 
a company whereas each of them has a personal interest in approving a certain transaction 
would be deemed “holding together”. According to section 37 (d) of the Securities Law, a 
“Senior Office Holder” is, generally, a general manager, chief executive officer, deputy 
managing director, deputy director general, all  fulfilling such a role in the company even if 
his title is different, a director, or manager directly subordinated to the general manager; as 
well as chairman of the board, an alternate director, an individual appointed under section 
236 of the Israeli Companies Law on behalf of the corporation who is a director, controller, 
an internal auditor, independent authorized signatory, and anyone fulfilling such a role, even 
if his job title is different, and a Senior Office Holder of a corporation controlled by the 
corporation, which has a significant impact on the corporation and any individual employed 
by a corporation in another position, holding  five percent or more of the nominal value of the 
issued share capital or voting rights. “Institutional Investor” - shall have the meaning defined 
in section 1 of the Supervisory Regulations Control of Financial Services (Provident Funds) 
(Participation of a Managing Company at a General Meeting), 2009, and a managing 
company of a Joint Investment Trust Fund as defined in the Joint Investment Trust Law, 
1994.  

7 If an X is not marked in either column, or if an X is marked in the “Yes” column and the 
shareholder does not provide details regarding the nature of the “Personal Interest” or the 
“Controlling Party” Interest (as the case may be), or an X is marked in both columns, the vote 
shall be disqualified.
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Item 1 on the agenda- 
Approval of the re-
appointment of 
Kesselman & 
Kesselman, independent 
certified public 
accountants in Israel and 
a member of 
PricewaterhouseCooper
s International Limited 
group, as the Company's 
auditor for the period 
ending at the close of 
the next annual general 
meeting, and to 
authorize the Board of 
Directors to approve, 
after approval by the 
Audit Committee, the 
remuneration of the 
Company's auditor, in 
accordance with the 
scope and nature of their 
services. 

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 2 on the agenda- 
Discussion of the 
auditor’s remuneration 
for the year ended 
December 31, 2021, as 
determined by the Audit 
Committee and by the 
Board of Directors, and 
the report of the Board 
of Directors with respect 
to the remuneration paid 
to the auditor and its 
affiliates for the year 
ended December 31, 
2021.

This item is not subject 
to the Regulations 
Procedure.

Irrelevant Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 3 on the agenda- 
Discussion of the 
Company’s audited 
financial statements for 
the year ended 

Irrelevant Irrelevant Irrelevant
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December 31, 2021 and 
the report of the Board 
of Directors for such 
period.

This item is not subject 
to the Regulations 
Procedure.
Item 4 on the agenda-
 a. Election and 
appointment of Mr. 
Gideon Kadusi as a 
director on the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda- 
b. Election and 
appointment of Mr. 
Shlomo Rodav as a 
director on the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda-
c. Election and 
appointment of Mr. 
Yehuda Saban as a 
director on the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda- 
d. Election and 
appointment of Ms. 
Anat Cohen-Specht as 
a director on the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda-
e. Election and 
appointment of Mr. 
Doron Steiger as a 
director on the 

Irrelevant Irrelevant
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Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.
Item 4 on the agenda- 
f.Election and 
appointment of Mr. Ori 
Yaron as a director on 
the Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting.

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 4 on the agenda-  
g.Election and 
appointment of Mr. 
Shlomo Zohar as a 
director on the 
Company’s Board of 
Directors until the close 
of the next annual 
general meeting. 

Irrelevant Irrelevant

Item 5 on the agenda- 
Approval of the 
compensation terms of 
Mr. Shlomo Rodav and 
Mr. Doron Steiger as 
directors, including the 
grant of an 
Indemnification and 
Release Letter.
Item 6 on the agenda- 
Approval of  the terms 
of office and 
employment of the CEO 
of the Company, Mr. 
Avi Gabbay including 
the grant of an 
Indemnification and 
Release Letter, but 
excluding the annual 
cash bonus and equity 
incentive.

In connection with the resolutions in items 5-6 why do I have a “Personal Interest” in the 
resolution, or why do I constitute a “Controlling Party” in the Company, a “Senior Office 
Holder” or an “Institutional Investor”?
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
___________________________________________________________________________
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You must mark one of the following two boxes (if an X is not marked in either box, or if an 
X is marked in both boxes, or if an X is marked in the NO box but no number of shares is 
provided, the vote shall be disqualified)8:

� Yes. I approve the declaration below.

I declare that my holdings and my vote DO NOT require the consent of the Israeli 
Minister of Communications pursuant to (i) Sections 21 (Transfer of Means of 
Control) or 23 (Prohibition of Cross-Ownership) of the Company’s General License 
for the Provision of Mobile Radio Telephone Services using the Cellular Method in 
Israel dated April 7, 1998, as amended (the “License”)9; or (ii)  any other license 
granted, directly or indirectly, to Partner10.

� No. I do not approve the declaration above. I hold, together with others, ________ 
Ordinary Shares of Partner and my holdings REQUIRE the consent of the Israeli 
Minister of Communications as stated above.

Date: _____________ __________________________               
    Signature 

                                                               Name (print):_______________
                                                                          Title: _____________________

8 In the event that the shareholder is an “Interested Party,” as defined in the License, voting in a different manner with respect to each part 
of the shareholder's Ordinary Shares, a separate Deed of Authorization should be filed for each quantity of Ordinary Shares in respect of 
which the shareholder intends to vote differently. 

9 A translation of sections 21-24 of the License is attached as Annex “D” to the Proxy Statement distributed with this Deed of 
Authorization.

10 Under certain licenses granted, directly or indirectly, to Partner, approval of, or notice to, the Minister of Communications of the State 
of Israel may be required for holding of 5% or more of Partner's means of control.
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